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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(MARK ONE)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO

Commission File Number 001-36680

HubSpot, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaefr)

Delaware 20-2632791
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

25 First Street, 2nd Floor
Cambridge, Massachusetts, 02141
(Address of principal executive offices)

(888) 482-7768
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) d¢fie Act:

Title of each clas Name of each exchange on which register
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per shai New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tiie Act: None.

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 40%dbéturities Act.  YESO NO
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant tsrequired to file reports pursuant to Section L3ection 15(d) of the Act. YES] NO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b filed all reports required to be filed by Sectid or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4l88ring the preceding
12 months (or for such shorter period that thestegt was required to file such reports), anché®) been subject to such filing requirements ferptist 90 days. YEXI
NO O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant nasmtted electronically and posted on its corpo¥ib site, if any, every Interactive Data file reqd to be submitted and
posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8&Bof this chapter) during the preceding 12 meith for such shorter period that the registraas vequired to submit and
post such files). YESKXI NO O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i$ oontained herein, and will not be containedhltest of registrant’s
knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statents incorporated by reference in Part Il of fiism 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kl

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlazge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&wse the definitions of
“large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” atginaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of thecBange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated file [ Accelerated file
Non-accelerated file (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Brge Act). YESDO NO

O
O

The aggregate market value of common stock helaooyaffiliates of the registrant, based on theinfpgrice of the registrant's common stock on Oeto® 2014, as
reported by the New York Stock Exchange on such dais approximately $372,747,534. The registrasielffected to use October 9, 2014, which was thialitiading date on tt
New York Stock Exchange, as the calculation datatige on June 30, 2014 (the last business dag oégfistrar's mostly recently completed second fiscal quartée registrant
was a privately-held company. Shares of the regiss common stock held by each executive offidegctor and holder of 5% or more of the outstagdiommon stock have
been excluded in that such persons may be deenterldfiiliates. This calculation does not reflectediermination that certain persons are affiliafethe registrant for any other
purpose.

On February 27, 2015, the registrant had 31,498Maées of common stock outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registre’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2015 Annualdiieg of Stockholders are incorporated by referénd®art Ill of this Annual Report on Form-



K. Such Proxy Statement will be filed with the UScurities and Exchange Commission within 120 détgs the end of the fiscal year to which thisartpelates. Excef
with respect to information specifically incorpadtby reference in this Form 10-K, the Proxy Statenis not deemed to be filed as part of this Fb@aiK.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardkimg statements within the meaning of the fedsealrities laws, and these
statements involve substantial risks and uncergginEorward-looking statements generally relateitiore events or our future financial or
operating performance. In some cases, you canifigéotward-looking statements because they comtainds such as “may,” “should,”
“expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “inters]” “target,” “projects,” “contemplates,” “believgs'estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or
“continue” or the negative of these words or otierilar terms or expressions that concern our etgpieos, strategy, plans or intentions.
Forward-looking statements contained in this AnRgport on Form 10-K include, but are not limitedstatements about:

” o« ” o« ” o " ow ” o«

« our future financial performance, including @xpectations regarding our revenue, cost of rexegoss margin and operating
expenses

e maintaining and expanding our customer base andasig our average subscription revenue per cast
» the impact of competition in our industry and inatien by our competitor:

* our anticipated growth and expectations regardimgadility to manage our future grow!

» our predictions about industry and market trel

e our ability to anticipate and address the etiotuof technology and the technological needsufaustomers, to roll-out upgrades to
our existing software platform and to develop nesd anhanced applications to meet the needs ofumtiomers

e our ability to maintain our brand and inbound mairigethought leadership positio

« the impact of our corporate culture and our abtlityattract, hire and retain necessary qualifie@legees to expand our operatio
» the anticipated effect on our business of litigatio which we are or may become a pa

» our ability to successfully acquire and integradenpanies and assets; ¢

e our ability to stay abreast of new or modifladis and regulations that currently apply or becamgicable to our business both in
the United States and internationa

We caution you that the foregoing list may not eimtll of the forward-looking statements madehis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statemeaggpredictions of future events. We have basetbtiaard-looking statements
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K priilyaon our current expectations and projectionsudtiioture events and trends that we
believe may affect our business, financial conditiesults of operations and prospects. The outaittee events described in these forward-
looking statements is subject to risks, uncertagéind other factors described in “Risk Factorsl’ @lsewhere in this Annual Report on Form
10-K. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive ampidly changing environment. New risks and uncaeties emerge from time to time, ¢
it is not possible for us to predict all risks amttertainties that could have an impact on the doddooking statements contained in this Anr
Report on Form 10-K. The results, events and cistances reflected in the forward-looking statemerdyg not be achieved or occur, and
actual results, events or circumstances couldrdifigerially from those described in the forwarddimg statements.

The forward-looking statements made in this AnrRegbort on Form 10-K relate only to events as ofd&e on which the statements are
made. We undertake no obligation to update anydaiviooking statements made in this Annual Reporform 10-K to reflect events or
circumstances after the date of this Annual Repoiftorm 10-K or to reflect new information or thecarrence of unanticipated events, excep
as required by law.
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We may not actually achieve the plans, intentiansxpectations disclosed in our forward-lookingestaents and you should not place undue
reliance on our forward-looking statements. Ouwfand-looking statements do not reflect the potéirtipact of any future acquisitions,
mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investmeve may make.
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PART 1
ITEM I. BUSINESS

Overview

We provide a cloud-based marketing and sales sddtplatform that enables businesses to delivenbound experience. An inbound
marketing and sales experience attracts, engagededights customers by being more relevant, metgftil, more personalized and less
interruptive than traditional marketing and sabegits. Our software platform features integratgpliaations to help businesses attract visitors
to their websites, convert visitors into leadsseléeads into customers and delight customersasdhitby become promoters of those busine
These integrated applications include social mesgiarch engine optimization, blogging, website eohinanagement, marketing automation,
email, CRM, analytics and reporting.

People have transformed how they consume informateésearch products and services, make purchdstigions and share their views
and experiences. Today, customers are blockingheutctics from the traditional marketing and sglkaybook, such as cold calls, unsolicited
emails and disruptive advertisements. Customertalireg more control of the purchasing processdiggitechnology, including search
engines and social media, to research productsemites. Despite this transformation, most busieesre using an outdated marketing and
sales playbook that is essentially the same todatyveas 10 years ago. To compete effectively, elele businesses need to deliver an
inbound experience by adopting new strategies ectthblogies to attract, engage and delight custamer

We designed our all-in-one platform from the groupdto enable businesses to provide an inboundriexpe to their prospects and
customers. At the core of our platform is a singl®mund database for each business that captsresstomer activity throughout the customer
lifecycle. Our platform uses our centralized inbdutatabase to empower businesses to create maa@péred interactions with customers,
such as personalized emails, personalized socidienaderts, personalized websites and targetetsdtarsales people. We provide a
comprehensive set of integrated applications orptatform, which offers businesses ease of usegpawd simplicity. We designed and built
our platform to serve a large numbers of custoroBesy size with demanding use cases.

While our platform can scale to the enterprisefoagis on selling to mid-market businesses, whictdefine as businesses that have
between 10 and 2,000 employees, because we balehave significant competitive advantages attngcsind serving them. We efficiently
reach these businesses at scale through our pitveund go-to-market approach and more than 2,28@eting agency partners worldwide.
Our platform is particularly suited to serving theeds of mid-market B2B companies. These mid-mdnksinesses seek an integrated, easy t
implement and easy to use solution to reach cuswarel compete with organizations that have lampmketing and sales budgets. As of
December 31, 2014, we had 13,607 customers ofngsizes in more than 90 countries, representimgpstl every industry.

We have a leading brand in the cldo@sed inbound marketing and sales software industry brand recognition comes from our thot
leadership, including our blog, which attracts mibva@n 1.5 million visits each month, and our conmmeitit to innovation. Our founders, Brian
Halligan and Dharmesh Shah, wrote the best-sattiagketing booknbound Marketing: Get Found Using Google, Sociadia and Blogs
We also have one of the largest social media folige/in our industry and our INBOUND conferenceii of the largest inbound industry
events, with over 10,000 registered attendees 14 20

We sell our platform on a subscription basis. @taltrevenue increased from $51.6 million in 20b2$77.6 million in 2013, and to
$115.9 million in 2014, representing year-over-yieareases of 50% in 2013 and 49% in 2014. We leadbsses of $18.8 million in 2012,
$34.3 million in 2013, and $48.2 million in 2014.
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Industry Background
People Have Changed How They Interact with Business

We believe an effective way to illustrate how peolphve transformed the way they consume informatasearch products and services,
make purchasing decisions and share their viewsapériences is by describing two hypothetical peefl raditional Ted and Modern
Meghan.

Traditional Ted is an executive at a 300 personpany in 2004. He keeps up to date on his industrgttending trade shows and reac
the monthly industry print publication, often scamgthe ads to see the vendors’ new products. lteayfair amount of unsolicited emails from
salespeople and marketers and sees an increasifigenof ads on websites he visits. He also takes salls from vendors to stay current on
industry developments. Ted opens his mail dailg, when his phone rings, he answers it becauseaitigical communication tool. When Ted
is looking for a new vendor, he will try to recile ads he has seen recently or go through thébres he has been mailed which he keeps in
file in his desk. If Ted is frustrated with a vemdioe calls the vendor and tells a couple of hieagues about his bad experience. To relax, Te
watches TV and reads the newspaper, both of whinkan advertisements.

Modern Meghan is an executive at a 300 person coynipe2014. She keeps up to date on her industmgasgling a number of industry
blogs, following key companies and influencers oviter and LinkedIn and listening to podcasts in & during her commute. She has an ac
blocker running in her web browser and an emaérfilo block out unwanted messages. She rarelykshear mail because it is mostly “junk.”
Meghan does not have a landline phone because $at#gpeople call me there,” and she never answeersmartphone unless she recognizes
the number. Meghan spends much more time on herephising apps and the web than she does talkiitglbshe is looking for a vendor for
something her company needs, she starts by segrohiGoogle and then asking her peers in her Limkedtwork about their experiences w
different vendors. She does not even bother tottediny of the vendor’s salespeople until she lsasowed the list and has already completed
most of her decision-making process. When Meghartroable with one of her vendors, she contactyémelor, but if she is not satisfied with
the response, she sometimes writes a negativeveviiéne and posts a link to it on Twitter. In Heze time, Meghan relaxes by watching TV
shows she has previously recorded on her DVR seaahéast forward through the commercials.

We believe all of us are becoming more like Moddieghan and less like Traditional Ted. Yet, mostitesses are still doing marketing,
sales and service as if everyone is like Ted. Teffeetive today, businesses need to transforntttach, engage and delight customers like
Meghan.

The Traditional Business Playbook is Broken

Traditionally, most businesses have followed thaesanarketing and sales playbook to generate lebmse sales and provide support to
their customers. Today, however, customers areasingly selecting their own communication chanaats expecting personalized
experiences. They are blocking out traditional reting and sales tactics, such as cold calls, witaliemails and disruptive advertisements,
and instead, they are using search engines anal soedia to research products and services bdfesedontact a vendor. Customers are
increasingly taking more control of the purchagingcess and influencing the purchasing behaviothudrs.

Customers are blocking out traditional marketing drsales tacticSCustomers are ignoring traditional marketing aridsstactics, often
by using technology to block them out. For example:

e There are over 223 million phone numbers that teeen placed on the U.S. Do Not Call regis
*  91% of people have unsubscribed from email margdists.

» Email services and spam filters are increasinghbéng customers to filter out and-prioritize promotional message

4
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*  68% of people who record TV content do so tip skivertisements, according to a recent Motorotdbility study based on data
collected in December 201

» Online advertising has limited engagement. Aditwg to DoubleClick, as of March 26, 2014, oveBalinonth average industry click-
through rates on display ads is only 0.:

Customers are taking control of the purchasing pexs.Customers can now get the information they neethein own terms. Using
search engines, social media and websites, cussazaarresearch vendors and actively seek recomiti@mslfrom members of their social
networks. As a result, customers no longer nedadlikao a salesperson until they have completed wfaheir purchasing decision. This limits
the amount of influence businesses can have omasecdecisions when using the traditional busipksdook. A 2012 Corporate Executive
Board (CEB) study of more than 1,400 business-&iftass customers across industries revealed tP&Ha typical purchase decision is
already made before a customer even talks to disupp

Customers are influencing the purchasing behaviatothers.Customers are relying less on the promotional ristiEom businesses
and instead using online reviews and input fronepgurchasers to make their purchasing decisioch Sacial behavior is self-reinforcing:
social buyers themselves are social sellers whHoein€e others’ purchasing decisions. According $sor@ey conducted by Dimensional
Research in 2013, 88% of respondents said thatendiviews influenced their buying decisions. Iditdn, the Social Media Report published
by Nielsen and NM Incite in 2011 revealed that 68R6éonsumers researching products through multplee sources learned about a spet
brand or retailer through social networking sites.

Businesses Need a New Playbook—The Inbound Experin

Businesses need a more effective way to attragagmand delight customers who have access towsmlabce of information and an
ability to block traditional marketing and salesties. To do this, businesses need to deliver lbound experience, which enables them to be
more helpful, more relevant and less interruptovéheir customers.

To deliver an inbound experience, businesses reegdrisform how they market, sell and serve custsme

» Marketing: Businesses need to attract potential customersaxymmizing search engine rankings, having an engpgircial media
presence, and creating and distributing usefulratevant content. Businesses need to personakiedistomer interactions on
websites, in social media and in emails to engagéomers

» Sales:Businesses need to build relationships with podéotistomers and become their trusted advisorsy st learn about and
react to the signals being sent by customers throwepsites, social media and emails, to providegrelized and helpful respons

* Service:Businesses need to delight their customers andténem to become vocal promoters by exceedinig &x@ectations.
Every customer has a stronger, more public voidaydhrough blogs and social media, underscoriadrtiportance of positive
reviews and referrals in building a quality bra

Existing Applications are Not Adequate for an Integted Inbound Experience

Today, businesses often use a variety of pointiegapns for their marketing and sales efforts|uding advertising, marketing
automation, content management, blogging, socidian@management, analytics, sales management and ®@RM of these point applications
were not designed to deliver an inbound experiengpically, they do not provide a central view dif@istomer interactions across channels,
are difficult and expensive to implement and uggetber, and make it hard to measure results. Weueethat these existing point applications
were not designed with the platform, architectureé functionality necessary to deliver a seamletegiiated inbound experience.

5
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Not Designed for an Inbound Experienc@raditional marketing applications through relyamvertising and cold calling for lead
generation instead of inbound methods. These atjgits are not designed to personalize and optimieey interaction with customers on
websites, in social media and by email across @syi@nd do not typically allow sales and serviemt®to see the signals their prospects are
sending in real time.

No Centralized Inbound Database of Customer Intetianis. Businesses typically need to use one point appicdior website content
management, a different point application for biagganother point application for social media mg@ment, another point application for
email and marketing automation, another point @pgibn for content personalization, another popglgation for analytics, another point
application for sales management and CRM, andn@har point application to alert salespeople of &@stomer signals in real time. This
disparate collection of point applications makedifficult to get a 360-degree view of a customénteractions and use that data to provide a
better customer experience and drive a more effeatiarketing and sales process. In addition, exjgibint applications are typically not
designed to manage, process and analyze all augtemer data created by these various touchpoéususe they use older technologies, not
big data technologies such as HBase, Hadoop thatemigned for massive scale.

Difficult and Expensive to Implement and Usblsing a collection of disparate point applicatiomsans a separate implementation
process for each. Often businesses will need toutside consultants or hire new employees witltifipdechnical expertise to implement and
use these different applications, resulting in Sigant additional costs. This collection of dispt point applications also requires that
businesses manage a variety of different log-imsueer interfaces, as well as get support fronedfit vendors, often just to do something the
business sees as one process, such as runnindgetimgucampaign. While ease of implementation aselare important for businesses of all
sizes, they are critical for mid-market businesses.

Hard to Measure ResultBecause all the customer touchpoints through th&etiag, sales and service processes are typisthed in
different disconnected point applications, it isydifficult to get a 360-degree view of a custoraé@nteractions and measure the effectiveness
of marketing and sales programs. Businesses wihgiurchase yet another application to try to mesasesults across their multiple
applications, adding even more expense and contplexan already complex collection of differeniqtaapplications.

Market Opportunity

We believe there is a large market opportunity teetdy the fundamental transformation in marketind sales. Businesses of nearly all
sizes and in nearly all industries can benefit fdetivering an inbound experience to attract, eegarf delight their customers. We focus on
selling our platform to mid-market businesses. ABecember 31, 2014, we had 13,607 customers, andverage subscription revenue per
customer for the year ended December 31, 2014 #,82&. According to AMI Partners, in 2014, theraevé.6 million of these mid-market
businesses with a website presence in the Unigssand Canada and 1.4 million in Europe. Accgrtbra January 2014 study by Mintigo of
186,500 U.S.-based B2B companies of varying simely, 3% of those companies had implemented ankie@fiost common marketing
automation applications .

We believe our platform addresses several segméetasting marketing, sales and services softwagkthat spending in each of these
segments will increasingly shift to platforms tleaible an inbound experience. According to a May2a@éport by IDC, worldwide spending
on CRM applications, including marketing automatisales automation, customer service and contatéicevas forecast to be $24.4 billion in
2014 and is expected to grow to $31.7 billion i1 &0

Advantages of Our Solution

We provide a cloud-based, all-in-one inbound mankeand sales software platform that helps busasatiract, engage and delight customer:
throughout the customer lifecycle. Our platformtéeas a central
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inbound database of customer interactions andrated applications to help businesses attraciovistb their websites, convert visitors into
leads, close leads into customers and delight mes®so they become promoters of those businesses.

Designed for an Inbound Experienc®©ur platform was architected from the ground upriable businesses to transform their marketin
and sales playbook to meet the demands of todag®mers. Our platform includes integrated appbeatto help businesses efficiently attrac
more customers through search engine optimizasiocial media, blogging and other useful contenaddition, our platform is designed to
help businesses personalize and optimize interectidth their customers through websites, landiaggs, social media and emails, and acros
devices.

Ease of Use of All-In-One PlatformWe provide a set of integrated applications onraraon platform, which offers businesses ease of
use and simplicity. Our platform has one login, aser interface, one inbound database and one mumball for support: 888-HUBSPOT.
Our platform is designed to be used by people witiechnical training, does not require an expetechnical system administrator and was
built to make it easy to get started. Becausesoddise of use and integration, our platform endhlsmesses to focus on attracting, engaging
and delighting customers, instead of spending ime&money coordinating their marketing and salistsfacross multiple point applications.

Power of All-In-One Platform.At the core of our platform is a single inboundatetse for each business that captures its customer
activity throughout the customer lifecycle. For exde, our platform creates a unified timeline inpmmating all the interactions with a partict
person. If a business’s customer visits its websitenments on its blog, opens an email it sengyatts with the business on Twitter, watches
one of its videos, fills out a form, or is markeslaasales opportunity by its salesperson, all a@f &ltivity is centrally managed and presented o
the timeline for that contact and is availabledse across our applications. Our platform also m#keasy to use the customer data to emp
more personalized interactions with the customerh @s personalized social media alerts, pers@tatiantent on a business’s website,
personalized emails and targeted alerts to its gmeple.

Clear ROI for CustomersOur platform delivers proven and measurable re$oitteur customers. Our customers often experience
significant increases in the volume of traffic heir websites, the volume of inbound leads andate of converting leads into customers.
Based on our analysis of customer use in 2012 ahd,2ur customers experienced, on average, ariciase in the number of leads that t
generated after 12 months of active use of oufqtat

Scalability.Our platform was designed and built to serve aglamgmber of customers of any size and with demanaée cases. Our
platform currently processes billions of data peieach week, and we use leading global cloud iméretsire providers and our own automation
technology to dynamically allocate capacity to Hartocessing workloads of all sizes. We have tuuittplatform on modern technologies,
including HBase and Hadoop, which we believe areensoalable than traditional database technolo@as scalability gives us flexibility for
future growth and enables us to service a largetyanf businesses of different sizes across diffemdustries.

Extendable and Open Architectur®ur platform features a variety of open APlIs tHltvés easy integration of our platform with other
applications. We enable our customers to connecplatform to their other applications, includinfR@l and ecommerce applications. By
connecting third-party applications, our custonuas leverage our centralized inbound databaserforpeadditional functions and analysis.

Our Competitive Strengths
We believe that our market leadership positioraisda on the following key strengths:

Leading Platform.We have designed and built a world-class, inbouatketing and sales software platform. We beliewecostomers
choose our platform over others because of its polyéntegrated and

7
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easy to use applications. Independent customeswsvand ratings of our platform compared to otipptieations show that we have high
customer satisfaction. As of December 31, 2014 2@1Gwd (an independent business software and ssrvéview website), the features and
functions of our platform were ranked #1 in custosegisfaction in the following categories: markgtautomation, social media management
email marketing, and search marketing.

Market Leadership and Strong BrandVe are a recognized thought leader in the clouédatound marketing and sales software
industry with a leading brand. Our founders, Biialligan and Dharmesh Shah, wrote the best-settingketing booknbound Marketing: Ge
Found Using Google, Social Media and Bl.. More than 90,000 copies have been sold and itaalain nine languages. There are more thal
125 self-organized HubSpot user groups. We alse baer 1.2 million followers and fans among Twitteacebook and Linkedin as of
December 31, 2014, including approximately 116,0@dnbers of Linkedin who belong to our inbound meegtsegroup. Our INBOUND
conference is one of the largest inbound indusinference events with attendance increasing frd®alin 2011 to over 10,000 registered
attendees in 2014. We currently hold the world rédor the largest online marketing seminar with8B® live participants. We believe that i
inherently hard to replicate the number of webstites link to us, the volume of useful content veeréa published, our large social media
following, the breadth of our search engine rankiagd our overall brand strength because thestsassmot be easily purchased or built.

Large and Growing Agency Partner PrograrMore than 2,200 agencies partner with us for theevaf our platform to their business
including being able to offer new inbound marketangl sales services to their clients which can gheir revenue per customer, attract new
customers and increase the portion of their clienta retainer relationship. We believe that th@enadoption of our platform in the marketing
agency industry is evidence that we are becomingaustry standard. Marketing agency partners astbeners referred to us by our
marketing agency partners represented approximéély of our customers as of December 31, 2014 4%6 & our revenue for the year en
December 31, 2014. These marketing agency parttedpsus to promote the vision of the inbound exgrare, efficiently reach new midarket
businesses at scale and provide our mutual cussowitdr more diverse and higher-touch services.

Mid-Market Focus.We believe we have significant competitive advaesaggaching mid-market businesses and efficieatigh this
market at scale as a result of our proven inbountbgmarket approach and our agency partner chaim2014, over 82% of the new leads we
generated and over 93% of our new customers wene iltbound marketing and did not have any advegisiosts associated with them. We
believe our large inbound marketing footprint agercy partner program provide competitive advargageeaching mid-market businesses.

Powerful Network EffectsWe have built a large and growing ecosystem araumglatform and company. We have built what we
believe is the largest engaged audience in ousimguvhich now comprises more than 2 million pedpétween our blog subscribers, Twitter
followers, Facebook fans, LinkedIn connections andopt-in email list. We have attracted more tBg00 marketing agency partners
worldwide who promote our brand and extend our midmg and sales reach. Thousands of our customegrate third-party applications with
our platform using our built-in connectors and dhirarty developer partners. We have trained antifiedrmore than 10,000 marketers on
inbound marketing. Our annual INBOUND conferendeaated more than 10,000 registered attendeesli#. 20e believe this ecosystem
drives more businesses and professionals to embradebound playbook. As our engaged audience gjrovere agencies partner with us,
more third-party developers integrate their appiices with our platform, and more professionals ptete our certification programs, all of
which drive more businesses to adopt our platform.

Our Growth Strategy
The key elements to our growth strategy are:

Grow Our U.S. Customer Bas@he market for our platform is large and undersgriéid-market businesses are particularly underse
by existing point application vendors and ofterklaafficient resources

8



Table of Contents

to implement complex solutions. Our all-in-one foan allows mid-market businesses to efficientlppidand execute an effective inbound
marketing strategy to help them expand and growwilleontinue to leverage our inbound go-to-mar&pproach and our network of
marketing agency partners to keep growing our déimbasiness.

Increase Revenue from Existing CustomeWith 13,607 customers in more than 90 countriessipg many industries, we believe we
have a significant opportunity to increase revefinam our existing customers. We plan to increasemae from our existing customers by
expanding their use of our platform, selling toestparts of their organizations and upselling addél offerings and features. Our scalable
pricing model allows us to capture more spend agwostomers grow, increase the number of theirocnsts and prospects managed on our
platform, and require additional functionality dabie from our higher price tiers and add-ons, fimg us with a substantial opportunity to
increase the lifetime value of our customer refaiops.

Keep Expanding InternationallyThere is a significant opportunity for our inboypldtform outside of the United States. As of
December 31, 2014, approximately 22% of our custemere located outside of the United States aesktlcustomers generated
approximately 21% of our total revenue for the yeaded December 31, 2014, but we sell to thoségfo@istomers from our U.S., Ireland,
and Australia based operations. We intend to grompoesence in international markets through aatdkiti investments in local sales, marke!
and professional service capabilities, as wellyaleberaging our agency partner network. We opengdirst international office focused on
the European market in January 2013 and our saotemhational office focused on the Asia Pacificrked in Sydney, Australia in August
2014. We already have significant website traffani regions outside the United States and we beliest markets outside the United States
represent a significant growth opportunity.

Continue to Innovate and Expand Our PlatfornMid-market businesses are increasingly realizimgviddue of having an integrated
marketing, sales and service platform. We beliegeave well positioned to capitalize on this oppuoitiuby introducing new products and
applications to extend the functionality of ourtfdam. For example, in 2013, we launched our Siclkekiroduct designed to empower sales
professionals to benefit from real-time interactilata to engage with their most relevant prospects.

Selectively Pursue Acquisition$Ve plan to selectively pursue acquisitions of canm@ntary businesses, technologies and teams that
would allow us to add new features and functiorelito our platform and accelerate the pace ofrmovation.
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Our Products
All-in-one Marketing and Sales Platform

Designed from the ground up to deliver an inbouxkeience, our software platform enables busingssatract, engage and delight
customers. At the core of our platform is a singl®ound database of customer information. Thisnadla complete view of customer
interactions across all of our integrated applarai giving our platform substantial power. Thiegration makes it possible to personalize
content, social media engagement and email messagess devices, including mobile. The integrajgulieations on our platform have a
common user interface, are accessed through adogjh and are based on our inbound databasefollbwing diagram sets forth the
principal applications of our platform and how mesises use them in the various parts of the magkatid sales funnel.

HUBSPOT MARKETING AND SALES PLATFORM

COMTENT
CETIMIZATION SOCTAL MEARKETING HUBEPOT AMALYTICS &
SYSTEM SED INBRL ALUTDMATION SIDERICE Chid CHM SYNC  REPCATIMNG
ViSMmoR
ATTRACT |
DELIGHT

Content Optimization System (COS)ur COS applications are part content managemetersyand part personalization engine, enal
businesses to create new and edit existing welenbwihile also personalizing their websites fofetint visitors and optimizing their websites
to convert more visitors into leads and customeesitures include:

FROMOTER

* Business Blogginc—Designed for lead generation, our blog include=st-as-you-type” SEO tips for how to improve artglbuilt-
in social media integration to automatically postwrarticles in social media, mobile optimizatioattautomatically optimizes posts
for smartphones and tablets, and integrated ansaliiat allow marketers to see the performancadi @ost and their blogging
overall.

*  Website Page—A flexible system to build modern websites witkpensive design, which means websites are dyndgnical
optimized for desktops, laptops, tablets and srhartps without the need for maintaining differenbgite versions for each device

type.

¢ Smart Content—Display customized text, images or other conterdustomers to provide a personalized experiensechan any
information stored in the inbound databe

¢ Landing Pages and Form«—Easily build lead-capture forms and create langliages with the ability to test and optimize diffetr
designs to improve conversion rat

¢ Calls-to-Action —Create buttons and callouts that direct visitorlhding pages, with the ability to optimize clitikcough rates by
testing different designs and messay
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Search Engine Optimization (SEODur SEO applications are tightly integrated infcéthe content applications on our platform,
making it easy to select the right keywords andnaoige content to attract more visitors from seagnlgines. Features include:

» Keywords —Identify which search terms are used more frequemttl are better opportunities, and track resuitsach keyworc

» Page Performance—Generate automated diagnostic reports about whidhpages are not properly optimized, including
instructions on what to fix and how to fix

Social Inbox.Our social media applications allow businessesdaitar, publish and track social media across FackpLinkedIn,
Twitter and Google+, leveraging the personalizédrmation about each contact stored in the inbalatdbase. Features include:

* Monitoring —Monitor social media messages not just for keywphuit also using segmented lists created basedteria in the
inbound database such as active sales opportuait@sstomers who purchased in the last 30 dayksanalerts to be sent when
new messages are posted meeting these cr

» Publishing—Schedule messages to be posted at any time inpheultivitter accounts, as well as personal pagesinbas pages a
groups on LinkedIn, Google+ and Facebc

* Analysis—Measure which posts get the most engagement imgjutde number of website visits, new contacts e customers
generated from each po

Marketing Automation and EmailBusinesses can execute, manage and analyze scgteidtemail marketing campaigns and segment
and personalize emails using sophisticated triggeech as viewing a video, completing a form, oefiatting via social media. Features inclt

* Advanced Segmentatior—Use all the information in the inbound databaseréate highly segmented groups for more
personalized and engaging email market

» Personalization—Dynamically personalize the content of emailsudahg the sender, images and text based on tharatmn
about the recipient in the inbound databi

» Sophisticated Campaign Workflows—Create sophisticated marketing automation workfldkaat continue to automatically
engage leads by using, for example, time delaysobus lengths and multiple follow up emails theg customized based on
different user actions or behavi

» Lead Scoring—Create a custom lead score based on the behadataibutes of a potential customer, such asingsa specific
web page, watching certain videos, opening cegainils, having a certain job title, or other cusidetta in the inbound database.
Define which leads are sent to the CRM systemdtgssengagement based on these crit

» Analysis—Measure email open rates, c-through rates and other email marketing met

Sidekick.Our Sidekickproduct enhances the productivity of sales reptatigas. Businesses can track the signals beingogepotential
customers including email engagement and websitesyand easily discover new contacts and cormectiith other businesses enabling s
representatives to focus on prospects who have nfgmaded interest. Features include:

» Email Engagement Notifications—Get realtime alerts when email messages are opened oedlisi potential customers to kn
when they are engaged with messa

» New Lead and Website Visit Alerts— Receive real time notifications of new leads assigto a salesperson as well as
notifications about when and where an existing hdaids a business'’s website to help salespeople masily engage with potential
customers
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Email Templates and CRM Tracking—Use the email templates stored in salesforce.dozetty in Outlook, Gmail or Mac Mail
email, removing the need for copying and pastingibaddresses and templates from window to windinack the emails sent
from Outlook, Gmail and Mac Mail in most CRM syst&I

Contact Insights—Learn about more contacts at a potential custavhen visiting its website or sending an email, iffgrother
connections to a potential customer and add nevwactsito a CRM with one clicl

CRM Sync.Businesses can synchronize information from ououml database with their CRM application, enabfiegmless transition
from marketing to sales. Our native and third-p&BM integration features include:

Bi-directional Syncing—Changes in HubSpot and the CRM are automaticgitiated in the other system regardless of where th
information originated

Inclusion Lists —Define which leads automatically sync to the CRy/sktting conditions based on lead score or angrattiteria
in the inbound databas

Lead Intelligence—Information from the contact timeline such as reagebsite visit or social media engagement isldisgd in
the CRM making it easy for sales to leverage tha otathe inbound databas

Closed Loop Reporting—Track which marketing activity was the originalsoe of a new customer and measure in aggregate
which campaigns are driving more or less st

HubSpot CRM.Businesses can track their interactions with cdatand companies, manage their sales activitiesepuit on their
pipeline and sales.

Contact Management— Manage contact information for people and comganirrack the history of every interaction withgao
contacts

Salesforce Automation— Track active sales deals, store notes, track ealll meetings, and create tasks and remindeisl ifow-
up with customers

Pipeline Reporting— Report on what deals are in what stage of thesgalocess with visibility for sales representatiaad
aggregate reporting for sales manag

Reporting and Analytics Businesses can use our reporting and analyticdifunadity built into our platform to measure whiabtivities
are attracting the most new leads and customevs]afea deeper understanding of their customersraaasure the effectiveness of campaign:
across the customer lifecycle.

Sources—Track website visitors, new leads and new customersrding to how they first found a business, inglpo measure tr
effectiveness of different marketing chann

Competitors —Track key inbound metrics against competitionudahg the number of inbound links, social medidoimkers and
the relative website traffic

Campaigns—Create collections of different marketing and salesets like blog posts, emails, landing page&eydords and
track them all in one place to measure the imphatspecific marketing and sales campa

Attribution —Identify what marketing activity led to a key evémthe marketing and sales process, such as csioménto a lead
or a purchase, using various analytical moc

Events—Track and analyze a variety of custom events sischideo views or custom webpage interactions tlergtand the effect
those actions have on lead generation and ¢

Revenue—Report on the revenue generated by marketing ded aativity, including segmentation by deal stagepunt and clos
date.
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Product Packaging

In 2012, we began pricing and packaging our pradbased on product plans, number of contacts ashaiasl We sell three product
plans, each of which includes key functionalityoaf core platform but also includes different apgiions to meet the needs of the various
businesses we serve.

HubSpot Basids our entry level plan starting at $2,400 per y&ais plan includes our platform with applicationsch as blogging,
landing pages, Social Inbox, email marketing, amalygics and reporting.

HubSpot Prois our plan for professional marketers starting&®600 per year. This plan includes the platforrtihail the applications
included in HubSpot Basic plus more advanced agfitins such as CRM integration, marketing automaaiod smart content.

HubSpot Enterprisas an advanced plan for marketing teams startir®281800 per year. This plan includes our platfovith all the
applications included in HubSpot Pro, plus morehssifrated applications such as A/B testing anéhuipation, tracking custom events and
advanced reporting capabilities.

Pricing for all plans is on a subscription basid anstomers pay additional fees above the staptilngs based on how many contacts will
be stored and tracked in the inbound database.aiergte additional revenue based on the purchasdddfonal subscriptions and applicati
and the number of account users, subdomains ansiteefisits.

Add Ons.We also sell applications that are not includedrig of our three plans on an add-on basis.

 CMS allows a business to build, edit and manage aneawgbsite on our platform. CMS has a per-monthrfesdition to the fee
paid for our inbound platform, which is requiredutse CMS

» Sidekick notifies salespeople of the activity of their mbigthly engaged potential customers. The Startegioerris free and
includes a limited number of notifications and teas, while the Power User version has a per-eseafid includes unlimited
notifications and all available features. We hadeartban 300,000 monthly active users with a frepadd Sidekick account for our
Sidekick product during December 31, 20

Our Services

We complement our product offerings with profesaimservices and support. The majority of our se&wiand support is offered over the
phone and via web meeting technology rather thgreison, which is a more efficient business modelt and more cost-effective for our
customers.

Professional ServicedVe offer professional services to educate and tragtomers on how to leverage our software platfanch
inbound marketing methodology to transform howtrtheisiness attracts, engages and delights custoBepgnding on which product plan ¢
professional services a customer buys, it eithegives group training and education in online epénson classes or one-on-one training and
advice from one of our implementation specialistphone and web meeting. Our professional sendoeslso available to customers who
need additional assistance on a one-time or ondmsg for an additional fee.

Support.In addition to assistance provided by our onlirteekss and customer discussion forums, we offemghand emaibased suppo
staffed in the United States and Ireland, whicdindétuded in the cost of a subscription. We strivenaintain an exceptional quality of customer
service. We continuously monitor key customer servihetrics such as phone hold time, ticket resptimgeand ticket resolution rates, and we
monitor the customer satisfaction of our custonugpsrt interactions. We believe our customer supsa@n important reason why businesses
choose our platform and recommend it to their egjlees.

13



Table of Contents

Our Customers

We have 13,607 customers in more than 90 countgpsesenting many industries. No single customgresented more than 1% of our
revenue in 2012, 2013 or 2014. The following setthfa list of representative customers:

EDUCATION FINAMCIAL SERVICES HEALTHCARE & MEDICAL
Digital Tutors OTC Markets Group Avella
Gran Cursos PennyMac GE Healthcare
Haas School of Business RBC Healthways.com
University of Wisconsin Sybron Dental Specialties
(Mitwoukes)
INDUSTRIAL & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY MEDIA & PUBLISHING
MANUFACTURING & SERVICES Backstage
Emerson ADP Tunecore
Kitco Metals EMC Atmos Cadalyst
PlasticPrinters.com Wingify Cox Communications
Sussman Automatic
MARKETING AGEMNCIES RESEARCH SOFTWARE
Element Three BCC Research Abbyy USA
Flywheel360 MarketResearch.com Mimio
Kuno Creative Ducker Worldwide Xero
Revenue River Therapeutic Research Center
SPORTS & RECREATION STAFFING & RECRUITING TELECOMMUNICATIONS
Mueller Sports Medicine OfficeTeam PGl
Cybex Robert Half International ShoreTel
The Ladders Telligent
Verizon
TRAVEL & TOURISM NONPROFIT CONSUMER PRODUCTS
Jumpstreet Tours Kaiser Family Foundation Beretta
{Member of TUI Student Travel) World Vision Micro Panasaonic
Magellan Jets FWD.us Toshiba
Canadian Mountain Holidays American Medical Association Fujifilm
Jet Advisors

By using our platform to deliver an inbound expece, many customers benefit from substantial irrge#n web traffic, leads and new
customers, leading to a significant return on itwesnt. The case studies below illustrate the result customers have achieved by using our
platform.

ShoreTel

Situation : ShoreTel is a leading provider of IP phone systemd unified communications solutions. ShoreTe fmastrated that “last
generation” marketing tools impeded its abilityetecute its marketing strategies. The main appdicgghoreTel used was an enterprise
marketing automation application from one of thedieg traditional vendors, which it found to beléxible, slow and not user-friendly.
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Solution : The ShoreTel team evaluated a variety of leadiagketing application vendors with a goal of firglim platform that was both
easy to use and designed to help them offer arumibexperience. ShoreTel chose our platform overpatitive marketing applications,
because it found our platform to be the most colmamsive and complete, the easiest to use and th@latform designed to embrace an
inbound experience.

Results: ShoreTel quickly saw the value of using our matf. Within the first two months, it was able terdte and test new marketing
automation workflows that led to a 100% increasenrail nurturing response rates. After one yearsaig our platform, ShoreTel reported the
following gains (year-over-year): 60% increaseraffic, 36% increase in leads and 110% increaspialified leads.

AmeriFirst Home Mortgage

Situation : AmeriFirst Home Mortgage is a community mortgageker specializing in lending to first-time homeyérs. In business
more than 25 years, AmeriFirst's main challenge taligng the person to person business tacticdithaays done and adapting them for the
Internet era. AmeriFirst’'s website served as arif\@nbrochure” for more than a decade, but wasanaffective channel to drive more
business, and AmeriFirst struggled with using mpidtipoint applications for its marketing and saleseriFirst wanted to transform its web
presence into a more efficient channel for growtadpusiness and drive better ROI.

Solution : AmeriFirst moved from a variety of point applicats to our platform and implemented an inboundegiemce throughout its
marketing and sales functions. AmeriFirst usesptatform for blogging, SEO, social media, marketingomation and personalized content tc
attract more web visitors, engage its leads andigeeamore qualified sales opportunities to its saé&am. AmeriFirst cut spending on traditic
tactics like direct mail and phonebook advertisiagd instead used our platform to focus on inbauadketing and sales that led to a better
experience for AmeriFirst's customers and bettet fDits business.

Results: After six months of using our platform, AmeriRireported that its monthly website traffic increddy 120% and monthly lee
coming from its website grew more than 20-fold.ekfone year using our platform, AmeriFirst repoitteat its monthly web traffic grew 380%
and leads grew by a factor of more than 51. After years using our platform, AmeriFirst reportedrenthan a 16-fold increase in monthly
website traffic rates and 90 times as many leadsrgp from its website as compared to before. AmgsiRttributed 147 new customers in the
first year and 266 customers in the second yeis tobound marketing activities powered by ourtfolan.

New Breed Marketing

Situation : New Breed Marketing was a traditional marketiggrcy specializing in branding and website degtgm,gh it would take on
most marketing projects that came its way. New 8iaeked clear specialization, and the difficultyproving long-term ROI to its clients left
New Breed juggling numerous st-term projects rather than getting the long-temtainer-based clients it desired. New Breed netaled
transform its model to focus on longer-term cliexationships. New Breed wanted a platform thatldosanage its own marketing as well as
the marketing it did for clients all in one plaeed a way to offer inbound marketing and salesiees\on a retainer basis to its clients.

Solution : New Breed used our platform to manage a cliesritre marketing strategy with all of the applicas and reporting available
in one place. By embracing an inbound experiendeodiering a new set of inbound marketing and satasices, New Breed was better
positioned to be a longgrm, strategic partner for its clients, increagimg amount of retainer business and attractingaiients as well, both ¢
which improved cash flow and profitability. With oplatform, New Breed could better prove the RO&dafient’s investment in its agency,
shifting New Breed's status from tactical vendostategic partner.

Results: Beyond having the tools to prove ROI and technolibgy enhances its value proposition, New Breedkitarg has seen its o\
gains with re-launching on the COS. Within four riienof launching its new website built on our comt@management application and
implementing the rest of our platform, New Breepared a 99% increase in monthly traffic, 61% imseein visitor to lead conversion and
100% increase in lead to customer conversion.
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The data in the case studies set forth above iasteased visits, leads, qualified leads and camers following implementation of our
platform does not necessarily mean that our platfaas the only factor causing such increases.

Our Technology

13,607 customers have chosen us as their marlaticigales platform, which we architected and bailte secure, highly distributed and
highly scalable. Since our founding, we have emémlaapid, iterative product development lifecyctdeud automation and open-source
technologies, including big data platforms, to powarketing and sales programs and provide insigbit@reviously possible or available.

Our platform is a multi-tenant, single code-baggdbally available software-as-a-service delivettedugh web browsers or mobile
applications. Our commitment to a highly availabédiable and scalable platform for businessedldizes is accomplished through the use of
these technologies.

Modern Database ArchitecturaVe process billions of data points weekly acrosgoua channels, including social media, email, SEO
and website visits, and continue to drive neardj-tene analytics across these channels. Thisssipte because we built our database from th
ground up using distributed big data technologiehsas HBase and Hadoop to both process and arthlytarge amounts of data we collec
our inbound database. Using modern database texiias) we can provide actionable insights acrogsadate data-sets in a manner not easily
achievable or cost effectively, at scale or effitiy, with traditional databases or platform arebtures.

Agility. Our infrastructure and development and softwareass processes allow us to update our platformspieeific groups of
customers or our entire customer base at any fiilme.means we can rapidly innovate and deliver fuswtionality frequently, without waitin
for quarterly or annual release cycles. We typjcd#ploy updates to our software platform hundi&dsmes a week, enabling us to gather
immediate customer feedback and improve our proguickly and continuously.

Cost leverageBecause our platform was built on an almost exetudotprint of open-source software and desigoagperate in cloud-
based data-centers, we have benefited from large-pcice reductions by these cloud computing sergroviders as they continue to innovate
and compete for market share. As our processingwelcontinues to grow, we continue to receive lavglume discounts on a per-unit basis
such as cost for storage, bandwidth and computipgaity. We also believe that our extensive use cantribution to, open-source software
will provide additional leverage as we scale oatfpirm and infrastructure.

Scalability.By leveraging leading cloud infrastructure provilatong with our automated technology stack, weahte to scale
workloads of varying sizes at any time. This allavgsto handle customers of all sizes and demarttieutitraditional operational limitations
such as network bandwidth, computing cycles, aasge capacity as we can scale our platform on-ddman

Reliability. Our platform’s uptime during 2014 exceeded 99.9%enlve delivered hundreds of product improvemehteugh thousands
of software releases in a continuous software dglicycle. Customer data is distributed and prakssross multiple data centers within a
region to provide redundancy. We built our platfayma distributed computing architecture with nag$ points of failure and we operate
across data-center boundaries daily. In additicsteta-center level redundancy, this architectuppstts multiple live copies of each data set
along with snapshot capabilities for faster, pamtime data recovery instead of traditional backngl restore methodologies.

Security.We leverage industry standard network and perindsfanse technologies, DDoS protection systemsufitoy web applicatio
firewalls) and enterprise grade DNS services aamdsiple vendors. Our data-center providers oeaaid certify to high industry compliance
levels. Due to the broad footprint of our custof@se, we regularly test and evaluate our platfoiti trusted third-party vendors to ensure the
security and integrity of our services.
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As of December 31, 2014 we had 132 employees imes@arch and development organization. Our relseard development expenses
were $25.6 million in 2014, $15.0 million in 2018c¢8$10.6 million in 2012.

Marketing and Sales

We believe we are a global leader in implementimgnbound experience in marketing and sales. Wievaethat our marketing and sales
model provides us with a competitive advantageeeisfly when targeting mid-market businesses, bezate can attract and engage these
businesses efficiently and at scale.

Inbound Marketing. Our marketing team focuses on inbound marketingadinects over 40,000 new leads per month through o
industryleading blog and other content, free tools, lamsad media following, high search engine rankiags personalized website and er
content. Inbound sources generated over 93% afi@urcustomers and over 82% of new leads during . 20/B4believe most companies of our
size and scale typically have a far lower voluméatl generation with a much larger share of itiognfrom traditional advertising methods.

Inbound Direct SalesOur sales representatives are based in our officEambridge, Massachusetts and Dublin, Irelandusedphone,
email and web meetings to interact with prospeatsa@istomers. The vast majority of revenue gengtageour sales representatives originate:s
with inbound leads produced by our marketing esfort

Inbound Channel Salesin addition to our direct sales team, we have s@apgesentatives that manage relationships witwauldwide
network of marketing agency partners who both ugeptatform for their own businesses and also, onramissioned basis, refer customers tc
us. These marketing agencies partner with us fgttorleverage our software platform and educatioesources, but also to build their own
business by offering new services and shiftingrtreienue mix to include more retainer-based bgsingth a recurring revenue stream.

Employees and Culture
Transforming the business world to embrace theundaxperience requires a truly remarkable teaomRhe very beginning, our
company was founded on a fundamental belief inceddiansparency, individual autonomy and enligateempathy.

To that end, we published our “Culture Code,” audnent codifying how we went about building a busgthat employees, customers
and partners alike truly love. Our Culture Coddeslileck has been viewed more than 1.5 million tiomekinkedIn’s SlideShare and become
important element of our recruiting efforts. Theese core principles of our Culture Code are:

* We are maniacal about our mission and our metricsOur mission is to make the world inbound and tramafhow organizations
attract, engage and delight their custom

We empower every employee, at every level, to “Sa\or the Customer”. We solve for the customer, company, team and ise
that order

* We are radically transparent. We believe that power is gained by sharing knowdeagt hoarding it and we share nearly all
business information with all of our employees ratter their title or positior

* We give ourselves the autonomy to be awesonWe trust and empower each employee to use goodneniy and believe that
results should matter more than when or where dineyproduced and that influence should be indepdralénierarchy

* We are unreasonably picky about our peersWe value people who are humble, effective and ppextied to action, adaptable to
charge, remarkable standouts and transparent wigrand with themselve
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* We invest in individual mastery and market value We want to be as proud of the people we build asmef the company we
build. We believe in investing in our people withgming learning, broad exposure and big challer

* We constantly question the status qucWe believe that remarkable outcomes rarely resoith fmodest risk and we’d rather be
failing frequently than never trying new thin

We take great pride in recruiting and retaininggdeavith HEART: Humble, Effective, Adaptable, Reraile and Transparent
employees at every level of our company who wamtaiesform the business world with inbound. We eeh recognized as one of Boston’s
Best Places to Work, a Best Place to Work for ReGeads and one of Glassdoor’s Most Difficult Comiga to Interview, and our policies on
employee autonomy and transparency have been widelifed in the media. At the end of the day, heamre we do not just talk about culture,
we measure it, just as we do the rest of our basirn@ur founders review our quarterly employeelfael metrics and surveys, respond to t
and use them in executive team evaluations.

As of December 31, 2014 we had 785 full-time emetmy Of these employees, 680 are based in thedstiédes, 97 are located in
Ireland, and 8 are located in Australia

Competition

Our market is evolving, highly competitive and fnagnted, and we expect competition to increasedritture. We believe the principal
competitive factors in our market are:

» vision for the market and product strategy and mdidenovation;
e inbound marketing focus and domain expert

e integrated a-in-one platform

» breadth and depth of product functional

* ease of use

» scalable, open architectul

» time to value and total cost of ownerst

» integration with thir-party applications and data sources;

* nhame recognition and brand reputati
We believe we complete favorably with respect tobthese factors.

We face intense competition from other software jganies that develop marketing software and fronkatarg services companies that
provide interactive marketing services. Our contpegioffer various point applications that provadatain functions and features that we
provide, including:

e clouc-based marketing automation provide
» email marketing software vendo
» sales force automation and CRM software vendois

» large-scale enterprise suite

In addition, instead of using our platform, somegpective customers may elect to combine dispgiate applications, such as content
management, marketing automation, analytics anidlsmedia management. We expect that new compgtisoich as enterprise software
vendors that have traditionally focused on entsgoresource planning or other applications supppiiack office functions, will develop and
introduce, or acquire, applications serving custefaeing and other front office functions.
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Intellectual Property

Our ability to protect our intellectual propertycluding our technology, will be an important facito the success and continued growt
our business. We protect our intellectual prop#rtgugh trade secrets law, copyrights, trademankiscantracts. Some of our technology relies
upon third-party licensed intellectual property.

In addition to the foregoing, we have establishesitess procedures designed to maintain the cantfédiey of our proprietary
information, including the use of confidentialitgraements and assignment of inventions agreemétitemployees, independent contractors,
consultants and companies with which we condudciless.

Financial Information About Segments

The Company operates as one operating segmentafdpesegments are defined as components of arpestefor which separate
financial information is regularly evaluated by tttgef operating decision makers (“CODMSs"), whiale she Company’s chief executive
officer and chief operating officer, in decidingwto allocate resources and assess performanceCdimgany’s CODMs evaluate the
Company’s financial information and resources asgkas the performance of these resources on aidatso basis. Since the Company
operates in one operating segment, all requirezhfiml segment information can be found in the obdated financial statements. See
Footnote 7 within the consolidated financial statats for information by geographic area.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly ReporidForm 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amemdsnto reports filed pursuant to
Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exch#&uef 1934, as amended, are made available freeayge on or through our website at
www.hubspot.coras soon as reasonably practicable after such sepitfiled with, or furnished to, the SEC. The SH&DH maintains a
website, www.sec.goy that contains reports and other information rdiay issuers that file electronically with the SE®e public may read
and copy any files with the SEC Public ReferencerRat 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. Tui#ip may obtain information on the
operation of the Public Reference Room by callir@gpD-SEC-0330. We are not, however, including ttiermation contained on our website,
or information that may be accessed through linkeur website, as part of, or incorporating sudbrmation by reference into, this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves a hagrek of risk. You should carefully consider tis&sidescribed below and the other
information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K andur other public filings before making an invasint decision. Our business, prospects,
financial condition, or operating results could barmed by any of these risks, as well as othesnigk currently known to us or that
currently consider immaterial. If any of such risksd uncertainties actually occurs, our businesgrfcial condition or operating results cot
differ materially from the plans, projections antther forward-looking statements included in thetisectitied “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems” and elsewhere in this report and in our other palffilings. The trading price of ot
common stock could decline due to any of thess,réskd, as a result, you may lose all or part afriovestment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Strategy
We have a history of losses and may not achievditadoility in the future.

We generated net losses of $48.2 million in 20£434.3 million in 2013, and of $18.8 million in 2B. As of December 31, 2014, we
had an accumulated deficit of $154.3 million. Wdl weed to generate and sustain increased revewatslin future periods to become
profitable, and, even if we do, we may not be ablmaintain or increase our level of profitabilite intend to continue to expend significant
funds to grow our
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marketing and sales operations, develop and entandgabound platform, scale our data center itftecsure and services capabilities and
expand into new markets. Our efforts to grow owibeiss may be more costly than we expect, and wenotsbe able to increase our revenue
enough to offset our higher operating expensesmaieincur significant losses in the future for anter of reasons, including the other risks
described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, antbteseen expenses, difficulties, complications deldys and other unknown events. If we
are unable to achieve and sustain profitabilitg, tiarket price of our common stock may significad#écrease.

We are dependent upon customer renewals, the adiditf new customers and the continued growth of tiharket for an inbound platform.

We derive, and expect to continue to derive, atsmlisl portion of our revenue from the sale ofslptions to our inbound marketing
platform. The market for inbound marketing and s@educts is still evolving, and competitive dynesrmay cause pricing levels to chang
the market matures and as existing and new mask#étipants introduce new types of point applicasi@and different approaches to enable
businesses to address their respective needsressih, we may be forced to reduce the prices veegehfor our platform and may be unable to
renew existing customer agreements or enter intoaustomer agreements at the same prices and hp@ame terms that we have
historically.

Our subscription renewal rates may decrease, ang dacrease could harm our future revenue and opergtresults.

Our customers have no obligation to renew theisstiptions for our platform after the expirationtbéir subscription periods,
substantially all of which are one year or lessadidition, our customers may seek to renew for taubscription amounts or for shorter
contract lengths. Also, customers may choose nigrtew their subscriptions for a variety of reasamsluding an inability or failure on the p
of a customer to create blogging, social mediaahdr content necessary to realize the benefitgioplatform. Our renewal rates may decline
or fluctuate as a result of a number of factorsluiding limited customer resources, pricing changésption and utilization of our platform &
add-on applications by our customers, adoptioruofnew products (such as our CRM and Sidekick petediaunched in September 2014),
customer satisfaction with our platform, the acijiois of our customers by other companies and dsting general economic conditions. If
our customers do not renew their subscription®éorplatform or decrease the amount they spenduwsitlour revenue will decline and our
business will suffer.

We face significant competition from both establethand new companies offering marketing and salefiware and other related
applications, as well as internally developed safte, which may harm our ability to add new customseretain existing customers and grow
our business.

The marketing and sales software market is evopiighly competitive and significantly fragment&tlith the introduction of new
technologies and the potential entry of new conipestinto the market, we expect competition to iseéend intensify in the future, which cot
harm our ability to increase sales, maintain orease renewals and maintain our prices.

We face intense competition from other software jganies that develop marketing and sales softwatdram marketing services
companies that provide interactive marketing sewi€€ompetition could significantly impede our apito sell subscriptions to our inbound
marketing and sales platform on terms favorablestdOur current and potential competitors may dgvehd market new technologies that
render our existing or future products less contipetior obsolete. In addition, if these competitdevelop products with similar or superior
functionality to our platform, we may need to dexse the prices or accept less favorable termsuioplatform subscriptions in order to remain
competitive. If we are unable to maintain our pricdue to competitive pressures, our margins ilidduced and our operating results will be
negatively affected.

Our competitors include:

» clouc-based marketing automation provide
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» email marketing software vendo
» sales force automation and CRM software vendois

» large-scale enterprise suite

In addition, instead of using our platform, somegpective customers may elect to combine dispaiite applications, such as content
management, marketing automation, CRM, analyticssarcial media management. We expect that new ditorge such as enterprise
software vendors that have traditionally focuse@nterprise resource planning or other applicatsumpporting back office functions, will
develop and introduce applications serving custef@eng and other front office functions. This dymment could have an adverse effect on
our business, operating results and financial ¢andiln addition, sales force automation and CR/fgtam vendors could acquire or develop
applications that compete with our marketing sofenafferings. Some of these companies have acgsoeidl media marketing and other
marketing software providers to integrate with thbader offerings.

Our current and potential competitors may haveifggmtly more financial, technical, marketing aoither resources than we have, be
able to devote greater resources to the developmerhotion, sale and support of their products serdices, may have more extensive
customer bases and broader customer relationstapsate have, and may have longer operating histarid greater name recognition than we
have. As a result, these competitors may respastdiféo new technologies and undertake more extemsarketing campaigns for their
products. In a few cases, these vendors may alablbdo offer marketing and sales software delidt no additional cost by bundling it with
their existing suite of applications. To the extany of our competitors has existing relationshijfit potential customers for either marketing
software or other applications, those customers Ipeaynwilling to purchase our platform becausehefrtexisting relationships with our
competitor. If we are unable to compete with sugmganies, the demand for our inbound platform csulastantially decline.

In addition, if one or more of our competitors wesanerge or partner with another of our competitour ability to compete effectively
could be adversely affected. Our competitors mag aktablish or strengthen cooperative relatiosshith our current or future strategic
distribution and technology partners or other partvith whom we have relationships, thereby lingitour ability to promote and implement
our platform. We may not be able to compete sufelgsigainst current or future competitors, andnpetitive pressures may harm our
business, operating results and financial condition

We have experienced rapid growth and organizationbbnge in recent periods and expect continued fggrowth. If we fail to manage ot
growth effectively, we may be unable to execute business plan, maintain high levels of serviceamtdress competitive challeng
adequately.

Our head count and operations have grown substgankar example, we had 785 full-time employee®fiBecember 31, 2014, as
compared with 668 as of December 31, 2013. We apenefirst international office in Dublin, Ireland January 2013, and a second
international office in Sydney, Australia in Aug@§i14. This growth has placed, and will continuglexe, a significant strain on our
management, administrative, operational and firemiefrastructure. We anticipate further growthlveié required to address increases in our
product offerings and continued expansion. Our ssgavill depend in part upon our ability to recrhite, train, manage and integrate a
significant number of qualified managers, technperisonnel and employees in specialized roles mvishir company, including in technology,
sales and marketing. If our new employees perfavorlg, or if we are unsuccessful in recruiting,itingy, training, managing and integrating
these new employees, or retaining these or outiegiemployees, our business may suffer.

In addition, to manage the expected continued drafbur head count, operations and geographicresipa, we will need to continue to
improve our information technology infrastructuoperational, financial and management systems eogk@ures. Our anticipated additional
head count and capital investments will increagecosts, which will make it more difficult for us fddress any future revenue shortfalls by
reducing expenses in the short term. If we faguocessfully manage our growth, we will be unablsuccessfully execute our business plan,
which could have a negative impact on our busimessilts of operations or financial condition.
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Failure to effectively develop and expand our matk® and sales capabilities could harm our ability increase our customer base and
achieve broader market acceptance of our platform.

To increase total customers and achieve broadétamnacceptance of our inbound platform, we willchée expand our marketing and
sales operations, including our sales force ard{arty channel partners. We will continue to datk significant resources to inbound sales
and marketing programs. The effectiveness of dupumd sales and marketing and third-party chanahers has varied over time and may
vary in the future and depends on our ability tantan and improve our inbound platform. All of #eeefforts will require us to invest
significant financial and other resources. Our bess will be seriously harmed if our efforts do geherate a correspondingly significant
increase in revenue. We may not achieve anticipaeshue growth from expanding our sales forceeifare unable to hire, develop and retain
talented sales personnel, if our new sales persana@nable to achieve desired productivity lewela reasonable period of time or if our sale:
and marketing programs are not effective.

The rate of growth of our business depends on tlatinued participation and level of service of ourarketing agency partners.

We rely on our marketing agency partners to proeelgain services to our customers, as well asugusales of our inbound platform to
customers. Marketing agency partners and custorafesed to us by our marketing agency partnersesgmted approximately 44% of our
customers as of December 31, 2014, and 34% ofemenue for the year ended December 31, 2014. Textemt we do not attract new
marketing agency partners, or existing or new ntargeagency partners do not refer a growing nunabeustomers to us, our revenue and
operating results would be harmed. In additiolouif marketing agency partners do not continue eawige services to our customers, we woulc
be required to provide such services ourselvegieliir expanding our internal team or engaging dthied-party providers, which would
increase our operating costs.

If we cannot maintain our company culture as we growe could lose the innovation, teamwork, pass&nd focus on execution that w
believe contribute to our success and our business/ be harmed.

We believe that a critical component to our suctessbeen our company culture, which is basedamsparency and personal autono
We have invested substantial time and resourcbksiiding our team within this company culture. Alaylure to preserve our culture could
negatively affect our ability to retain and recnoétrsonnel and to effectively focus on and pursuecorporate objectives. As we grow as and
develop the infrastructure of a public company,magy find it difficult to maintain these importargects of our company culture. If we fail to
maintain our company culture, our business maydveraely impacted.

If we fail to maintain our inbound thought leadersp position, our business may suffe

We believe that maintaining our thought leadergipition in inbound marketing, sales and servisemiimportant element in attracting
new customers. We devote significant resourcegveldp and maintain our thought leadership positigth a focus on identifying and
interpreting emerging trends in the inbound expexge shaping and guiding industry dialog and cngadind sharing the best inbound practices
Our activities related to developing and maintagnimur thought leadership may not yield increasedmae, and even if they do, any increased
revenue may not offset the expenses we incurreddh effort. We rely upon the continued serviceswsfmanagement and employees with
domain expertise with inbound marketing, salessarglices, and the loss of any key employees inatfeia could harm our competitive posit
and reputation. If we fail to successfully grow andintain our thought leadership position, we maaitract enough new customers or retain
our existing customers, and our business coulesuff

If we fail to further enhance our brand and maintaiour existing strong brand awareness, our abiltty expand our customer base will |
impaired and our financial condition may suffer.

We believe that our development of the HubSpotdiareritical to achieving widespread awarenessunfexisting and future inbound
experience solutions, and, as a result, is impbttaattracting new customers and maintaining sxgstustomers. In the past, our efforts to
build our brand have involved significant expenseg] we believe that this investment has resuttesirong brand recognition in the business-
to-business, or B2B,
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market. Successful promotion and maintenance obmands will depend largely on the effectivenesswfmarketing efforts and on our ability
to provide a reliable and useful inbound platfoitne@mpetitive prices. Brand promotion activitiesynmot yield increased revenue, and even if
they do, any increased revenue may not offsetxpereses we incurred in building our brand. If wiettasuccessfully promote and maintain
our brand, our business could suffer.

If we fail to adapt and respond effectively to raiy changing technology, evolving industry standardnd changing customer needs
requirements, our inbound platform may become lessnpetitive.

Our future success depends on our ability to adagtinnovate our inbound platform. To attract nexsstomers and increase revenue fi
existing customers, we need to continue to enhandeémprove our offerings to meet customer neegsiets that our customers are willing to
pay. Such efforts will require adding new functilityaand responding to technological advancemesmksch will increase our research and
development costs. If we are unable to develop aygplications that address our customers’ needs, @nhance and improve our platform in a
timely manner, we may not be able to maintain oréase market acceptance of our platform. Ourtaldigrow is also subject to the risk of
future disruptive technologies. Access and useuofrtbound platform is provided via the cloud, whidself, was disruptive to the previous
enterprise software model. If new technologies gménat are able to deliver inbound marketing safenand related applications at lower
prices, more efficiently, more conveniently or msezurely, such technologies could adversely affecability to compete.

We rely on our management team and other key empésy and the loss of one or more key employeesdclatm our business.

Our success and future growth depend upon therz@diservices of our management team, includingodounders, Brian Halligan
and Dharmesh Shah, and other key employees irr¢las af research and development, marketing, sdesces and general and
administrative functions. From time to time, theray be changes in our management team resultingtfre hiring or departure of executives,
which could disrupt our business. We also are dégeinon the continued service of our existing safenengineers and information technol:
personnel because of the complexity of our platfdeohnologies and infrastructure. We may termiaatgeemployee’s employment at any
time, with or without cause, and any employee neygn at any time, with or without cause. We dohete employment agreements with any
of our key personnel. The loss of one or more ofk@y employees could harm our business.

The failure to attract and retain additional qualiéd personnel could prevent us from executing owrsiness strategy.

To execute our business strategy, we must attrattetain highly qualified personnel. In particulae compete with many other
companies for software developers with high leeélsxperience in designing, developing and managdiogd-based software, as well as for
skilled information technology, marketing, sales @perations professionals, and we may not be seftdén attracting and retaining the
professionals we need. Also, inbound sales, mantetnd services domain experts are very importaatit success and are difficult to replace
We have from time to time in the past experieneed, we expect to continue to experience in thedytifficulty in hiring and difficulty in
retaining highly skilled employees with approprigtelifications. In particular, we have experienastbmpetitive hiring environment in the
Greater Boston area, where we are headquarterety dfahe companies with which we compete for eigrered personnel have greater
resources than we do. In addition, in making emplent decisions, particularly in the software indysob candidates often consider the value
of the stock options or other equity incentives/thee to receive in connection with their employméithe price of our stock declines, or
experiences significant volatility, our ability &dtract or retain key employees will be adverségcted. If we fail to attract new personnel or
fail to retain and motivate our current personnal, growth prospects could be severely harmed.
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If we fail to offer high-quality customer support, our business and reputatmay suffer.

High-quality education, training and customer suppartiaaportant for the successful marketing, salews®of our inbound platform a
for the renewal of existing customers. Providinig #ducation, training and support requires thatpgusonnel who manage our online training
resource, HubSpot Academy, or provide customeraupyave specific inbound experience domain knogéeaind expertise, making it more
difficult for us to hire qualified personnel andgcale up our support operations. The importandeghf-quality customer support will increase
as we expand our business and pursue new custdigesdo not help our customers use multiple aggtions within our inbound platform
and provide effective ongoing support, our abildysell additional functionality and services totmretain, existing customers may suffer and
our reputation with existing or potential customerasy be harmed.

We may not be able to scale our business quicklglegh to meet our customergrowing needs and if we are not able to grow efficily, out
operating results could be harmed.

As usage of our inbound platform grows and as costs use our platform for additional inbound apilians, such as sales and services
we will need to devote additional resources to wrprg our application architecture, integratinghwihird-party systems and maintaining
infrastructure performance. In addition, we wilkedeto appropriately scale our internal businestesys and our services organization,
including customer support and professional sesyitteserve our growing customer base, particuslpur customer demographics change
over time. Any failure of or delay in these effoctsuld cause impaired system performance and reducsomer satisfaction. These issues
could reduce the attractiveness of our inboundgglatto customers, resulting in decreased salegtocustomers, lower renewal rates by
existing customers, the issuance of service craaliteequested refunds, which could impede ourmegegyrowth and harm our reputation. Even
if we are able to upgrade our systems and expansitafi, any such expansion will be expensive anmdmex, requiring management's time
and attention. We could also face inefficienciesperational failures as a result of our effortsdale our infrastructure. Moreover, there are
inherent risks associated with upgrading, improvand expanding our information technology systéivis.cannot be sure that the expansion
and improvements to our infrastructure and systeithde fully or effectively implemented on a tinyebasis, if at all. These efforts may red
revenue and our margins and adversely affect aantial results.

Our ability to introduce new products and featuresdependent on adequate research and developmesdurces. If we do not adequately
fund our research and development efforts, we may bhe able to compete effectively and our busingsd operating results may be harme

To remain competitive, we must continue to develew product offerings, applications, features amub@cements to our existing
inbound platform. Maintaining adequate researchdetlopment personnel and resources to meet tharts of the market is essential. If
are unable to develop our platform internally dueertain constraints, such as high employee tendack of management ability or a lack of
other research and development resources, we nssymarket opportunities. Further, many of our cartgre expend a considerably greater
amount of funds on their research and developmmgrams, and those that do not may be acquiredriggt companies that would allocate
greater resources to our competitors’ researctdamdlopment programs. Our failure to maintain adégvesearch and development resource
or to compete effectively with the research andettgument programs of our competitors could matigradversely affect our business.

Changes in the sizes or types of businesses thattpase our platform or in the applications withinuy inbound platform purchased or used
by our customers could negatively affect our opéngtresults.

Our strategy is to sell subscriptions to our intmptatform to mid-sized businesses, but we have @otl will continue to sell to
organizations ranging from small businesses torprises. Our gross margins can vary depending omenous factors related to the
implementation and use of our inbound platform|uding the sophistication and intensity of our cusérs’use of our platform and the level
professional services and
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support required by a customer. Sales to enterpustomers may entail longer sales cycles and sigréficant selling efforts. Selling to small
businesses may involve greater credit risk and tiziegy. If there are changes in the mix of busésssthat purchase our platform or the mix of
the product plans purchased by our customers, rmgsgnargins could decrease and our operatingtsesulld be adversely affected.

We have in the past completed acquisitions and raeguire or invest in other companies or technologjia the future, which could divert
management’s attention, fail to meet our expectatso result in additional dilution to our stockholds, increase expenses, disrupt our
operations or harm our operating results.

We have in the past acquired, and we may in thedwcquire or invest in, businesses, producteamiologies that we believe could
complement or expand our platform, enhance oumieahcapabilities or otherwise offer growth oppmities. For example, in June 2011, we
acquired Performable, a marketing automation pravid/e may not be able to fully realize the antitgal benefits of these or any future
acquisitions. The pursuit of potential acquisitiomay divert the attention of management and casde imcur various expenses related to
identifying, investigating and pursuing suitableuaisitions, whether or not they are consummated.

There are inherent risks in integrating and margagoquisitions. If we acquire additional businessgsmay not be able to assimilate or
integrate the acquired personnel, operations astthtdogies successfully or effectively manage trmlzined business following the acquisit
and our management may be distracted from operatinfusiness. We also may not achieve the antezipaenefits from the acquired
business due to a number of factors, includingnticipated costs or liabilities associated with #tguisition; incurrence of acquisition-related
costs, which would be recognized as a current gexigense; inability to generate sufficient revetweffset acquisition or investment costs;
the inability to maintain relationships with custers and partners of the acquired business; thiewtf of incorporating acquired technology
and rights into our platform and of maintaining lifyeand security standards consistent with oundralelays in customer purchases due to
uncertainty related to any acquisition; the neeihtegrate or implement additional controls, praged and policies; challenges caused by
distance, language and cultural differences; harput existing business relationships with busimestners and customers as a result of the
acquisition; the potential loss of key employeess af resources that are needed in other partgrdfusiness and diversion of management ar
employee resources; the inability to recognize meduleferred revenue in accordance with our reggraognition policies; and use of
substantial portions of our available cash or tfoalirence of debt to consummate the acquisitioguisitions also increase the risk of
unforeseen legal liability, including for potentiablations of applicable law or industry rules aedulations, arising from prior or ongoing a
or omissions by the acquired businesses whichairdiscovered by due diligence during the acquisiprocess. Generally, if an acquired
business fails to meet our expectations, our operagésults, business and financial condition mafes. Acquisitions could also result in
dilutive issuances of equity securities or the inence of debt, which could adversely affect owsibess, results of operations or financial
condition.

In addition, a significant portion of the purchas&e of companies we acquire may be allocatedtmwill and other intangible assets,
which must be assessed for impairment at leastadiynif our acquisitions do not ultimately yielagected returns, we may be required to tak
charges to our operating results based on our meait assessment process, which could harm outsedwperations.

Because our lon-term growth strategy involves further expansion aiir sales to customers outside the United States,business will be
susceptible to risks associated with internatiomgderations.

A component of our growth strategy involves thetfar expansion of our operations and customer ipésenationally. As of
December 31, 2014, approximately 22% of our custemere located outside of the United States aesktlcustomers generated
approximately 21% of our total revenue for the yeaded December 31, 2014. We opened our firstnatiemal office in Dublin, Ireland in
January 2013 and we opened
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our second international office in Sydney, Austréti August 2014. These international offices foptimarily on sales, professional services
and support. For information regarding the peragmiaf our revenues generated by our Ireland andr&ligsoffices, see Note 7 of our
consolidated financial statements. Our currentiv@gonal operations and future initiatives wilvolve a variety of risks, including:

» difficulties in maintaining our company culture tvia dispersed and distant workfor

* more stringent regulations relating to datausgcand the unauthorized use of, or access tmneercial and personal information,
particularly in the European Unio

e unexpected changes in regulatory requirementss taxgade laws

« differing labor regulations, especially in tharopean Union, where labor laws are generally radr@antageous to employees as
compared to the United States, including deemedyhawage and overtime regulations in these loca;

« challenges inherent in efficiently managingraareased number of employees over large geograstances, including the need to
implement appropriate systems, policies, benefits@mpliance program

» difficulties in managing a business in new nedskwith diverse cultures, languages, customs| géems, alternative dispute
systems and regulatory syster

» currency exchange rate fluctuations and theltiag effect on our revenue and expenses, anddbeand risk of entering into
hedging transactions if we chose to do so in tiheréy

» limitations on our ability to reinvest earninigsm operations in one country to fund the capitgds of our operations in other
countries;

» limited or insufficient intellectual property prat#on;
» political instability or terrorist activities

» likelihood of potential or actual violations ddmestic and international anticorruption laws;hsas the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act and the U.K. Bribery Act, or of Uadd international export control and sanctions leg@gns, which likelihood may
increase with an increase of sales or operatiofar@ign jurisdictions and operations in certaidustries; ant

» adverse tax burdens and foreign exchange contratbuld make it difficult to repatriate earniraged cash

Our limited experience in operating our businessrivationally increases the risk that any poteritialre expansion efforts that we may
undertake will not be successful. If we invest saibSal time and resources to expand our internatioperations and are unable to do so
successfully and in a timely manner, our businessaperating results will suffer. We continue tglement policies and procedures to
facilitate our compliance with U.S. laws and regjolas applicable to or arising from our internatibbusiness. Inadequacies in our past or
current compliance practices may increase theofishadvertent violations of such laws and regolasi, which could lead to financial and ot
penalties that could damage our reputation and $@&gosts on us.

Interruptions or delays in service from our thirparty data center providers could impair our abjlito deliver our platform to our customel
resulting in customer dissatisfaction, damage toraaputation, loss of customers, limited growth anelduction in revenue.

We currently serve the majority of our platform étions from thirdparty data center hosting facilities operated bya&an Web Service
and located in northern Virginia. In addition, wex\ge ancillary functions for our customers fronrdhparty data center hosting facilities
operated by Rackspace located in Dallas, Texah,auMitackup facility in Chicago, lllinois. Our op&oas depend, in part, on our third-party
facility providers’ abilities to protect these fhités against damage or interruption from natuliahsters, power or
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telecommunications failures, criminal acts and Eimévents. In the event that any of our third¥p&atilities arrangements is terminated, or if
there is a lapse of service or damage to a faciligycould experience interruptions in our platfaswell as delays and additional expenses ir
arranging new facilities and services.

Any damage to, or failure of, the systems of oindtiparty providers could result in interruptiomsdur platform. Despite precautions
taken at our data centers, the occurrence of spikesage volume, a natural disaster, an act afriem, vandalism or sabotage, a decision to
close a facility without adequate notice, or otheanticipated problems at a facility could resultangthy interruptions in the availability of ¢
on-demand software. Even with current and plannedstisaecovery arrangements, our business couldimdu. Also, in the event of dame
or interruption, our insurance policies may notqdsely compensate us for any losses that we neay.imhese factors in turn could further
reduce our revenue, subject us to liability andseaus to issue credits or cause customers tofegintew their subscriptions, any of which cc
materially adversely affect our business.

We are dependent on the continued availability biré-party data hosting and transmission services.

A significant portion of our operating cost is framar third-party data hosting and transmissionisesy If the costs for such services
increase due to vendor consolidation, regulationtract renegotiation, or otherwise, we may noable to increase the fees for our inbound
platform or services to cover the changes. As altremur operating results may be significantly s@than forecasted.

If we do not or cannot maintain the compatibilityf @ur inbound platform with thirc-party applications that our customers use in their
businesses, our revenue will decline.

A significant percentage of our customers choosetegrate our platform with certain capabilitigeyided by third-party software
platform and application providers using applicagyzogramming interfaces, or APIs, published byséheroviders , either as publicly available
no-fee licenses or through fee-based partnershgmgements. The functionality and popularity of mioound platform depends, in part, on oul
ability to integrate our platform with third-par@pplications and platforms, including CRM, CMS,@vnerce, call center, analytics and socia
media sites that our customers use and from whiej dbtain data. Third-party providers of applicai and APls may change the features of
their applications and platforms, restrict our asc® their applications and platforms, terminatelect not to renew our partnership
agreements or otherwise alter the terms goverrsegotitheir applications and APls and access teetlapplications and platforms in an adv
manner. Such changes could functionally limit omi@ate our ability to use these thipasty applications and platforms in conjunctionhagiur
platform, which could negatively impact our offeggiand harm our business. If we fail to integratepatform with new third-party
applications and platforms that our customers asenfairketing, sales or services purposes, we milanable to offer the functionality that
customers need, which would negatively impact dulitg to generate revenue and adversely impactosiness.

We rely on data provided by third parties, the lagsvhich could limit the functionality of our plaiorm and disrupt our business.

Select functionality of our inbound platform deperwh our ability to deliver data, including seaertyine results and social media
updates, provided by unaffiliated third parties;tsas Facebook, Google, LinkedIn and Twitter. Sofirthis data is provided to us pursuant to
third-party data sharing policies and terms of usgler data sharing agreements by third-party gessior by customer consent. In the future,
any of these third parties could change its daaaist policies, including making them more resiviet or alter its algorithms that determine
placement, display, and accessibility of searchltesind social media updates, any of which coeddlt in the loss of, or significant
impairment to, our ability to collect and provideeful data to our customers. These third partiesdcalso interpret our, or our service
providers’,data collection policies or practices as being msistent with their policies, which could resultie loss of our ability to collect tt
data for our customers. Any such changes couldimgpa ability to deliver data to our customers aodild adversely impact select
functionality of our platform, impairing the retuam investment that our customers derive from usimgsolution, as well as adversely
affecting our business and our ability to generatenue.
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Privacy concerns and end us¢ acceptance of Internet behavior tracking may litrthe applicability, use and adoption of our inbodn
platform.

Privacy concerns may cause end users to resisidgmgithe personal data necessary to allow ourooosts to use our platform
effectively. We have implemented various featundésrided to enable our customers to better protettiser privacy, but these measures may
not alleviate all potential privacy concerns ane#s. Even the perception of privacy concernstidreor not valid, may inhibit market
adoption of our platform, especially in certainustties that rely on sensitive personal informatmrivacy advocacy groups and the techno
and other industries are considering various nelditianal or different self-regulatory standardattimay place additional burdens on us. The
costs of compliance with, and other burdens impdwsetthese groups’ policies and actions may limét tise and adoption of our inbound
platform and reduce overall demand for it, or leadignificant fines, penalties or liabilities fany noncompliance or loss of any such action.

We are subject to governmental regulation and othegal obligations, particularly related to privacgata protection and information
security, and our actual or perceived failure toroply with such obligations could harm our businegsSompliance with such laws could al
impair our efforts to maintain and expand our cusiter base, and thereby decrease our revenue.

Our handling of data is subject to a variety ofdaamd regulations, including regulation by varigogernment agencies, including the
U.S. Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, and varstai®, local and foreign agencies. We collect petbp identifiable information and other
data from our customers and leads. We also hamd#®pally identifiable information about our custasi customers. We use this information
to provide services to our customers, to suppapaerd and improve our business. We may also shateroers’ personally identifiable
information with third parties as authorized by tustomer or as described in our privacy policy.

The U.S. federal and various state and foreign igouents have adopted or proposed limitations omrdifiection, distribution, use and
storage of personal information of individualstte United States, the FTC and many state attorgpeysral are applying federal and state
consumer protection laws as imposing standardh&online collection, use and dissemination oadeliowever, these obligations may be
interpreted and applied in a manner that is incest from one jurisdiction to another and may toinfvith other requirements or our
practices. Any failure or perceived failure by acomply with privacy or security laws, policiesghl obligations or industry standards or any
security incident that results in the unauthorimldase or transfer of personally identifiable infation or other customer data may result in
governmental enforcement actions, litigation, fines penalties and/or adverse publicity, and coalgse our customers to lose trust in us,
which could have an adverse effect on our reputatitd business.

Some proposed laws or regulations concerning pyivdata protection and information security aréhieir early stages, and we cannotl
determine the impact these laws and regulationsygfemented, may have on our business. Such ladsegulations may require companies
to implement privacy and security policies, perasiérs to access, correct and delete personal iafnmstored or maintained by such
companies, inform individuals of security breacties affect their personal information, and, in sorases, obtain individuals’ consent to use
personal information for certain purposes. In addijta foreign government could require that amgpeal information collected in a country
not be disseminated outside of that country, anérgenot currently equipped to comply with suclkeguirement. Other proposed legislation
could, if enacted, impose additional requirement$ grohibit the use of certain technologies thathkrindividuals’ activities on web pages or
that record when individuals click through to ateimet address contained in an email message.|®wshand regulations could require us to
change features of our platform or restrict outaoners’ ability to collect and use email addrespage viewing data and personal information
which may reduce demand for our platform. Our f&ilto comply with federal, state and internatiasetia privacy laws and regulators could
harm our ability to successfully operation our bess and pursue our business goals.
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In addition, several foreign countries and govemialebodies, including the European Union and Canhdve regulations dealing with
the collection and use of personal information ivtetd from their residents, which are often morérietése than those in the United States.
Laws and regulations in these jurisdictions appbably to the collection, use, storage, disclosur@ security of personal information that
identifies or may be used to identify an individualich as names, email addresses and in somegtiaed, Internet Protocol, or IP, addresses.
Such regulations and laws may be modified and @ews Imay be enacted in the future. Within the Euaogénion, legislators are currently
considering a revision to the 1995 European UniataProtection Directive that would include momngient operational requirements for
processors and controllers of personal informadioe that would impose significant penalties for4sompliance. If our privacy or data
security measures fail to comply with current dufe laws and regulations, we may be subjectigalibn, regulatory investigations, fines or
other liabilities, as well as negative publicitydaa potential loss of business. Moreover, if futiakes and regulations limit our subscribers’
ability to use and share personal information aratility to store, process and share personatrimdtion, demand for our solutions could
decrease, our costs could increase, and our bssimssilts of operations and financial conditionldde harmed.

New interpretations of existing laws, regulationst@ndards could require us to incur additionatsand restrict our business operati
and any failure by us to comply with applicableuiggments may result in governmental enforcemetibias, litigation, fines and penalties or
adverse publicity, which could have an adversecefia our reputation and business.

If our or our customer’ security measures are compromised or unauthorizatess to data of our customers or their customsrstherwise
obtained, our inbound platform may be perceivedrax being secure, our customers may be harmed aray rrurtail or cease their use of
our platform, our reputation may be damaged and mey incur significant liabilities.

Our operations involve the storage and transmissia@iata of our customers and their customersudioh personally identifiable
information. Our storage is typically the sole smuof record for portions of our customers’ busésssand end user data, such as initial conta
information and online interactions. Security iregits could result in unauthorized access to, 1bss vnauthorized disclosure of this
information, litigation, indemnity obligations amther possible liabilities, as well as negativelmitly, which could damage our reputation,
impair our sales and harm our customers and ounéss Cyber-attacks and other malicious Intermset activity continue to increase
generally, and cloud-based platform providers ofkating services have been targeted. If our sgcaréasures are compromised as a result
third-party action, employee or customer error,feedance, stolen or fraudulently obtained log-edentials or otherwise, our reputation coulc
be damaged, our business may be harmed and weinouldsignificant liability. If third parties wititvhom we work, such as vendors or
developers, violate applicable laws or our secyrdljcies, such violations may also put our custahi@formation at risk and could in turn
have an adverse effect on our business. In addifitimee security measures of our customers aregpcomised, even without any actual
compromise of our own systems, we may face negatidicity or reputational harm if our customersaogone else incorrectly attributes the
blame for such security breaches to us or our Byst#Ve may be unable to anticipate or prevent fgales used to obtain unauthorized access
or to sabotage systems because they change frggaedtgenerally are not detected until after andent has occurred. As we increase our
customer base and our brand becomes more widelyrkaod recognized, we may become more of a taogéehifrd parties seeking to
compromise our security systems or gain unauthommeess to our customers’ data. Additionally, wevigle extensive access to our database
which stores our customer data, to our developrnsamh to facilitate our rapid pace of product depaient. If such access or our own
operations cause the loss, damage or destructionrafustomers’ business data, their sales, leadrggon, support and other business
operations may be permanently harmed. As a resultzustomers may bring claims against us forpostits and other damages.

Many governments have enacted laws requiring corapda notify individuals of data security incidemr unauthorized transfers
involving certain types of personal data. In additisome of our customers contractually requiréination of any data security compromise.
Security compromises experienced by our competityrs
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our customers or by us may lead to public disclesuwvhich may lead to widespread negative publiéityy security compromise in our
industry or our systems, whether actual or perekigeuld harm our reputation, erode customer cenfie in the effectiveness of our security
measures, negatively impact our ability to attreet customers, cause existing customers to elé¢bmenew their subscriptions or subject us
to third-party lawsuits, lead to government invgations, regulatory fines or other action or ligpjlwhich could materially and adversely
affect our business and operating results.

There can be no assurance that any limitationsbiity provisions in our contracts for a secufiityeach would be enforceable or
adequate or would otherwise protect us from ant $abilities or damages with respect to any pattic claim. We also cannot be sure that
existing general liability insurance coverage aodetage for errors or omissions will continue toaailable on acceptable terms or will be
available in sufficient amounts to cover one or enlarge claims, or that the insurer will not deoyerage as to any future claim. The
successful assertion of one or more large claimiagus that exceed available insurance coveoaghe occurrence of changes in our
insurance policies, including premium increasetherimposition of large deductible or co-insurareguirements, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiod operating results.

If our inbound platform fails due to defects or sitar problems, and if we fail to correct any defeat other software problems, we could Ic
customers, become subject to service performanceanranty claims or incur significant costs.

Our platform and its underlying infrastructure areerently complex and may contain material defectsrrors. We release
modifications, updates, bug fixes and other chatgesir software several times per day, withouitranal human-performed quality control
reviews for each release. We have from time to fimuad defects in our software and may discoveitihdl defects in the future. We may |
be able to detect and correct defects or errormréefustomers begin to use our platform or itsiappbns. Consequently, we or our customers
may discover defects or errors after our platfoam heen implemented. These defects or errors etgddcause inaccuracies in the data we
collect and process for our customers, or evethodge damage or inadvertent release of such contfdelata. We implement bug fixes and
upgrades as part of our regular system maintenariieh may lead to system downtime. Even if weaske to implement the bug fixes and
upgrades in a timely manner, any history of defecigaccuracies in the data we collect for outanners, or the loss, damage or inadvertent
release of confidential data could cause our réjomso be harmed, and customers may elect notitchase or renew their agreements with us
and subject us to service performance credits,amgyrclaims or increased insurance costs. The esstciated with any material defects or
errors in our platform or other performance protdemay be substantial and could materially advers#éct our operating results.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property
Our business may suffer if it is alleged or detemad that our technology infringes the intellectuptoperty rights of others.

The software industry is characterized by the erist of a large number of patents, copyrightsetratks, trade secrets and other
intellectual and proprietary rights. Companieshia software industry, including those in marketoftware, are often required to defend
against litigation claims based on allegations@filgement or other violations of intellectual pesty rights. Many of our competitors and
other industry participants have been issued paterd/or have filed patent applications and magragstent or other intellectual property
rights within the industry. Moreover, in recent y&dndividuals and groups that are non-practi@ntties, commonly referred to as “patent
trolls,” have purchased patents and other intelEdgbroperty assets for the purpose of making daifrinfringement in order to extract
settlements. From time to time, we may receiveateming letters or notices or may be the subjectaims that our services and/or platform
and underlying technology infringe or violate théeilectual property rights of others. For exampkedescribed further under “ltem 3—Legal
Proceedings,” on September 23, 2014, InsideSalesloe. sent us a communication alleging, amongiathings, that an email tracking
feature in our Sidekick product infringes upon aieriof InsideSales.com’s
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patents. Responding to the InsideSales.com claiother such claims, regardless of their merit, lmatime consuming, costly to defend in
litigation, divert management’s attention and reses, damage our reputation and brand and causdnwur significant expenses. Our
technologies may not be able to withstand any tpary claims or rights against their use. Clairhstellectual property infringement might
require us to redesign our application, delay sdsaenter into costly settlement or license agee¢sror pay costly damage awards, or face a
temporary or permanent injunction prohibiting usnfrmarketing or selling our platform. If we canootdo not license the infringed technolc
on reasonable terms or at all, or substitute simglehnology from another source, our revenue aadating results could be adversely
impacted. Additionally, our customers may not passhour inbound platform if they are concerned i@y may infringe third-party
intellectual property rights. The occurrence of ahyhese events may have a material adverse @ffegtir business.

In our subscription agreements with our customeesgenerally do not agree to indemnify our cust@nagpainst any losses or costs
incurred in connection with claims by a third paatieging that a customer’s use of our servicggaiform infringes the intellectual property
rights of the third party. There can be no asswahowever, that customers will not assert a comiaarindemnity claim or that any existing
limitations of liability provisions in our contrastvould be enforceable or adequate, or would ofiserprotect us from any such liabilities or
damages with respect to any particular claim. @Qstamers who are accused of intellectual propeftjnigement may in the future seek
indemnification from us under common law or otheggdl theories. If such claims are successful, eeifare required to indemnify or defend
our customers from these or other claims, theséensatould be disruptive to our business and manageand have a material adverse effect
on our business, operating results and financiadlition.

If we fail to adequately protect our proprietaryghts, in the United States and abroad, our compegitposition could be impaired and v
may lose valuable assets, experience reduced resemd incur costly litigation to protect our rights

Our success is dependent, in part, upon proteotingroprietary technology. We rely on a combinatd copyrights, trademarks, serv
marks, trade secret laws and contractual restnistio establish and protect our proprietary righisur products and services. However, the
steps we take to protect our intellectual properay be inadequate. We will not be able to protectiatellectual property if we are unable to
enforce our rights or if we do not detect unauttextiuse of our intellectual property. Any of owdemarks or other intellectual property rights
may be challenged by others or invalidated throagyinistrative process or litigation. Furthermdegial standards relating to the validity,
enforceability and scope of protection of intelleddtproperty rights are uncertain. Despite our auéions, it may be possible for unauthorized
third parties to copy our technology and use infation that we regard as proprietary to create prtsdand services that compete with ours.
Some license provisions protecting against unaizédmse, copying, transfer and disclosure of di@rings may be unenforceable under the
laws of certain jurisdictions and foreign countrigsaddition, the laws of some countries do notguat proprietary rights to the same extent as
the laws of the United States. To the extent waespur international activities, our exposureriauthorized copying and use of our
technology and proprietary information may increase

We enter into confidentiality and invention assigmmhagreements with our employees and consultadtgmter into confidentiality
agreements with the parties with whom we haveegjiatrelationships and business alliances. No assarcan be given that these agreement:
will be effective in controlling access to and distition of our products and proprietary informatid-urther, these agreements may not prevel
our competitors from independently developing tedbgies that are substantially equivalent or suguetd our platform and offerings.

We may be required to spend significant resoureesdnitor and protect our intellectual propertyhtigy Litigation may be necessary in
the future to enforce our intellectual propertyhtigyand to protect our trade secrets. Such libgatbuld be costly, time consuming and
distracting to management and could result intiygairment or loss of portions of our intellectuedyperty. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce
our intellectual
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property rights may be met with defenses, courdaérd and countersuits attacking the validity anideeability of our intellectual property
rights. Our inability to protect our proprietarychmology against unauthorized copying or use, dsageny costly litigation, could delay
further sales or the implementation of our platf@na offerings, impair the functionality of our fftam and offerings, delay introductions of
new features or enhancements, result in our subisgtinferior or more costly technologies into qlatform and offerings, or injure our
reputation.

Our use of “open source” software could negativelffect our ability to offer our platform and subjeais to possible litigation.

A substantial portion of our cloud-based platforrodrporates so-called “open source” software, aadnay incorporate additional open
source software in the future. Open source softigagenerally freely accessible, usable and mdal#iaCertain open source licenses may, in
certain circumstances, require us to offer the aomepts of our platform that incorporate the opame® software for no cost, that we make
available source code for modifications or deriwativorks we create based upon, incorporating orguie open source software and that we
license such modifications or derivative works uritie terms of the particular open source licetissn author or other third party that
distributes open source software we use were égalthat we had not complied with the conditionered or more of these licenses, we could
be required to incur significant legal expensegnéiing against such allegations and could be sutgjesignificant damages, including being
enjoined from the offering of the components of platform that contained the open source softwaceleeing required to comply with the
foregoing conditions, which could disrupt our alilio offer the affected software. We could alsashbbject to suits by parties claiming
ownership of what we believe to be open sourcevsoé. Litigation could be costly for us to defehdye a negative effect on our operating
results and financial condition and require useweale additional research and development resotwaggange our products.

Risks Related to Government Regulation and Taxation

We could face liability, or our reputation might blearmed, as a result of the activities of our custers, the content of their websites or the
data they store on our servers.

As a provider of a cloud-based inbound marketindj sales software platform, we may be subject tema! liability for the activities of
our customers on or in connection with the datg gtere on our servers. Although our customer tesmsse prohibit illegal use of our servic
by our customers and permit us to take down websitéake other appropriate actions for illegal, gsstomers may nonetheless engage in
prohibited activities or upload or store contenthwis in violation of applicable law or the custate@wn policies, which could subject us to
liability or harm our reputation.

Several U.S. federal statutes may apply to us mespect to various customer activities:

» The Digital Millennium Copyright Act of 1998y @ MCA, provides recourse for owners of copyrightedterial who believe that
their rights under U.S. copyright law have beenimgfed on the Internet. Under the DMCA, based oncourent business activity
an Internet service provider that does not ownooitrol website content posted by our customersgeveerally are not liable for
infringing content posted by our customers or oth&d parties, provided that we follow the procestufor handling copyright
infringement claims set forth in the DMCA. Geneyalf we receive a proper notice from, or on behaifa copyright owner
alleging infringement of copyrighted material laditon websites we host, and we fail to expeditiotesinove or disable access to
the allegedly infringing material or otherwise failmeet the requirements of the safe harbor peaviy the DMCA, the copyright
owner may seek to impose liability on us. Techniatakes in complying with the detailed DMCA tadtewn procedures could
subject us to liability for copyright infringemet

e The Communications Decency Act of 1996, or CDA,agally protects online service providers, suchgsnom liability for certair
activities of their customers, such as the postindefamatory o
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obscene content, unless the online service proigdearticipating in the unlawful conduct. Undee tBDA, we are generally not
responsible for the customer-created content hastezlir servers. Consequently, we do not monitstdtbwebsites or prescreen
the content placed by our customers on their ditesiever, the CDA does not apply in foreign jurittins and we may nonethel
be brought into disputes between our customershardiparties which would require us to devote nggament time and resources
to resolve such matters and any publicity from suelters could also have an adverse effect oneputation and therefore our
business

« In addition to the CDA, the Securing the Pratetof our Enduring and Established Constitutiddatitage Act, or the SPEECH
Act, provides a statutory exception to the enforeehiby a U.S. court of a foreign judgment for dedigion under certain
circumstances. Generally, the exception appliseifdefamation law applied in the foreign court dad provide at least as much
protection for freedom of speech and press as woeilprovided by the First Amendment of the U.S. itution or by the
constitution and law of the state in which the W&urt is located, or if no finding of defamatiolowd be supported under the First
Amendment of the U.S. Constitution or under thestitution and law of the state in which the U.Surtas located. Although the
SPEECH Act may protect us from the enforcemenb#ign judgments in the United States, it doesaffetct the enforceability of
the judgment in the foreign country that issuedjtitgment. Given our international presence, we thayefore, nonetheless, have
to defend against or comply with any foreign judgitsemade against us, which could take up substansinagement time and
resources and damage our reputai

Although these statutes and case law in the Urgitates have generally shielded us from liabilitydastomer activities to date, court
rulings in pending or future litigation may narrdle scope of protection afforded us under thess.lawaddition, laws governing these
activities are unsettled in many internationalgdittions, or may prove difficult or impossible ios to comply with in some international
jurisdictions. Also, notwithstanding the exculpattanguage of these bodies of law, we may becow@vad in complaints and lawsu
which, even if ultimately resolved in our favordacbst to our doing business and may divert managémtime and attention. Finally, other
existing bodies of law, including the criminal laakvarious states, may be deemed to apply or mwatutes or regulations may be adopted in
the future, any of which could expose us to furtfadyility and increase our costs of doing business

We may be subject to additional obligations to esll and remit sales tax and other taxes, and we fnayubject to tax liability for past sale
which could harm our business.

State, local and foreign jurisdictions have diffigrrules and regulations governing sales, usegwadided and other taxes, and these rule
and regulations are subject to varying interpretetithat may change over time. In particular, fhgieability of such taxes to our inbound
platform in various jurisdictions is unclear. Fuaththese jurisdictionsules regarding tax nexus are complex and varyifsigntly. As a result
we could face the possibility of tax assessmentissardlits, and our liability for these taxes andasged penalties could exceed our original
estimates. A successful assertion that we shoutmblbecting additional sales, use, value addedlmeraaxes in those jurisdictions where we
have not historically done so and do not accrustich taxes could result in substantial tax liéibgiand related penalties for past sales,
discourage customers from purchasing our applicaiicotherwise harm our business and operatindtsesu

Changes in tax laws or regulations that are appliadversely to us or our customers could increase tlosts of our inbound platform and
adversely impact our business.

New income, sales, use or other tax laws, statuiéss, regulations or ordinances could be enaateay time. Any new taxes could
adversely affect our domestic and internationalr®ss operations, and our business and financitdnpeance. Further, existing tax laws,
statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances coulidteepreted, changed, modified or applied advgrsels. These events could require us or oL
customers to pay additional tax amounts on a paiseor retroactive basis, as well as requirerusun customers to pay fines

33



Table of Contents

and/or penalties and interest for past amounts ddembe due. If we raise our prices to offsetdb&ts of these changes, existing and potentie
future customers may elect not to continue or pasetour inbound platform in the future. Additiogatiew, changed, modified or newly
interpreted or applied tax laws could increasecmstomers’ and our compliance, operating and atbsts, as well as the costs of our platform
Any or all of these events could adversely impagthusiness and financial performance.

We are a multinational organization faced with ineasingly complex tax issues in many jurisdictiomsd we could be obligated to pay
additional taxes in various jurisdictions.

As a multinational organization, we may be subjedaxation in several jurisdictions around the iavith increasingly complex tax
laws, the application of which can be uncertaine @mount of taxes we pay in these jurisdictiondcccrease substantially as a result of
changes in the applicable tax principles, includingeased tax rates, new tax laws or revisedpnégations of existing tax laws and preced:
which could have a material adverse effect on iguidity and operating results. In addition, theéhauities in these jurisdictions could review
our tax returns and impose additional tax, inteaest penalties, and the authorities could claimhaous withholding requirements apply to
us or our subsidiaries or assert that benefitaxofreaties are not available to us or our subsetiaany of which could have a material impact
on us and the results of our operations.

Failure to comply with laws and regulations couldahm our business.

Our business is subject to regulation by varioderfel, state, local and foreign governmental ageméncluding agencies responsible for
monitoring and enforcing employment and labor lawstkplace safety, environmental laws, consumeteaton laws, anti-bribery laws,
import/export controls, federal securities laws &ndlaws and regulations. In certain jurisdictioi®&se regulatory requirements may be more
stringent than those in the United States. Nonciampé with applicable regulations or requiremeitsid subject us to investigations,
sanctions, mandatory recalls, enforcement actitisgorgement of profits, fines, damages, civil arichinal penalties or injunctions.

We may not be able to utilize a significant portiaf our net operating loss carryforwards, which clouadversely affect our profitability.

As of December 31, 2014, we had federal and sttteperating loss carryforwards due to prior petasses, which, if not utilized, will
begin to expire in 2027 for federal purposes anthX0r state purposes. These net operating losgfoarards could expire unused and be
unavailable to offset future income tax liabiliti@ghich could adversely affect our profitability &ddition, under Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, which we refes tioe Code, our ability to utilize net operatiogs carryforwards or other tax attributes,
such as research tax credits, in any taxable yagrba further limited if we experience an ownerstipnge. A Section 382 ownership change
generally occurs if one or more stockholders ougsoof stockholders who own at least 5% of ourkstocrease their ownership by more than
50 percentage points over their lowest ownershipgrgage within a rolling three-year period. Similales may apply under state tax laws.
future issuances of our stock could cause an olWigechange. It is possible that an ownership chamgennection with a future offering, or
any future ownership change, could have a mateffiatt on the use of our net operating loss carwdods or other tax attributes, which could
adversely affect our profitability.

The standards that private entities use to regultétie use of email have in the past interfered witnd may in the future interfere with, the
effectiveness of our inbound platform and our aljlito conduct business.

Our customers rely on email to communicate witlirteeisting or prospective customers. Various pgeventities attempt to regulate the
use of email for commercial solicitation. Thesete# often advocate standards of conduct or pradhiat significantly exceed current legal
requirements and classify certain email solicitagithat comply with current legal requirementsgeans Some of these entities maintain
“blacklists” of companies
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and individuals, and the websites, internet serpic&iders and internet protocol addresses assaligith those entities or individuals that do
not adhere to those standards of conduct or pesctar commercial email solicitations that the klisting entity believes are appropriate. If a
company’s internet protocol addresses are listeal bhacklisting entity, emails sent from those addes may be blocked if they are sent to an
internet domain or internet address that subsctibése blacklisting entity’s service or purchagedlacklist.

From time to time, some of our internet protocal@dses may become listed with one or more blditidientities due to the messaging
practices of our customers. There can be no gusgahat we will be able to successfully remove elues from those lists. Blacklisting of this
type could interfere with our ability to market aobound platform and services and communicate withcustomers and, because we fulfill
email delivery on behalf of our customers, couldemnmine the effectiveness of our customers’ emailketing campaigns, all of which could
have a material negative impact on our businessesdts of operations.

Existing federal, state and foreign laws regulatetérnet tracking software, the senders of commet@@aails and text messages, web:
owners and other activities, and could impact theeuof our inbound platform and potentially subjegs$ to regulatory enforcement or priva
litigation.

Certain aspects of how our customers utilize oatf@fm are subject to regulations in the UnitedetaEuropean Union and elsewhere
recent years, U.S. and European lawmakers andategsihave expressed concern over the use ofhitg-cookies or web beacons for online
behavioral advertising, and legislation adopte@mn#ly in the European Union requires informed coh$er the placement of a cookie on a
user’s device. Regulation of cookies and web besoway lead to restrictions on our activities, sastefforts to understand users’ Internet
usage. New and expanding “Do Not Track” regulatibage recently been enacted or proposed that pragecs’ right to choose whether or not
to be tracked online. These regulations seek, arntrey things, to allow end users to have greaintrol over the use of private information
collected online, to forbid the collection or udeoaline information, to demand a business to cgmyith their choice to opt out of such
collection or use, and to place limits upon theldisure of information to third party websites. $agolicies could have a significant impaci
the operation of our inbound platform and could ampur attractiveness to customers, which woulanhaur business.

Many of our customers and potential customerséntialthcare, financial services and other indestire subject to substantial
regulation regarding their collection, use and @ction of data and may be the subject of furthgulagion in the future. Accordingly, these
laws or significant new laws or regulations or apsin, or repeals of, existing laws, regulationgavernmental policy may change the way
these customers do business and may require ngpternent additional features or offer additionattcactual terms to satisfy customer and
regulatory requirements, or could cause the derfamahd sales of our inbound platform to decreaskaaversely impact our financial results.

In addition, the Controlling the Assault of Non-Bdkd Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003, a@ @AN-SPAM Act, establishes
certain requirements for commercial email messageésspecifies penalties for the transmission ofroencial email messages that are inter
to deceive the recipient as to source or contemg. FAN-SPAM Act, among other things, obligatessbader of commercial emails to provide
recipients with the ability to opt out of receivifigure commercial emails from the sender. Theitstof our customers’ message recipients to
opt out of receiving commercial emails may minimilze effectiveness of the email components of poiouind platform. In addition, certain
states and foreign jurisdictions, such as Austr@i@nada and the European Union, have enactedhavsegulate sending email, and some of
these laws are more restrictive than U.S. laws example, some foreign laws prohibit sending uc#teli email unless the recipient has
provided the sender advance consent to receiptabf email, or in other words has “opted-in” to lietey it. A requirement that recipients opt
into, or the ability of recipients to opt out oéceiving commercial emails may minimize the effestiess of our platform.

While these laws and regulations generally govemcastomers’ use of our platform, we may be suliecertain laws as a data
processor on behalf of, or as a business assaxfiatar customers. For example, laws and
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regulations governing the collection, use and dmale of personal information include, in the Udiftates, rules and regulations promulgatec
under the authority of the Federal Trade Commisgtom Health Insurance Portability and Accountapiict of 1996, the Gramm-LeadBliley
Act of 1999 and state breach notification laws, emérnationally, the Data Protection Directivetlie European Union and the Federal Data
Protection Act in Germany. If we were found to beviolation of any of these laws or regulationsassult of government enforcement or
private litigation, we could be subjected to caild criminal sanctions, including both monetargéimnd injunctive action that could force u
change our business practices, all of which codickesely affect our financial performance and digantly harm our reputation and our
business.

We are subject to governmental export controls a@mbnomic sanctions laws that could impair our abjlito compete in international
markets and subject us to liability if we are nat full compliance with applicable laws.

Our business activities are subject to variougittisins under U.S. export controls and trade aswhemic sanctions laws, including the
U.S. Commerce DepartmestExport Administration Regulations and economid tade sanctions regulations maintained by the Tr&sun
Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control. ¥ fail to comply with these laws and regulations,and certain of our employees could be
subject to civil or criminal penalties and repuiatil harm. Obtaining the necessary authorizatimehjding any required license, for a
particular transaction may be time-consuming, isguaranteed, and may result in the delay or Ibssles opportunities. Furthermore, U.S.
export control laws and economic sanctions lawsipibcertain transactions with U.S. embargoedanrc§ioned countries, governments,
persons and entities. Although we take precautiomsevent transactions with U.S. sanction targbtspossibility exists that we could
inadvertently provide our solutions to persons fviséd by U.S. sanctions. This could result in rnagaconsequences to us, including
government investigations, penalties and reputatibarm.

Risks Related to Our Operating Results and FinanciaCondition

We may experience quarterly fluctuations in our apéing results due to a number of factors, which k&s our future results difficult to
predict and could cause our operating results tdl faelow expectations or our guidanc

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuatethepast and are expected to fluctuate in thedudue to a variety of factors, many of
which are outside of our control. As a result, past results may not be indicative of our futurdqgrenance, and comparing our operating
results on a period-to-period basis may not be ingérl. In addition to the other risks describedhis Annual Report on Form 10-K, factors
that may affect our quarterly operating resultsude the following:

. changes in spending on marketing and sales softwaoir current or prospective custome

. pricing our inbound platform subscriptions effeely so that we are able to attract and retastamers without compromising our
profitability;

. attracting new customers for both our marketing sales software, increasing our existing custehuse of our platform and
providing our customers with excellent customenpsup

. customer renewal rates and the amounts for whiokeagents are renewe
. global awareness of our thought leadership anddy

. changes in the competitive dynamics of our regirikicluding consolidation among competitors astomers and the introduction of
new products or product enhanceme

. changes to the commission plans, quotas and otingpensatio-related metrics for our sales representati

. the amount and timing of payment for operagmgenses, particularly research and developmdet aad marketing expenses and
employee benefit expense
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. the amount and timing of costs associated witiuiting, training and integrating new employedsle maintaining our company
culture;

. our ability to manage our existing business faridre growth, including increases in the numbfesustomers on our platform and
the introduction and adoption of our inbound platian new markets outside of the United Sta

. unforeseen costs and expenses related to gamsion of our business, operations and infrastractncluding disruptions in our
hosting network infrastructure and privacy and dateurity;

. foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

. general economic and political conditions in ouméstic and international marke

We may not be able to accurately forecast the atramoh mix of future subscriptions, revenue and agps and, as a result, our operatin
results may fall below our estimates or the exginta of public market analysts and investors.uif evenue or operating results fall below
expectations of investors or securities analystbetow any guidance we may provide, the pricewsfammon stock could decline.

If we do not accurately predict subscription renelwates or otherwise fail to forecast our revenuearately, or if we fail to match ou
expenditures with corresponding revenue, our opémngtresults could be adversely affected.

Because our recent growth has resulted in the epdnsion of our business, we do not have a l@stgriy upon which to base forecasts
of renewal rates with customers or future operatavgnue. As a result, our operating results inrfuteporting periods may be significantly
below the expectations of the public market, equégearch analysts or investors, which could haeptice of our common stock.

Because we generally recognize revenue from sulpsicnns ratably over the term of the agreement, néamm changes in sales may not
reflected immediately in our operating results.

We offer our inbound platform primarily through amoef monthly, quarterly and single-year subscoptagreements and generally
recognize revenue ratably over the related sulismmiperiod. As a result, much of the revenue wmrein each quarter is derived from
agreements entered into during prior months, qusadeyears. In addition, we do not record defereagnue beyond amounts invoiced as a
liability on our balance sheet. A decline in newemewed subscriptions or marketing solutions agesggs in any one quarter is not likely to be
reflected immediately in our revenue results fat thuarter. Such declines, however, would negatiatfect our revenue and deferred revenue
balances in future periods, and the effect of §icamt downturns in sales and market acceptanceioplatform, and potential changes in our
rate of renewals, may not be fully reflected in oesults of operations until future periods. Oussription model also makes it difficult for us
to rapidly increase our total revenue and deferegdnue balance through additional sales in anpgeas revenue from new customers must
be recognized over the applicable subscription term

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchamgées.

We face exposure to movements in currency excheatge, which may cause our revenue and operatiultsdo differ materially from
expectations. Our operating results could be neglgtaffected depending on the amount of expensem@ated in foreign currencies,
primarily the Euro. As exchange rates vary, revenast of revenue, operating expenses and otheatipg results, when re-measured, may
differ materially from expectations. In additionyracoperating results are subject to fluctuatioouf mix of U.S. and foreign currency
denominated transactions and expenses changesfttine. Although we may apply certain strategiemitigate foreign currency risk, these
strategies might not eliminate our exposure toifprexchange rate fluctuations and would involvsts@nd risks of their own, such as ongi
management time and expertise, external costsgeiment the strategies and potential accountindi¢atons. Additionally, as we anticipate
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growing our business further outside of the Uniates, the effects of movements in currency exghaates will increase as our transaction
volume outside of the United States increases.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Our stock price may be volatile and you may be uleato sell your shares at or above the price youghased them.

The trading prices of the securities of technologmpanies, including providers of software via ¢lmud-based model, have been highly
volatile. Since shares of our common stock werd sobur initial public offering in October 2014 atprice of $25.00 per share, our stock price
has ranged from $44.34 to $25.79, through Mar@045. The market price of our common stock maytflate significantly in response to
numerous factors, many of which are beyond ourrogrincluding:

e actual or anticipated fluctuations in our rewerand other operating results, including as dtrethe addition or loss of any
number of customer:

e announcements by us or our competitors of Baamit technical innovations, acquisitions, stratqgartnerships, joint ventures or
capital commitments

« the financial projections we may provide to the lmytany changes in these projections or our failiar meet these projectior

» failure of securities analysts to initiate oaimtain coverage of us, changes in ratings and{iahestimates and the publication of
other news by any securities analysts who followammpany, or our failure to meet these estimatéseexpectations of investa

» changes in operating performance and stock enadiuations of cloud-based software or otherriettigy companies, or those in
our industry in particulal

» price and volume fluctuations in the tradingpaf common stock and in the overall stock mariketuding as a result of trends in
the economy as a whol

* new laws or regulations or new interpretatiohexisting laws or regulations applicable to ousibess or industry, including data
privacy and data securit

» lawsuits threatened or filed against
e changes in key personnel; &
« other events or factors, including changes in gdremonomic, industry and market conditions anddse
In addition, the stock markets have experienceceme price and volume fluctuations that have aff@éetnd continue to affect the market

prices of equity securities of many technology canips. Stock prices of many technology companige Ractuated in a manner unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating performance of¢hcompanies.

In the past, stockholders have instituted secsriiass action litigation following periods of matkolatility. If we were to become
involved in securities litigation, it could subjacd to substantial costs, divert resources andtteation of management from our business and
adversely affect our business.

The concentration of our capital stock ownershiptviinsiders will likely limit your ability to influence corporate matters including the
ability to influence the outcome of director electis and other matters requiring stockholder apprdva

Executive officers, directors, current five percengreater stockholders and affiliated entitiegether beneficially own 52.8% of our
common stock outstanding. As a result, these stidkins, acting together,
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continue to have significant influence over all taet that require approval by our stockholderduitiog the election of directors and approval
of significant corporate transactions. Corporat@éoammight be taken even if other stockholders ggpinem. This concentration of ownership
might also have the effect of delaying or prevamainrchange of control of our company that othetldtolders may view as beneficial.

We are an “emerging growth company” and the reducgidclosure requirements applicable to emerging wth companies may make our
common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as definetth@nJOBS Act, and we may take advantage of cegt@mptions from various
reporting requirements that are applicable to optuddlic companies that are not “emerging growth pamies” including, but not limited to, not
being required to comply with the auditor attestatiequirements of Section 404 of the SarbanesyOXi, reduced financial disclosure
obligations, reduced disclosure obligations regaydixecutive compensation in our periodic repants @aoxy statements, and exemptions f
the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisarievon executive compensation and any golden patagayments not previously
approved. As an “emerging growth company” underJB8S Act, we are permitted to delay the adoptiomesv or revised accounting
pronouncements applicable to public companies sath pronouncements are made applicable to procsianies. However, we have ele:
not to take advantage of such extended transigoiog, and as a result, we will comply with newrevised accounting standards on the
relevant dates on which adoption of such standardsjuired for non-emerging growth companies. i8ect07 of the JOBS Act provides that
our decision to not take advantage of the extetdesition period for complying with new or revisaccounting standards is irrevocable.

We may take advantage of these provisions untiikgeno longer an “emerging growth company”. We wadase to be an “emerging
growth companyupon the earliest to occur of: the last day offtbeal year in which we have more than $1.0 biliorannual revenue; the d
we qualify as a “large accelerated filer,” withiedst $700 million of equity securities held by raffiliates; the issuance, in any three-year
period, by us of more than $1.0 billion in non-certible debt securities; and the last day of thedi year ending after the fifth anniversary of
our initial public offering. If we take advantagkamy of these reduced reporting burdens in futilireys, the information that we provide our
security holders may be different than you mightfgem other public companies in which you hold igjinterests. We cannot predict if
investors will find our common stock less attraethecause we may rely on these exemptions. If #ovestors find our common stock less
attractive as a result, there may be a less attiding market for our common stock and our stadgepmay be more volatile.

We will continue to incur increased costs and dendarupon management as a result of complying witle taws and regulations affecting
public companies, particularly after we are no loagan “emerging growth company,” which could adverselyfeft our business, operating
results and financial condition.

As a public company, and particularly after we eg@sbe an “emerging growth company,” we will caot to incur significant legal,
accounting and other expenses. We are subjece tefforting requirements of the Securities Exchakmef 1934, as amended, or the
Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, erSarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Stre¢ofRe and Consumer Protection Act,
or the Dodd-Frank Act, and the rules and regulatimithe New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE. Thesgiirements have increased and will
continue to increase our legal, accounting andhfired compliance costs and have made and will noetio make some activities more time
consuming and costly. For example, we expect thdes and regulations to make it more difficult andre expensive for us to obtain director
and officer liability insurance, and we may be riegg to accept reduced policy limits and coveragmaur substantially higher costs to
maintain the same or similar coverage. As a reguttay be more difficult for us to attract andaietqualified individuals to serve on our board
of directors or as our executive officers.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other thihgs we assess the effectiveness of our intearatol over financial reporting
annually and the effectiveness of our disclosurgrots and procedures
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quarterly. In particular, beginning in 2015, Sect#D4 of the Sarbané3xley Act, or Section 404, will require us to perfosystem and proce
evaluation and testing of our internal control ofieancial reporting to allow management to refort and our independent registered public
accounting firm potentially to attest to, the effeeness of our internal control over financialogjng. We have identified certain internal
control deficiencies surrounding our systems andiof process. We have and will continue to rentedigese deficiencies by investing in our
financial systems and adding additional persorinelyding outside consultants. As an emerging gnosdmpany, we are availing ourselves of
the exemption from the requirement that our indelpehregistered public accounting firm attest ®effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting under Section 404. However,magy no longer avail ourselves of this exemptionmive cease to be an emerging growth
company. When our independent registered publiowating firm is required to undertake an assesswofeotir internal control over financial
reporting, the cost of our compliance with Secd®d will correspondingly increase. Our compliandthapplicable provisions of Section 404
will require that we incur substantial accountixgpense and expend significant management time mplkance-related issues as we
implement additional corporate governance practicescomply with reporting requirements. Moreoviewe are not able to comply with the
requirements of Section 404 applicable to us imaly manner, or if we or our independent registgyeblic accounting firm identifies
deficiencies in our internal control over finanai@porting that are deemed to be material weakse#tse market price of our stock could
decline and we could be subject to sanctions astigations by the SEC or other regulatory auttesitwhich would require additional
financial and management resources.

Furthermore, investor perceptions of our company sudfer if deficiencies are found, and this cociédise a decline in the market price
of our stock. Irrespective of compliance with Seet404, any failure of our internal control overdicial reporting could have a material
adverse effect on our stated operating resulthana our reputation. If we are unable to implentease requirements effectively or
efficiently, it could harm our operations, finarlaieporting, or financial results and could resnlan adverse opinion on our internal controls
from our independent registered public accounting.f

After we are no longer an emerging growth companyooner if we choose not to take advantage ¢éiceexemptions set forth in the
JOBS Act, we expect to incur significant expenses devote substantial management effort towardrargsaompliance with the auditor
attestation requirements of Section 404 of the &ab-Oxley Act. In that regard, we will need teehadditional accounting and financial staff
with appropriate public company experience andrieth accounting knowledge.

Our ability to raise capital in the future may bémited, and our failure to raise capital when neatleould prevent us from growing.

Our business and operations may consume resowstes than we anticipate. In the future, we mayreeaise additional funds to
invest in future growth opportunities. Additionaldncing may not be available on favorable terinat all. If adequate funds are not available
on acceptable terms, we may be unable to invdstime growth opportunities, which could seriousbrm our business and operating results.
If we incur debt, the debt holders would have sgtenior to common stockholders to make claimsusrassets, and the terms of any debt
could restrict our operations, including our akitid pay dividends on our common stock. Furthermibrge issue additional equity securities,
stockholders will experience dilution, and the reyuity securities could have rights senior to thafseur common stock. Because our decisiol
to issue securities in any future offering will @apd on market conditions and other factors beyamatontrol, we cannot predict or estimate
amount, timing or nature of our future offerings &result, our stockholders bear the risk of aturé securities offerings reducing the market
price of our common stock and diluting their instre
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A significant portion of our total outstanding shas are restricted from immediate resale but maysb#l into the market in the near future
This could cause the market price of our commondtdo drop significantly, even if our business isidg well.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our camrstock in the public market could occur at anyetiafter the expiration or waiver of
the lock-up agreements. If our stockholders selthe market perceives that our stockholders intersell, substantial amounts of our commor
stock in the public market, the market price of common stock could decline significantly.

As of December 31, 2014, we have outstanding 317/430shares of common stock. Of these shares, DJ®8hares are immediately
freely tradable, and approximately 25,680,769 aolthitl shares of common stock will be availabledale in the public market beginning on
April 8, 2015 following the expiration of lock-upgeeements. The representatives of the underwritessrelease these stockholders from their
lock-up agreements with the underwriters at angtand without notice, which would allow for earlgales of shares in the public market.

As of December 31, 2014, an aggregate of 1,857%8Bares of our common stock are reserved for fussteance under our 2014 Plan,
and 394,710 shares of our common stock are reséovéature issuance under our ESPP. Shares registender our registration statements ol
Form S-8, including the shares reserved for fuigsaance under our 2014 Plan and ESPP as desaritieglprevious sentence, are available
for sale in the public market subject to vestingiagements and exercise of options, the lgglagreements described above and the restris
of Securities Act Rule 144 in the case of our if#s.

Additionally, the holders of an aggregate of 20,2d@8 shares of our common stock have rights, stitjesome conditions, to require us
to file one or more registration statements cogtireir shares or to include their shares in regfisin statements that we may file for ourselve
or other stockholders. If we were to register thesares for resale, they could be freely sold énphblic market. If these additional shares are
sold, or if it is perceived that they will be soid,the public market, the trading price of our enan stock could decline.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents an@lBware law may delay or prevent an acquisitionoafr company.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamatimended and restated bylaws and Delaware lataiogorovisions that may have
the effect of delaying or preventing a change inted of us or changes in our management. Our astadd restated certificate of
incorporation and bylaws include provisions that:

« authorize “blank check” preferred stock, whaduld be issued by the board without stockholderegal and may contain voting,
liquidation, dividend and other rights superiootor common stock

» provide for a classified board of directors whosnmhers serve staggered tl-year terms

» specify that special meetings of our stockhaldmn be called only by our board of directors,dhairperson of the board, the chief
executive officer or the preside!

» prohibit stockholder action by written conse

» establish an advance notice procedure for stder approvals to be brought before an annuatingeef our stockholders,
including proposed nominations of persons for @ecto our board of director

e provide that our directors may be removed onlyciuse

» provide that vacancies on our board of directoay be filled only by a majority of directors thia office, even though less than a
quorum;

» specify that no stockholder is permitted to cunaulaites at any election of directo
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» authorize our board of directors to modify, alterepeal our amended and restated bylaws;

* require supermajority votes of the holders of amnmon stock to amend specified provisions of oarigr document:
These provisions, alone or together, could delgyrevent hostile takeovers and changes in controhanges in our management.

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaywae are governed by the provisions of Sectiondf@Be Delaware General
Corporation Law, which limits the ability of stoatdlders owning in excess of 15% of our outstandioting stock to merge or combine with us
in certain circumstances.

Any provision of our amended and restated certdicd incorporation or amended and restated bytawdelaware law that has the effect
of delaying or deterring a change in control cdurfdt the opportunity for our stockholders to regceia premium for their shares of our comr
stock, and could also affect the price that sormestors are willing to pay for our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. Properties

We occupy approximately 100,000 square feet oteffipace in Cambridge, Massachusetts pursuaneésa agreement that expires in
2020. We also maintain an office in Dublin, Irelaantti Sydney, Australia. We believe that our curfaaiities are suitable and adequate to
meet our current needs. We intend to add new fiasilor expand existing facilities as we add em@ésy and we believe that suitable additi
or substitute space will be available as neededttommodate any such expansion of our operations.

ITEM 3.  Legal Proceedings

On November 13, 2013, a putative class action camiplvas filed in the Middlesex County Superior @dn the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts, entitled Albert McCormack v. HubShmt The complaint alleged that we maintaineakcp of not paying overtime to our
business development representatives for all hoarked in excess of 40 hours per week. The comipéainght unpaid wages, multiple
damages, injunctive relief, attorneys’ fees ando&/e settled this matter for an immaterial amamd the complaint was dismissed on
November 3, 201<

On September 23, 2014, InsideSales.com, Inc. seatcommunication alleging, among other things, dhneemail tracking feature in our
Sidekick product infringes upon certain of InsideSaom’s patents. We are continuing to evalua@&é8ales.com’s claims, but based on the
information available to us today, we currentlyied that this threat and any potential litigatwifl not have a material adverse effect on our
business or our consolidated financial statements.

In addition, from time to time we may become invaahin legal proceedings or be subject to claimsiragiin the ordinary course of our
business. Although the results of litigation argirdls cannot be predicted with certainty, we cutydmtlieve that the final outcome of these
ordinary course matters will not have a materiafease effect on our business, operating resuitanfiial condition or cash flows. Regardles
the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impacts because of defense and settlement costssidiv@f management resources and othel
factors.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures Mine Safety Disclosure
Not Applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie
Market Information for Common Stocl

Our common stock has been listed on the New YooklSExchange under the symbol “HUBS” since Octdhe2014. Prior to that date,
there was no public trading market for our commimels Our initial public offering was priced at $26 per share on October 8, 2014. The
following table sets forth for the periods indicghtbe high and low sales prices per share of onmeon stock as reported on the New York
Stock Exchange:

High Low
Fourth Quarter (from October 9, 2014 to December2B14) $38.6( $25.7¢
First Quarter (from January 1, 2015 to March 4,5)( $44.3¢ $31.77

On March 4, 2015, the last reported sale priceuofcmmmon stock on the New York Stock Exchange $¥s34 per share. As of
December 31, 2014, we had 455 holders of recomioEommon stock. The actual number of shareholdegseater than this number of rec
holders, and includes shareholders who are beakfiginers, but whose shares are held in street hgrbeokers and other nominees. This
number of holders of record also does not inclitgeholders whose shares may be held in trustiar entities.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently anticipate thatwileretain future earnings to
fund development and growth of our business andparchase our common stock, and do not anticfpaang cash dividends in the
foreseeable future.

Performance Grapt

This performance graph shall not be deemed “swigcitnaterial” or to be “filed” with the Securitiemnd Exchange Commission for
purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or atisersubject to the liabilities under that Sectiang shall not be deemed to be incorporatec
by reference into any filing of the company under Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Seaesrict”) or the Exchange Act.
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The following graph shows a comparison from Octdhe2014 (the date our common stock commencedigaati the NYSE) through
December 31, 2014 of the cumulative total returmofar common stock, the NASDAQ Intern Index and $i&P 500 Index. Such returns are
based on historical results and are not intendetdggest future performance.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return of

HubSpot, Inc.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securit

None.

Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stoc

On October 15, 2014 the Company closed its IPO @lheb,750,000 shares of common stock were soldet@ublic, including the
underwriters’ overallotment option of 750,000 sisaécommon stock, at a price of $25.00 per sheie.Company received aggregate
proceeds of approximately $133.7 million from tR®©l, net of underwriters’ discounts and commissibaospefore deduction of offering
expenses of approximately $3.1 million. Upon thesilg of the IPO, all shares of the Company’s aniding convertible preferred stock
automatically converted into 19,529,713 sharesoaimmon stock. The Company used $18 million of the fPoceeds to pay down its then
outstanding line of credit balance.

We invested the funds received in registered maonasket funds.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer andilidted Purchasers

None.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Cpensation Plans

The following table sets forth information regamgliour equity compensation plans as of Decembe2@14:

Number of Number of
Securities Securities
to be Issued Upo Weighted- Remaining
average Available
Exercise of Exercise Price o for Future Issuance
Outstanding
Options, Outstanding Under Equity
Warrants, Options and Compensation
Plan Category and RSUs Warrants(1) Plans
Equity compensation plans approved by stockhol@grs( 5,976,55((3) $ 9.65 2,252,03(4)
Equity compensation plans not approved by stocldrs — — —
Total 5.976,55I $ 9.65 2,252,03
(1) The weighted-average exercise price is caledlaased solely on the exercise prices of theandstg options and warrants. It does not

(@)
3)

(4)

reflect the shares that will be issued upon théing®f outstanding awards of RSUs, which have xerase price

These plans consist of our 2007 Equity IncenBNan (terminated in October 2014), our 2014 S@ptkion and Incentive Plan, and our
Employee Stock Purchase Pl

This number includes 5,788,432 shares subjeatitstanding awards granted under our 2007 Eduigntive Plan, of which 4,448,103
shares were subject to outstanding options and1339 shares were subject to outstanding RSU awands174,966 shares subject to
outstanding awards granted under our 2014 Stoclo@phd Incentive Plan, of which 139,769 sharesvgebject to outstanding options
and 35,197 shares were subject to outstanding R&ldda, and 13,158 shares issuable upon the exerfoarrants

This number includes 1,857,327 shares availblsssuance under our 2014 Stock Option, and7@®shares reserved for issuance
under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The nuaflstrares available for issuance under the 201¢kSdption and Incentive Plan is
subject to increase on the first day of each figeak, as described below in the section “Empldeeefit Plans.” The number of shares
available for issuance under the Employee StockhHase Plan is subject to an annual increase tddedeon the first day of each fiscal
year, as described in the sect*Employee Benefit Plar”
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ITEM 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Dat

You should read the selected consolidated finamigitd below in conjunction with “Management’s dission and analysis of financial
condition and results of operations” and the cddatéd financial statements, related notes and ditiencial information included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selectedsmdidated financial data in this section are natnded to replace the consolidated
financial statements and are qualified in theiiretyt by the consolidated financial statements iatated notes included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The following selected consolidated statementgefations data for the years ended December 34, 2013, and 2012, and the
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb@034,and 2013, have been derived from our auditeddidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrK1@ he consolidated statements of operations faitthe year ended December 31, 2011
and the consolidated balance sheet data as of heredth, 2012 have been derived from our auditedaatated financial statements not
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Thasolidated statements of operations data for the geded December 31, 2010 and the
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb@031,and 2010 have been derived from our unaudaedolidated financial statements not
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Ousthrical results are not necessarily indicativéhefresults that may be expected in the
future.

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except per share date

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Revenue
Subscriptior $106,31¢ $ 70,81¢ $ 45,87( $ 25,70: $ 13,63¢
Professional services and otl 9,551 6,81F 5,73¢ 2,857 1,751
Total revenue 115,87¢ 77,63¢ 51,60 28,551 15,38’
Cost of revenue
Subscription (1 25,65¢ 20,28( 10,83« 5,71% 2,90:
Professional services and other 11,42¢ 8,75¢ 6,00/ 6,36¢ 4,091
Total cost of revenu 37,08( 29,03¢ 16,83¢ 12,08( 6,99/
Total gross profi 78,79¢ 48,59¢ 34,76¢ 16,47 8,39:
Operating expense
Research and development 25,63¢ 15,01¢ 10,58t 10,03 4,38
Sales and marketing ( 78,80¢ 53,15¢ 34,94¢ 24,08¢ 14,07¢
General and administrative ( 22,95¢ 14,66¢ 7,972 6,76¢ 2,50(
Total operating expens: 127,40! 82,84¢ 53,50¢ 40,88t 20,95
Loss from operation (48,609 (34,25() (18,740 (24,415 (12,569
Other income (expens
Interest incomi 46 34 26 36 3
Interest expens (322) (20 (63) (30 (12
Other expens 564 (38) (1) (2 —
Total other income (expens 28¢ (24) (38) 4 (9)
Net loss before benefit from income ta: (48,32) (34,279 (18,779 (24,41) (12,577
Income tax benefi 92 — — — —
Net loss (48,229 (34,27¢) (18,779 (24,41)) (12,579
Preferred stock accretic 331 54 81 87 12z
Deemed dividend to investa — — — 972 —
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $(48,56()  $(34,32f)  $(18,859)  $(25,47)  $(12,69¢)
Net loss per common share, basic and dilute: $ 420 $ 67) $ (40) $ (619 $ (359
Weighted average common shares used in computsig &éad diluted
net loss per common share 11,56: 5,11z 4,69¢ 4,11°F 3,601
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(1) Stocl-based compensation included in the consolidatedmstnts of operations data above was as foll

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Cost of revenue

Subscriptior $ 12¢ $ 5C $ 27 $ 16 $ 4
Professional services and otl 49¢ 211 10C 131 36
Research and developmt 6,19( 691 73¢ 2,341 10E
Sales and marketir 5,59¢ 1,19¢ 691 647 67
General and administrati 3,94¢ 1,31¢ 95€ 1,48¢ 75
Total stocl-based compensatic $16,35¢ $3,46¢ $2,51¢ $4,61¢ $287

(2) See Note 2 to our consolidated financial stateifor further details on the calculation of basid diluted net loss per share attributable
to common stockholder

As of December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance sheet Dat¢

Cash and cash equivalel $123,72: $ 12,64: $ 41,09 $13,97: $ 6,95t
Working capital, excluding deferred rever 130,88 13,80z 39,93 12,87¢ 7,831
Total asset 174,85t 50,55¢ 65,65 35,41: 14,50¢
Deferred revenu 41,30¢ 24,90¢ 16,017 8,17¢ 4,27(
Total liabilities 64,15¢ 42,51« 27,62: 17,05: 8,72¢
Total redeemable convertible preferred st — 101,29: 101,23¢ 66,06: 33,78t
Total Stockholder equity (deficit) $110,69¢ $(93,24%) $(63,209  $(47,70:)  $(28,007)
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ITEM 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should kbad in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and related ntiasappear elsewhere in this Annual Report omfr@0K. As discussed in the section tit
“Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statemértse following discussion and analysis containsafard-looking statements that invol
risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptiong ththey never materialize or prove incorrectuticause our results to differ materially fri
those expressed or implied by such forward-lookiagements. Factors that could cause or contribotsuch differences include , but are not
limited to, those identified below, and those désad in the section titled “Risk Factors” includedder Part I, Item 1A within this Annual
Report on Form 1-K.

Company Overview

We provide a cloud-based marketing and sales sidtplatform that enables businesses to delivenlound experience. An inbound
marketing and sales experience attracts, engagedadights customers by being more relevant, mefgfll, more personalized and less
interruptive than traditional marketing and sabegits. Our software platform features integratepliaations to help businesses attract visitors
to their websites, convert visitors into leadsseldéeads into customers and delight customersasdhitby become promoters of those busine
These integrated applications include social mestiarch engine optimization, blogging, website eohinanagement, marketing automation,
email, CRM, analytics and reporting.

We designed our all-in-one platform from the groumpdto enable businesses to provide an inboundriexpe to their prospects and
customers. At the core of our platform is a singl®mund database for each business that captsresstomer activity throughout the customer
lifestyle. Our platform uses our centralized inbdwatabase to empower businesses to create ma@péred interactions with customers,
such as personalized emails, personalized socidienaderts, personalized websites and targetetsdtarsales people. We provide a
comprehensive set of integrated applications orptatform, which offers businesses ease of usegpawd simplicity. We designed and built
our platform to serve a large numbers of custoroBasy size with demanding use cases.

While our platform can scale to the enterprisefoois on selling to mid-market businesses becauskelieve we have significant
competitive advantages attracting and serving th¥mefficiently reach these businesses at scabeigfir our proven inbound go-to-market
approach and more than 2,200 marketing agencyegrartvorldwide. Our platform is particularly suitedserving the needs of mid-market
business-to-business companies. These mid-marketdases seek an integrated, easy to implemergamydto use solution to reach customer
and compete with organizations that have largekeiarg and sales budgets. As of December 31, 20&84ad 13,607 customers of varying
sizes in more than 90 countries, representing dlenasy industry.

Our platform is a multi-tenant, single code-based globally available software-as-a-service, or§amoduct delivered through web
browsers or mobile applications. We sell our platf@n a subscription basis and generated reven$i2ldf.9 million in 2014, $77.6 million in
2013, and $51.6 million in 2012, representing y@ag¢-year increases of 49% in 2014 and 50% in 2@d8had net losses of $48.2 million in
2014, $34.3 million in 2013, and $18.8 million i@12, primarily due to increased investments ingromth.

We derive most of our revenue from subscriptionsupcloud-based software platform and relatedgssibnal services, which consist of
customer on-boarding and training services. Supon revenue accounted for 91.8% of our total nexeefor the year ended December 31,
2014, 91.2% of our total revenue for the year eridecember 31, 2013, and 88.9% of our total revdouthe year ended December 31, 2012.
We sell three product plans at different base prarea subscription basis, each of which includescore platform and integrated applications
to meet the needs of thevarious customers we seéustomers pay additional fees if the number otacts stored and tracked in the customer
database exceeds specified thresholds. We gerselditeonal revenue based on the purchase of additgubscriptions and applications and
number of account users, subdomains and websits.\&ibstantially all of our customers’ subscopg are one year or less in duration.

48



Table of Contents

Subscriptions are non-cancelable and are billedlirance on various schedules. Because the miXlioftierms for orders can vary from
period to period, the annualized value of the arae® enter into with our customers will not be ctetedy reflected in deferred revenue at any
single point in time. Accordingly, we do not belgthat change in deferred revenue is an accurdiesitor of future revenue for a given period
of time.

Professional services and other revenue accouate?iZ% of our total revenue in 2014, 8.8% in 2048 11.1% in 2012. Most of our
customers purchase training services which argydedito help customers enhance their ability taetttengage and delight their customers
using our platform.

Our customer base has grown from 10,111 custonéne &nd of 2013 to 13,607 customers as of DeceBihe2014, which has resulted
in rapid revenue growth. As of December 31, 20ppraximately 22% of our customers were locatedidatef the United States and these
customers generated approximately 21% of our tetanue for the year ended December 31, 2014. Wesaapour first international office in
Dublin, Ireland in January 2013, and our seconerivdtional office in Sydney, Australia in Augustl2Qas part of our geographic expansion.
We plan to further grow our international businesd expand to other geographies.

We have focused on rapidly growing our businesspdaid to continue to make investments to help uses$ some of the challenges
facing us to support this growth, such as demanddo platform by existing and new customers, sigant competition from other providers
marketing software and related applications andiregzhnological change in our industry. We beliévat the growth of our business is
dependent on many factors, including our abilitgxpand our customer base, increase adoption gflatiorm within existing customers,
develop new products and applications to extenduhetionality of our platform and provide a higtvel of customer service. We expect to
increase our investment in sales and marketingeasontinue to expand our sales teams, increasemarketing activities and grow our
international operations. We also expect to in@eas investment in research and development aoniinue to introduce new products and
applications to extend the functionality of ourtfdam. We also intend to invest in maintaining gthlevel of customer service and support
which we consider critical for our continued succéd’e plan to continue investing in our data cemastructure and services capabilities in
order to support continued future customer growik.also expect to continue to incur additional gahand administrative expenses as an
of both our growth and the infrastructure requitethe a public company. We expect to use the poscem our recent initial public offering
to fund these growth strategies and do not expdoé tprofitable in the near term.

We believe that these investments will result inreomease in our subscription revenue base andowepnent in the retention of this base.
This will result in revenue increasing faster thiaa increase in sales and marketing, researcharelabment and general and administrative
expenses. Exclusive of stock-based compensatiare asach economies of scale. With this increasedating leverage, we expect our gross
and operating margins to increase in the long tétowever, we will incur losses in the short terfrvé are unable to achieve our revenue
growth objectives, including a high rate of renesvafl our customer agreements, we may not be alaehigve profitability.

Key Business Metrics

We use the following key business metrics to evtaloar business, measure our performance, idangifids affecting our business,
formulate financial projections and make stratefgcisions. Our key business metrics may be cakdliat a manner different than similar key
business metrics used by other companies.

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Total customers 13,60" 10,11: 8,15¢
Average subscription revenue per custo $ 8,92¢ $ 7,752 $6,58(
Subscription dollar retention ra 92.1% 82.% 82./%
Customer Acquisition Cost, or CA $11,97: $11,64¢ $8,27¢
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Total Customers.We believe that our ability to increase our custobase is an indicator of our market penetratich gnowth of our
business as we continue to expand our sales fo@gest in marketing efforts. We define our tatastomers at the end of a particular perioc
as the number of business entities or individualk wne or more paid subscriptions to our markefitegform, either paid directly or through
agency partner. We do not include in total custenbeisiness entities or individuals with one or nymail subscriptions solely for our Sidekick
product. More than 300,000 individuals with a forgoaid Sidekick account used our Sidekick prodiucing December 2014. A single
customer may have separate paid subscription®fmrate websites, but we count these as one cusifoime subscriptions are managed by
same business entity or individual. For more infation about our customers, see the section ofthimial Report on Form 10-K captioned
“Business—Our Customers.”

Average Subscription Revenue per CustomekVe believe that our ability to increase the avemmgascription revenue per customer is
an indicator of our ability to grow the long-terralue of our existing customer relationships. Wergefverage subscription revenue per
customer during a particular period as subscriptaM@nue from our total customers during the pedieodled by the average total customers
during the same period. We expect our average gphbea revenue per customer to continue to inaeaser time.

Subscription Dollar Retention Rate.We believe that our ability to retain and exparalistomer relationship is an indicator of the
stability of our revenue base and the long-ternueaif our customers. We assess our performantésiatea using a metric we refer to as our
Subscription Dollar Retention Rate. We compareaiipgregate Contractual Monthly Subscription Revesfumir customer base as of the
beginning of each month, which we refer to as RaiarrBase Revenue, to the aggregate ContractuattoSubscription Revenue of the sa
group of customers at the end of that month, whiehrefer to as Retained Subscription Revenue. Wired€ontractual Monthly Subscription
Revenue as the total amount of subscription feagr@actually committed to be paid for a full monthder all of our customer agreements,
excluding any commissions owed to our partners.dé/aot include in Contractual Monthly SubscriptRavenue any subscription fees
contractually committed to be paid by businesstiestor individuals with subscriptions solely farrd&Sidekick product. Our Subscription Do
Retention Rate for a given period is calculateditsy dividing Retained Subscription Revenue bydRéibn Base Revenue for each month in
the period, calculating the weighted average afatrates using the Retention Base Revenue forreanth in the period, and then annualizing
the resulting rates.

Customer Acquisition Cost.We believe that customer acquisition cost, or C&@n indicator of the efficiency of our sales anarketing
programs in acquiring new customers. We calcul®€ ®y dividing our total sales and marketing exmsnduring a particular period,
excluding the stockased compensation includedin sales and marketipgnses, by our total new customers added durimgdame period. W
define our total new customers during a particpkriod as the number of new business entitiesdiviluals who entered into one or more
paid subscriptions to our marketing platform, eithaid directly or through an agency partner, dyitime period. We do not include in total new
customers business entities or individuals with @nmore paid subscriptions solely for our Sidekic&duct. A single new customer may have
separate paid subscriptions for separate webbit¢sye count these as one new customer if the splieas are managed by the same busine:
entity or individual.

Key Components of Consolidated Statements of Opeliahs
Revenue

We derive our revenue from two major sources, ragdrom subscriptions to our inbound platform anofgssional services and other
revenue consisting mainly of on-boarding and trairgervices fees.

Subscription based revenue is derived from custsmging our software platform for their inbound keding and sales needs. Our
software platform includes integrated applicatitiret allow businesses to manage social media, lseaigine optimization, blogging, website
content, marketing automation, email,
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analytics and reporting. Substantially all of oustomers’ subscriptions are one year or less iatour. Subscriptions are non-cancelable and
are billed in advance on various schedules. Albstiption fees that are billed in advance of serée recorded in deferred revenue.
Subscription based revenue is recognized net cfideration paid to marketing agency partners wheragency partner purchases the
subscription directly from us, as in these instammar customer is the partner and our remainingatibns are to the partner.

Professional services and other revenue are depivetirily from customer on-boarding and trainirggnvéces. The on-boarding and
training services provided to customers typicatlyalves an implementation specialist. An implemgataspecialist will typically work with
our customers to enhance their understanding oftbattract leads and convert them into custonemugh search engine optimization, socia
media, blogging and other content. Training is galhesold in connection with a customer’s initglbscription and is billed in advance. The
training is also available to be purchased sepgritowing a customes purchase of its initial subscription and our netirilg agency partne
routinely provide the same training to customers.

Cost of Revenue and Operating Expenses
Cost of Revenue

Cost of subscription revenue consists primarilynaihaged hosting providers and other third-partyisemproviders, employee-related
costs including payroll, benefits and stock-basmuigensation expense for our customer support tearortization of capitalized software
development costs and acquired technology, andaa#d overhead costs, which we define as rentitfegiand costs related to information
technology, or IT.

Cost of professional services and other revenusistsprimarily of personnel costs of our profesalsservices organization, including
salaries, benefits, bonuses and stock-based comatpmnsas well as allocated overhead costs.

We expect that cost of subscription and professiseices and other revenue will increase in aliealollars as we continue to invest in
growing our business. Over time, we expect to peinefits of scale associated with our costs ofigstur software platform relative to
subscription revenues, resulting in improved supson gross margin. We expect to continue to gateenegative gross margins related to
professional services in the near term.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist priroaplgrsonnel costs of our development team, inetugayroll, benefits and stock-
based compensation expense and allocated overbstsd \We capitalize certain software developmestscthat are attributable to developing
new products and adding incremental functionabttpdr software platform and amortize such costsoass of subscription revenue over the
estimated life of the new product or incrementalctionality, which is generally two years. We foaus research and development efforts on
improving our products and developing new onesydeghg new functionality and enhancing the customerience. We believe delivering
new functionalities for our customers is an intégeat of our solution and provides our customeith &ccess to a broad array of options and
information critical to their marketing efforts. Vspect to continue to make investments in and mXpar offerings to enhance our customers
experience and satisfaction and attract new custorifée expect research and development expengaséase in absolute dollars as we
continue to increase the functionality of our safitesplatform.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilerfgnnel costs of our sales and marketing employmsaading sales commissions and
incentives, benefits and stock-based compensatipense, marketing programs, including lead geraratiosts of our annual INBOUND
conference, and other brand building
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expenses and allocated overhead costs. We defainceales commissions related to acquiring nevioousrs and amortize them ratably over
the term of the corresponding subscription agreén8aies and marketing expenses also include cosionispaid to our marketing agency
partners when we are the primary obligor for prangdthe subscription that has been purchased.

We plan to continue to expand sales and marketiggdw our customer base and increase sales tingxeaistomers. This growth will
include adding sales personnel and expanding otkatiag activities to continue to generate addiideads and build brand awareness. We
expect sales and marketing expenses will incremserasult of hiring net new quota-carrying satggesentatives in the United States and
worldwide, adding to the marketing staff and expagaur annual INBOUND conference. Over time, wpext sales and marketing expenses
will decline as a percentage of total revenue.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist obpaed costs and related expenses for executivandm legal, human resources,
employee-related information technology, admintsteapersonnel, including payroll, benefits andc&tbased compensation expense;
professional fees for external legal, accounting atiher consulting services; and allocated overleeats. We expect that general and
administrative expenses will increase on an absalatlar basis but decrease as a percentage bfégemue as we focus on processes, systen
and controls to enable the our internal supporttions to scale with the growth of our business.alée anticipate continuing increases to
general and administrative expenses as we incurdsis of compliance associated with being a piyttiiaded company, including audit and
consulting fees.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) consists primarily of irdeexpense and foreign currency gains and lossesade historically had a minimal
amount of debt outstanding on which we pay intefBs¢ addition of our Dublin, Ireland office in 2Dand our Sydney, Australia office in
2014 has increased our exposure to foreign cumenparticularly the Euro.

Income Tax Benefit

The income tax benefit consists of current andrdefietaxes for U.S. and foreign income taxes. W lastorically had a taxable loss in
our most significant jurisdictions and full valuatiallowance against the majority of our deferaeddssets. We expect this to continue in 2
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Results of Operations
The following tables set forth certain consolidafieéncial data in dollar amounts and as a pergentd total revenue.
Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Revenue
Subscriptior $106,31¢ $ 70,81¢ $ 45,87(
Professional services and otl 9,557 6,81F 5,73¢
Total revenus 115,87t 77,63¢ 51,60/
Cost of revenue
Subscriptior 25,65¢ 20,28( 10,83¢
Professional services and otl 11,42¢ 8,75¢ 6,004
Total cost of revenu 37,08( 29,03¢ 16,83¢
Gross profit 78,79¢ 48,59¢ 34,76¢
Operating expense
Research and developm 25,63¢ 15,01¢ 10,58¢
Sales and marketir 78,80¢ 53,15¢ 34,94¢
General and administratiy 22,95¢ 14,66¢ 7,972
Total operating expens 127,40! 82,84 53,50¢
Loss from operation (48,609 (34,250) (18,740
Other income (expense
Interest incom 46 34 26
Interest expens (322) (20 (63)
Other expens 564 (38) (@)
Total other income (expens 28¢ (24) (38
Loss before benefit from income ta» (48,32) (34,279 (18,779
Income tax benef 92
Net loss $(48,229) $(34,27) $(18,779)
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Year Ended December 31

2014 2018 2012
Revenue
Subscriptior 92% 91% 89%
Professional services and otl _ 8 _ 9 1
Total revenus 10C 10C 10C
Cost of revenue
Subscriptior 22 26 21
Professional services and otl _ 10 1 12
Total cost of revenu 32 37 33
Gross profit _ 68 _ 63 _67
Operating expense
Research and developm 22 19 21
Sales and marketir 68 68 68
General and administratiy _ 20 19 _15
Total operating expens 11C 107 104
Loss from operation (42 (49 (3D
Total other income (expens _ 0 _ 0 _ 0
Loss before income taxi (42 (44) (37)
Income tax benef _ 0 _ 0 _ 0
Net loss _(42)% _(49% _(37)%
* Percentages are based on actual values. Totalsobhaym due to roundin
Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to the YeanBed December 31, 2013
Revenue
Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013 Amount %
(dollars in thousands)
Subscriptior $ 106,31 $ 70,81¢ $35,50( 50%
Professional services and otl 9,557 6,81¢ 2,74 40
Total revenus $ 115,87¢ $ 77,63 $38,24. 49%

Subscription revenue increased 50% during 2014alae increase throughout the year in total custspveéhich grew from 10,111 as of
December 31, 2013 to 13,607 as of December 31,,20fthan increase in average subscription reveaeueystomer, which grew from $7,752
in 2013 to $8,926 in 2014. The growth in total onsers was primarily driven by our increased sadpsasentative capacity to meet market
demand. The increase in average subscription reveaucustomer was driven primarily by existingtongers increasing their use of our
products, existing customers purchasing additisabkcriptions and new customers purchasing ouehigtice product plans.

The 40% increase in professional services and o#venue resulted primarily from the delivery @fiting services for subscriptions st
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Total Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margi

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013 Amount %
(dollars in thousands)
Total cost of revenu $ 37,08( $ 29,03¢ $ 8,041 28%
Gross profit 78,79t 48,59¢ 30,20: 62%
Gross margir 68% 63%

Total cost of revenue increased 28% during 201#hamily due to an increase in subscription and hgstosts, employee-related costs,
amortization of developed technology, and allocategthead expenses. The increase in gross margiprivaarily driven by improved
leverage of our hosting costs relative to growtkubscription revenue.

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013 Amount %
(dollars in thousands)
Subscription cost of revent $ 25,65¢ $ 20,28( $5,37¢ 27%
Percentage of subscription revet 24% 29%

Subscription cost of revenue increased by 27% dui4 primarily due to an increase in Subscripéind hosting costs, employee
related costs and amortization expense. Subsariptid hosting costs increased $2.4 million duedath in our customer base from 10,111
customers at December 31, 2013 to 13,607 custoem®&scember 31, 2014. Employee-related costs isete®1.6 million as a result of
increased headcount from 74 employees at Decenlh@033 to 86 employees at December 31, 2014 aontnue to grow our customer
support organization to support our customer graamithimprove service levels and offerings. Amotimaof capitalized software
development costs increased $1.3 million due tmarease in the number of developers working onsoftware platform as we continue to
develop new products.

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013 Amount %
(dollars in thousands)
Professional services and other cost of reve $ 11,42¢ $ 8,75¢ $2,66¢ 30%
Percentage of professional services and other v 12(% 12<%

Professional services and other costs increasedd8®ity 2014 primarily due to an increase in empsyelated costs. Employee-related
costs increased $1.4 million as a result of in@ddeadcount from 81 employees at December 31, 2043 employees at December 31, 201«
as we continue to grow our professional servicgamization to support our customer growth. Protessifees increased $915 thousand due t
increased use of third parties to assist with custamplementations. Allocated overhead expensgeased $337 thousand due to expansion
of our leased space and infrastructure as we agatimgrow our business and expand headcount.

Research and Development

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013 Amount %
(dollars in thousands)
Research and developme $ 25,63¢ $ 15,01¢ $10,62( 71%
Percentage of total reven 22% 19%

Research and development expenses increased 7i%¢ 8044 primarily due to increases in employeetes costs, allocated overhead
expenses and professional fees. Employee-relattd itwreased $9.9 million as a result of incredmsadicount from 110 employees at
December 31, 2013 to 132 employees at Decemb@034, as we continue to grow our engineering orgdioiz to develop new products and
continue to develop our
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existing software platform. Employee-related exjgsralso increased due to a one-time non-cash bss#d compensation expense that
occurred as a result of our initial public offerjroy IPO. Allocated overhead expenses increase@ $&fisand due to expansion of our leased
space and infrastructure as we continue to grovbasiness and expand headcount. Professionalferesased $117 thousand due to increase
use of third-party contractors for development\ditgis.

Sales and Marketing

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013 Amount %
(dollars in thousands)
Sales and marketir $ 78,80¢ $ 53,15¢ $25,65: 48%
Percentage of total reven 68% 68%

Sales and marketing expenses increased 48% duwWiyg@imarily due to increases in employee-relatests, third-party agency partner
commissions, marketing programs, and allocatedh®aat expenses. Employee-related costs increasesl idildon as a result of increased
headcount from 340 employees at December 31, 20338 employees at December 31, 2014 as we cortinesgpand our selling and
marketing organizations to grow our customer beseployee-related expenses also increased duene-tiroe non-cash stock-based
compensation expense that occurred as a resulirdP@®. Partner commissions increased $2.4 millism result of increased revenue
generated through our marketing agency partnerskédiag programs increased $2.2 million due to gtoin our annual INBOUND
conference and overall spending due to growtherbilisiness. Allocated overhead expenses incredsgdrfillion due to expanding our leased
space and infrastructure as we continue to growbosiness and expand headcount.

General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2014 Amount %
(dollars in thousands)
General and administratiy $ 22,95¢ $ 14,66¢ $8,28¢ 57%
Percentage of total reven 2% 19%

General and administrative expenses increased &iritigd2014 primarily due to increases in employelated costs, professional fees,
allocated overhead expenses, and other generaiseqeEmployee-related costs increased $6.0 makoa result of increased headcount from
63 employees at December 31, 2013 to 94 employdascamber 31, 2014 as we continue to grow oumiessi and require additional
personnel to support our expanded operations imgudfrastructure and controls required for beegngublic company. Employee-related
expenses also increased due to a one-time norstatibased compensation expense that occurredeasilaof our IPO. Professional fees
increased $623 thousand as a result of increagedf@counting, consulting and legal servicegedl#o international expansion, our
preparation to become a public company, and costsiried as a public company after our IPO. Allodateerhead expenses increased $475
thousand due to expanding our leased space amdgtinfcture. Other expenses increased $1.2 millientad increased expenses related to taxe
and insurance, and additional expenses relatedrttP®.

Other Income (Expense)

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013 Amount %
(dollars in thousands) -
Other income (expens $  28¢ $ (29 $ 31z &
* *

Percentage of total reven
* not meaningfu
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Other income (expense) includes interest incomeeapénse and the impact of foreign currency traisagains and losses. Other
income (expense) is not significant for any pepoelsented.

Income Tax Benefit

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013 Amount %
(dollars in thousands)
Income tax benefi $ 92 $ — $ 92 £
Percentage of total reven * *

* not meaningfu

Income tax benefit consists of current and defeta@ds for U.S. and foreign income taxes. Incométmefit is not significant for any
period presented.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to the YeanBed December 31, 2012

Revenue
Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars in thousands)
Subscriptior $ 70,81¢ $ 45,87( $24,94¢ 54%
Professional services and otl 6,81F 5,73¢ 1,081 19
Total revenue $ 77,63 $ 51,60/ $26,03( 50%

Subscription revenue increased 54% during 2013alae increase throughout the year in total custspveéhich grew from 8,159 as of
December 31, 2012 to 10,111 as of December 31,,20fBan increase in average subscription reveeueystomer, which grew from $6,580
in 2012 to $7,752 in 2013. The growth in total omsérs was primarily driven by our increased sadsasentative capacity to meet market
demand. The increase in average subscription reveeucustomer was driven primarily by new custenpeirchasing our higher price product
plans, existing customers increasing their usauofpooducts and existing customers purchasing iaddit subscriptions.

The 19% increase in professional services and o#ivenue resulted primarily from the delivery @iiing services for subscriptions st

Total Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margi

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 Amount Y%
(dollars in thousands)
Total cost of revenu $ 29,03¢ $ 16,83¢ $12,20: 72%
Gross profit 48,59¢ 34,76¢ 13,82¢ 40%
Gross margir 63% 67%

Total cost of revenue increased 72% during 20134mily due to an increase in subscription and hgstosts, employee-related costs,
amortization of developed and acquired technologyallocated overhead expenses. The decreasess grargin was primarily driven by our
increased investment in subscription and hostinges as well as the amortization of developedaaglired technologies and allocated
overhead expenses.
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Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 Amount Y%
(dollars in thousands)
Subscription cost of reveni $ 20,28( $ 10,83¢ $9,44¢ 87%
Percentage of subscription revet 2% 24%

Subscription and hosting costs increased $5.4anilliue to growth in our customer base from 8,15%auers at December 31, 2012 to
10,111 customers at December 31, 2013 along wgthemnicosts associated with maintaining multipletingsplatforms while we migrated to a
new version of our software. Employee-related cimsteased $2.1 million as a result of increasextibeunt from 28 employees at
December 31, 2012 to 74 employees at Decembel03B, & we continue to grow our customer suppodroegtion to support our customer
growth and improve service levels and offerings.oftimation of capitalized software development sastreased $1.1 million due to
continued development of our software platformogéted overhead expenses increased $0.8 milliomapiy due to increased rent expense
and depreciation of capital equipment as we coetiowgrow our business and expand headcount assdisd above.

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 Amount %_
(dollars in thousands)
Professional services and other cost of revt $ 8,75¢ $ 6,00¢ $2,75¢ 46%
Percentage of professional services and other v 12<% 105%

Professional services and other costs increaseddiitg 2013 primarily due to an increase in empkyelated costs. Employee-related
costs increased $2.0 million as a result of in@ddsadcount from 53 employees at December 31, 2082 employees at December 31, 201:
as we continue to grow our professional servicgamization to support our customer growth and imergervice levels and offerings.
Allocated overhead expenses increased $0.7 miplionarily due to increased rent expense and degiieniof capital equipment as we
continue to grow our business and expand headesudiscussed above.

Research and Development

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars in thousands)
Research and developm $ 15,01¢ $ 10,58¢ $4,43¢ 42%
Percentage of total reven 1% 21%

Research and development expenses increased 423 8043 primarily due to increases in employeetesl costs and allocated overhead
costs. Employee-related costs increased $3.6 midi®a result of increased headcount of 74 empdogeBecember 31, 2012 compared to 11(
employees at December 31, 2013 as we continuete gur engineering organization to develop new potsland continue to develop our
existing software platform. Allocated overhead sastreased $0.8 million primarily due to increasemt expense and depreciation of capital
equipment as we continue to grow our business apanel headcount as discussed above.

Sales and Marketing

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 Amount Y%
(dollars in thousands)
Sales and marketir $ 53,15¢ $ 34,94¢ $18,20¢ 52%
Percentage of total reven 68% 68%
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Sales and marketing expenses increased 52% duwiRy@imarily due to increases in employee-relatests, third-party agency partner
commissions and allocated overhead costs. Emplmjated costs increased $13.7 million as a resuttcoeased headcount from 231
employees at December 31, 2012 to 340 employdasaamber 31, 2013 as we continue to expand oumgelhd marketing organizations to

grow our customer base. Partner commissions inede®.2 million as a result of increased revenueegged through our marketing agency
partners.

General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 Amount Y
(dollars in thousands)
General and administratiy $ 14,66¢ $ 7,972 $6,697 84%
Percentage of total reven 19% 15%

General and administrative expenses increased 8#itgd?013 primarily due to increases in employeleted costs and professional
fees. Employee-related costs increased $5.4 mifioa result of increased headcount from 43 empfogeDecember 31, 2012 to 63
employees at December 31, 2013 as we continuete gur business and require additional personnglipport our expanded operations.

Professional fees increased $1.3 million a reduduo preparatory and audit work associated withpmtential initial public offering and to
support our international expansion activities.

Other Income (Expense)

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 Amount %
(dollars in thousands)
Other income (expens $ (29 $ (39 $ 14 [
Percentage of total reven * *

* not meaningfu

Other income (expense) includes interest incomeeapéense and the impact of foreign currency tramsagains and losses. Other
income (expense) is not significant for any pepoelsented.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our principal sources of liquidity are cash andhcaguivalents, net accounts receivable and ouitdeaility. In connection with our IPC

we received aggregate net proceeds of $130.8 milRoior to our IPO, we funded our operations primahrough issuances of convertible
preferred stock, debt and proceeds from the exas@foptions.
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The following table shows cash and cash equivalevdsking capital, net cash and cash equivalergs s operating activities, net cash
and cash equivalents used in investing activitieg, net cash and cash equivalents provided bydingractivities for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalel $123,72: $ 12,64: $41,09:
Working capital 90,08: (10,859 24,21¢
Net cash and cash equivalents used in operatingtisst (12,469 (29,809 (5,807
Net cash and cash equivalents used in investirgtaes (10,480 (9,170 (2,399
Net cash and cash equivalents provided by finanaatigities 134,43 514 35,33t

Our cash and cash equivalents at December 31,\8844held for working capital purposes. We belieueworking capital is sufficient 1
support our operations for at least the next 12thmorAt December 31, 2014, $2.9 million of our casld cash equivalents was held in accc
outside the United States. These funds would besutp U.S. federal taxation if repatriated, wétich tax liability partially offset by foreign
tax credits. Any potential tax impact of repatrgtithese funds would be immaterial to the finansiatements. We do not intend to repatriate
these funds.

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Used in Operatingidities

Net cash and cash equivalents used in operatingtigst consists primarily of net loss adjusted ¢ertain non-cash items, including
stock-based compensation, depreciation and amtiotizand other non-cash charges, net. We expectviaavill continue to use cash in
operating activities in 2015 as we continue to gt and grow our business.

Net cash and cash equivalents used in operatingtieast during the year ended December 31, 201z aniy reflected our net loss of
$48.2 million, offset by non-cash expenses thadtished $5.7 million of depreciation and amortizafi®6.4 million in stock-based
compensation, $0.6 million of provision for doubthecounts, $0.3 million of non-cash rent expeasel, $0.2 million on non-cash income
related to unrealized foreign currency gains. Whagktapital sources of cash and cash equivaleniigied a $17.1 million increase in deferred
revenue primarily resulting from the growth in tmember of customers invoiced during the period] & $nillion increase in deferred rent
associated with reimbursements by our landlorddasehold improvements, and a $4.7 million incréasecrued expenses as a result of
increased expense related to overall growth ottmepany. These sources of cash and cash equivaleresoffset by a $7.9 million increase
accounts receivable as a result of increased @dlto customers consistent with the overall grooftthe business, and a $2.0 million decrease
in deferred commissions expense.

Net cash used in operating activities during 20d®arily reflected our net loss of $34.3 milliorffaet by non-cash expenses that
included $4.5 million of depreciation and amortiaat $3.5 million in stock-based compensation, $filion of provision for doubtful
accounts and $0.9 million of non-cash rent expeWaeking capital sources of cash included an $8IBom increase in deferred revenue
primarily resulting from the growth in the numbércastomers invoiced during the period and a $4lBom increase in accrued expenses as a
result of a higher level of expenses consistertt tie overall growth of the business. These sowteash were offset by a $2.5 million
decrease in accounts receivable as a result afased billings to customers consistent with theallgrowth of the business, a $3.4 million
decrease in prepaid expenses and other asseting&am a prepayment to one of our third partgting service providers, a $1.2 million
decrease in accounts payable resulting from pagign our accounts payable after year-end, andzarfillion
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decrease in deferred commission expense due ased commission costs consistent with the ovgrallth of the business. The change in
net cash used in operating activities from 2012003 is primarily due to increases in paymentefaployee payroll as we continued to invest
in and grow our business.

Net cash used in operating activities during 20d@arily reflected our net loss of $18.8 milliorffaet by non-cash expenses that
included $2.7 million of depreciation and amortiaat $2.5 million in stock-based compensation, $filion of provision for doubtful
accounts and $0.1 million of interest expense. Wgrkapital sources of cash included a $7.8 milirmrease in deferred revenue due to the
growth in the number of customers invoiced durimg period, a $2.1 million increase in accrued egpsmesulting from a higher level of
expenses consistent with the overall growth ofithginess and a $1.2 million increase in accountalya as a result of paying down
incremental payables after year-end. These soofaesh were partially offset by a $3.1 million degse in accounts receivable as a result of
increased billings to customers consistent witharerall growth of the business. Net cash usegerating activities decreased from 2011
compared to 2012 because we sold more subscriptithsipfront payment terms and did not increaselmadcount during the first half of
2012 at the same rate as we did in 2011.

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Used in Investing idities

Our investing activities have consisted primarifypmoperty and equipment purchases for computetedlequipment and capitalization
of software development costs. Capitalized softvagneslopment costs are related to new productmpravements to our existing software
platform that expands the functionality for our ttusers. As our business grows, we expect that Wesaritinue to invest in the expansion of,
and improvements to, our leased spaces, both dmalgsaind internationally.

Net cash and cash equivalents used in investingtaes during the year ended December 31, 2014%48s5 million. This consisted
primarily of $7.3 million of purchased property amguipment and $4.6 million of capitalized softweevelopment costs, offset by $1.5 mill
of cash released from restrictions associated thiHease of our headquarters. In the year endedrBlger 31, 2014 we continued to invest in
improvements to our leased spaces.

Net cash used in investing activities during 20E3%9.2 million. This consisted primarily of $4.4lion of purchased property and
equipment and $3.4 million of capitalized softwdexelopment costs. In 2013, we expanded our opesatind the leased space of our
headquarters in Cambridge, Massachusetts, andnakssted in improvements to the leased space.ditiad, we were required to restrict a
portion of our cash balance as a security deposthe additional leased space.

Net cash used in investing activities during 2082 2.4 million. This consisted primarily of $0.8limn to purchase property and
equipment and $2.3 million of capitalized softwdexvelopment costs.

Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Provided by Financifgtivities
Our primary financing activities have consistedrmiily of our IPO, issuances of convertible preddrstock, draw-downs and a
repayment on our line of credit, and proceeds ftloenexercise of options.

For the year ended December 31, 2014 cash ancegashalents provided by financing activities cotesisprimarily of $130.8 million of
net proceeds received from our IPO, $3.8 milliamfroption exercises, and $18.0 million of draw-devand offsetting repayments under our
line of credit.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, cash prowigléidancing activities consisted primarily of &Gnillion of proceeds received frc
option exercises and was offset by $0.1 millionduserepay capital leases.
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For the year ended December 31, 2012, cash prowigléidancing activities was $35.3 million, consigt primarily of $35.1 million of
net proceeds received from the issuance of Sereférred stock and $0.7 million of proceeds nes@ifrom option exercises, and was offset
by $0.4 million used to repay long-term debt andL$8illion used to repay capital leases.

During the year ended December 31, 2014 we incteasecredit facility to a total of $35.0 milliomd extended the term we could
borrow through March 2016.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of fisdgoindition and results of operations is basedwrconsolidated financial
statements which have been prepared in accordaitit@aezounting principles generally accepted intimited States of America. In preparing
our financial statements, we make estimates, assamspand judgments that can have a significantithpn our reported revenues, results of
operations and net income or loss, as well as @ewdlue of certain assets and liabilities on olarze sheet during and as of the reporting
periods. These estimates, assumptions and judgraentecessary because future events and thaitseéfie our results and the value of our
assets cannot be determined with certainty, anchade based on our historical experience and ar agsumptions that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. These estimaieshange as new events occur or additionalrimdtion is obtained, and we may
periodically be faced with uncertainties, the ouates of which are not within our control and may netknown for a prolonged period of time.
Because the use of estimates is inherent in tla@dial reporting process, actual results couldedififom those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

We primarily generate revenue from multiple elemammangements, which typically include subscripiom our online software solution
and on-boarding and training services. Our custerdemot have the right to take possession of mtiaesoftware solution. Revenue from
subscriptions, including additional fees for itesugh as incremental contacts, is recognized rataldy the subscription period beginning on
the date the subscription is made available tooousts. Substantially all subscription contractsaare year or less. We recognize revenue fror
on-boarding and training services as the servimpmvided. Amounts billed that have not yet nhetapplicable revenue recognition criteria
are recorded as deferred revenue.

As part of accounting for multiple element arrangets, we must assess if each component has valastamdalone basis and should be
treated as a separate unit of accounting. Thexe is-depth process that we undergo to determmsttindalone value for each component
where we determine if an individual component cdwddsold by itself or if the component is sold blyaw third parties. If the component has
standalone value upon delivery, we account for eachponent separately. Subscription services havelalone value as they are often sold
separate from all other services. On-boarding eaidihg services also have standalone value asateegold separately by us and by third
parties.

We allocate total arrangement fees to each elemeninultiple element arrangement based on théivelaelling price hierarchy of each
element. We are not able to establish verspaeific objective evidence, or VSOE, the mosti#é level of allocating standalone value, for
subscription and on-boarding and training servimsause of our pricing practices. We note thatitharty evidence, or TPE, the second most
reliable level of allocating standalone value, @ appropriate for determining the standalone viduany of our services because the pricing
for any similar third party subscription or on-bdiag and training services is inconsistent. Thaesfae rely on best estimate of selling price,
or BESP, to allocate value to the various companehbur arrangements.

To determine BESP, we consider the median actled gaice of each type of subscription andbaarding and training services. We tt
establish a reasonable range around the mediangrtgpically plus or minus 20% of the median isgjlprice. For any transactions where a
deliverable falls outside of this range, we reatecarrangement consideration amongst the delilesraising their respective median selling
prices.
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We pay our marketing agency partners a commissicth@ subscription sales price for sales to custenide classification of the
commission paid on our consolidated statementgefations depends on who is purchasing our suliigeripn instances where the customer
is purchasing the subscription, we are the prinadatigor and record the commission paid to the aggractner as sales and marketing expenst
When the agency partner purchases the subscrigitiectly from us, we net the consideration paithi® partner against the associated revenu
we recognize, as in these instances our custontiee igartner and our remaining obligations ardéogartner. We also do not believe we
receive a tangible benefit from the payment badkéopartner.

If our judgments change we would not expect tossa®terial effect on our consolidated financiatesteents.

Capitalized Software Development Costs

Software development costs consist of certain glbgnal stock compensation costs incurred to devilaptionality for our software
platform, as well as certain upgrades and enhanusntigat are expected to result in enhanced fumality. We capitalize certain software
development costs for new offerings as well as aggs to our existing software platform. We amortimse development costs over the
estimated useful life of two years on a straighélbasis. We believe there are two key estimatésnithe capitalized software balance, which
are the determination of the useful life of thetsafe and the determination of the amounts to péal&zed.

We determined that a two year life is appropriatedur internal-use software based on our besnasti of the useful life of the internally
developed software after considering factors ssctoatinuous developments in the technology, olselece and anticipated life of the service
offering before significant upgrades. Based ongior experience, internally generated softwaré geherally remain in use for a minimum of
two years before being significantly replaced odified to keep up with evolving customer needs. M/hie do not anticipate any significant
changes to this two year estimate, a change iresftimate could produce a material impact on aarftial statements. For example, if we
received information that indicated the useful éfaall internally developed software was one ydiner than two, our capitalized software
balance would decrease by approximately 50% an@martization expense would increase by 50% iryda of adoption of the change in
estimate.

We determine the amount of internal software ctustse capitalized based on the amount of time dpgour developers on projects.
Costs associated with building or significantly anbing our software platform are capitalized, whibsts associated with planning new
developments and maintaining our software platfarmexpensed as incurred. There is judgment inddlvestimating the stage of
development as well as estimating time allocateal particular project. A significant change in tmee spent on each project could have a
material impact on the amount capitalized and eelaimortization expense in subsequent periods.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense for option awaasisd on the fair value of the award and on &btréine basis over the vesting
period of the award based on the estimated podiidhe award that is expected to vest.

Inherent in the valuation and recording of stbeased compensation for option awards, there aeraesstimates that we make, includ
in regard to valuation and expense that will baesined. We apply estimated forfeiture rates to tvards based on analyses of historical data,
including termination patterns, employee positiad ather factors. This is done to record the expeves expect to actually incur for employ:
that provide the required service time.

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model tasuee the fair value of our option awards when #reygranted. Prior to our IPO, we
estimated the value of common stock at the gratet\@dh the help of an
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independent third party service provider. See “dgtbn of Common Stock” below for further discussafrthe valuation process. For stock
options and RSUs granted subsequent to our IPChaand of directors determined the fair value basethe closing price of our common
stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchangiemnlate of grant. We used the daily historicdtility of companies we consider to be
our peers. To determine our peer companies, wethsedllowing criteria: software or software-aservice companies; similar histories and
relatively comparable financial leverage; suffitgipablic company trading history; and in similasmesses and geographical markets. We
the peers’ stock price volatility over the expediézlof our granted options to calculate the expdosolatility. The expected term of employee
option awards is determined using the average mtpetween vesting and the contractual term fastamding awards, or the simplified
method, because we do not yet have a sufficietdrlyi®f option exercises. We consider this appidpras we plan to see significant changt
our equity structure in the future and there iotieer method that would be more indicative of elseractivity. The risk-free interest rate is
based on the rate on U.S. Treasury securitiesméturities consistent with the estimated expecten bf the awards. We have not paid
dividends and do not anticipate paying a cash divibin the foreseeable future and, accordingly amsexpected dividend yield of zero.

The following table summarizes the assumptionsgratinan fair value of our common stock, relatingtw stock options granted in the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and :

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Dividend yield — — —
Expected volatility 44.8-50.% 46.6-54.1% 48-51%
Risk-free interest rat 1.75-2.67% 0.82-1.86% 0.5€-1.22%
Expected term (in year 5.C-6.5 4.€6-6.5 3.5-6.5

In addition to the assumptions used in the BlacheBts option-pricing model, we must also estimdi@riiture rate to calculate the
stock-based compensation expense for our awarado@eiture rate is based on an analysis of otmadorfeitures. We will continue to
evaluate the appropriateness of the forfeiturelated on actual forfeiture experience, analysengsloyee turnover and other factors. Cha
in the estimated forfeiture rate can have a sigaifi impact on our stock-based compensation exmengdes cumulative effect of adjusting the
rate is recognized in the period the forfeituréneate is changed. If a revised forfeiture rateighbr than the previously estimated forfeiture
rate, an adjustment is made that will result ireerdase to the stock-based compensation expermmieed in our financial statements. If a
revised forfeiture rate is lower than the previguedtimated forfeiture rate, an adjustment is ntadewill result in an increase to the share-
based compensation expense recognized in our fadastatements.

We will continue to use judgment in evaluating &xpected volatility, expected term and forfeituaterutilized in our stock-based
compensation expense calculations on a prospdadisis. As we continue to accumulate additional delteded to our common stock, we may
refine our estimates of expected volatility, expedderm and forfeiture rates, which could materiatipact our future stock-based
compensation expense.

During 2013 and 2014, we granted 1.5 million RSidsertain directors, executives and key employ@es.stock-based compensation
expense for RSUs is estimated at the grant dasgl@sthe fair value of our common stock. The R8&#s upon the satisfaction of both a
service condition and a performance condition. §éwice condition for a majority of the RSUs issf&d over a period of four years. The
performance condition will be satisfied on the iearbf (i) a sale of our company or (ii) the ddtattis six months following our initial public
offering, in either case, prior to the earlier AJ (he expiration date or (B) the tenth anniversairthe grant date.

In the year ended December 31, 2013, no stock-bamagensation expense had been recognized for R&tdsise a qualifying event for
the awards’ vesting was not probable. In the fogctarter of 2014, the quarter in which our IPO wasipleted, we began recording stock-
based compensation expense based on the grant-date
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fair value of the RSUs, using the acceleratedmition method for RSUs granted prior to our IPO asithg the straight-line method for RSUs
granted following our IPO, in each case, net ofhested forfeitures. The stock compensation expasseciated with RSUs where the service
condition had been met prior to the IPO was alsogaized on the date of the IPO, using the acdel@rattribution method.

The following table estimates future stock-basempensation expense related to all outstanding yequitirds, net of estimated
forfeitures. The table does not take into accougtsiock-based compensation expense related tefatards that may be granted to
employees, directors, or other service providers.

2015 2016 2017 2018 Total
(unaudited, in thousands)
Performance awartc $ 6,591 $2,557 $1,03¢ $27E $10,46°
Stocl-based awards with only service conditit $ 4,94¢ $3,191 $1,79¢ $43z $10,36¢
Total $11,54: $5,75¢ $2,83¢ $707 $20,83¢

Valuation of Common Stock

Given the absence of an active market for our comstack prior to our IPO, our board of directorsswequired to estimate the fair va
of our common stock at the time of each option gb@sed upon several factors, including its comatiten of input from management and
contemporaneous third-party valuations.

The exercise price for all stock options granted afthe estimated fair value of the underlying e@n stock, as estimated on the date o
grant by our board of directors in accordance withguidelines outlined in the American InstitufeCertified Public Accountantd/aluation ot
Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as CompemsaEach fair value estimate was based on a varidgctors, which included
the following:

e our historical operating and financial performar

» adiscounted cash flow analys

» the market performance of comparable publicly tdaehnology companie

» the identification and analysis of mergers and &itijpns of comparable technology compan
» the prices, rights, preferences and privilegesuofpoeferred stock relative to the common st

» the likelihood of achieving a liquidity evenich as an initial public offering or sale givenya#ing market conditions and the
nature and history of our busine

* any adjustments necessary to recognize a lack ddatability for our common stock; ar

* U.S. and global economic market conditic
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We granted the following stock-based awards siaoeidry 1, 2013:

Award
Fair
Number Value at Aggregate
of Exercise Award
Options Awards Grant Fair

Grant Date or RSUs Granted Price($) Date($) Value($)

February 6, 2013 Options 138,41 13.1¢ 6.0¢ 842,96(
February 6, 201 RSUs 716,66 N/A 13.1¢ 9,417,00.
March 8, 201: Options 5,00( 13.1¢ 6.0¢ 30,30(
March 8, 201 RSUs 33,33¢ N/A 13.1¢ 437,99¢
May 30, 201: Options 278,39t 13.41 6.72 1,870,82.
July 17, 201: Options 97,16 13.5¢ 6.84 664,62.
October 24, 201 Options 162,66 14.4C 7.2C 1,171,20:
October 24, 201 RSUs 8,33: N/A 14.4( 119,99!
November 4, 201 Options  100,00( 14.4C 7.2¢€ 726,00(
November 4, 201 RSUs  100,00( N/A 14.4( 1,440,00!
December 4, 201 Options  148,03: 14.67 7.32 1,083,60:
January 29, 201 Options  477,29( 16.1¢ 8.07 3,851,73l
January 29, 201 RSUs 249,41 N/A 16.1¢4 4,025,591
June 11, 201 Options  307,15: 16.9¢ 8.31 2,570,85
June 11, 201 RSUs 79,30( N/A 16.9¢ 1,344,13!
July 30, 201+ Options 82,80: 17.7¢ 8.1: 673,17.
July 30, 201+ RSUs 11,33 N/A 17.7¢ 201,27:
September 25, 201 Options 61,33: 20.0¢ 9.1( 558,13(
September 25, 201 RSUs  275,00( N/A 20.0(¢ 5,500,001
November 4, 201 Options 139,76 36.51 17.5¢ 2,454,34.
November 4, 201 RSUs 35,197 N/A 36.51 1,285,04:
January 21, 201 Options  154,66¢ 33.8¢ 17.0C 2,629,32:
January 21, 201 RSUs  453,21! N/A 33.8¢ 15,336,79
February 10, 201 Options  150,66° 34.7¢ 16.01 2,412,17
February 10, 201 RSUs  226,00( N/A 34.7¢ 7,855,76!

In connection with these fair value estimates f@angs prior to September 2014, our common stockgeagrally estimated or reconciled
using an income and market approach.

Under the income approach, the enterprise valastimated by performing a discounted cash flowpGF, analysis. The fair value of ¢
common stock determined in connection with the tgranior to 2014, was 50% weighted using the DCHlyesis. The fair value of our comm
stock determined in connection with the grants mad914 was 40% weighted using the DCF analydie. DCF analysis requires the
development and analysis of the forecasted fuinem€ial performance of the company, including rewes, operating expenses and taxes, as
well as working capital and capital asset requineiieT he discrete forecast period analyzed extentte point at which the company will be
expected to have reached a steady state of growltprafitability. The projected cash flows are tlibscounted to a present value employing a
discount rate that properly accounts for the egBohanarket weighted average cost of capital, abagedny risk unique to our cash flows.
Finally, an assumption is made regarding the sualéé long-term rate of growth beyond the discfetecast period, and a residual value is
estimated and discounted to a present value. Theo$the present value of the discrete cash flowesthe residual, or “terminal,” value
represents the estimated fair value of the totirenise value of the company. This value is thdjunsted for non-operational assets, liabilities
and interest bearing debt to conclude the equityevaf the company.

Under the market approach, the enterprise valastimated by performing a guideline public compamyGPC analysis, and a guideline
transaction, or GT, analysis. The fair value of common stock determined in
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connection with the grants prior to 2014, was 30&tghted using the GPC analysis and 20% using tharilysis. The fair value of our
common stock determined in connection with the gramade in 2014 were 40% weighted using the GP§sinand 20% using the GT
analysis.

The GPC analysis is based upon the premise thatitiehs of value for a given entity can be esteddbtased upon the observed value
multiples of comparable public companies, the goiitwhich is freely-traded by investors in the palsecurities markets. The first step in this
analysis involves the selection of a peer groupoofipanies from which it is believed relevant daa be obtained. The second step involves
the calculation of the relevant valuation multiptemultiples for each company in the peer grouge filhal step involves the selection and
application of the appropriate multiples to theewaint financial metrics of our company. Dependipgruthe nature of the multiple, the
resulting value indication may then be adjustedhfam-operational assets, liabilities and interesirimg debt to conclude the equity value of the
company.

The guideline transaction analysis is based upemtamise that indications of value for a giveritgran be estimated based upon the
valuation multiples implied by transactions involgicompanies that are comparable to the subjecpaoy The first step in this analysis
involves the identification of transactions fromietit is believed relevant data can be obtainda Jecond step involves the calculation of
relevant valuation multiple or multiples for eacairtsaction in the comparable group. The final gteplves the selection and application of the
appropriate multiples to the relevant financial nestof our company. Depending upon the naturéefrultiple, the resulting value indication
may then be adjusted for non-operational assatsilities and interest bearing debt to concludeciipaity value.

Once the equity value is estimated it is then alled among the various classes of securities iceaat the fair value of the common
stock. For this allocation, the OPM was used fbgednts. The OPM entails allocating the equityueato the various share classes based upol
their respective claims on a series of call optiwith strike prices at various value levels depagdipon the rights and preferences of each
class. A Black-Scholes option pricing model is emgpd to value the options, with an option term egsion consistent with management’s
expected time to a liquidity event and a volatiitgsumption based on the estimated stock pricdilitglaf a peer group of comparable public
companies over a similar term. The differential@tue between each successive option representslilne of that tranche, which is then
allocated to all the share classes based on teeieptage ownership claim at that level of value.

For each grant date the board and management &stitweo different liquidity event scenarios (noritiad public offering and initial
public offering) which were then applied to twofdient option pricing models (non- initial publiffering and initial public offering) and
weighted based on the board management’s expeatio

Applying the non- initial public offering and indi public offering OPMs result in an estimated nedakle, minority fair value of our
common stock for each grant date. A discount fok laf marketability, or DLOM, based both on an optbased approach (put option) and
empirical evidence from sources incorporating ssdif companies with characteristics similar tcsasithen applied, yielding a fair value of
our common stock on a non-marketable, minorityrggebasis.

In connection with the determination by our boafrdicectors of the fair value of our common stook purposes of the September 25,
2014 equity grants, we assumed the completion ofR@ and that a public market for our common stoaé been created. We also considere
the valuation range proposed by the underwritetisle@ced by the estimated offering price rangdar#h on the cover page of the preliminary
prospectus dated September 26, 2014 in connecitbrowr IPO relative to our financial results, @nt economic and market conditions, the
removal of any illiquidity discount and a 100% wigipg that we would complete this offering. Afterck considerations, our board of direc
determined the fair value of our common stock t&p@.00 per share as of September 25, 2014, whishtine midpoint of the estimated
offering price range reflected on the cover pagthefpreliminary prospectus dated September 264 #0tonnection with our IPO, and gran
stock options with an exercise price of $20.00gtere as well as RSUs on such date.
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For stock options and RSUs granted subsequentrt®@) our board of directors determined the failue based on the closing price of
our common stock as reported on the New York SExathange on the date of grant.

Goodwill Impairment

Gooduwill represents the excess of the cost of guieed entity over the net fair value of the idéalle assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. Goodwill is not amortized, but rathessiseased for impairment at least annually. We parfiur annual impairment assessment on
November 30 of each year. We operate under onethegainit and as a result, evaluate goodwill inneent based on our fair value a
whole.

To determine the number of operating segments @palting units that are present, we analyzed whélleee is any customer, produc
geographic information that drives the chief opamtecision maker (our chief executive and opegatifficers) decisions on how to allocate
resources and whether any segment management d4#stagement has concluded that operating decisienmade at the consolidated
company level and there is no segment managemeidade that reviews results of operations withahief operating decision maker.

In assessing goodwill for impairment, an entity tresoption to assess qualitative factors to daterwhether events or circumstances
indicate that it is more likely than not that tlaér fvalue of a reporting unit is less than its gang amount. If, after assessing the totality of
events or circumstances, it is more likely thanthat the fair value of the reporting unit is gexahan its carrying value, then performing the
two-step impairment test is unnecessary. An entity choose not to perform a qualitative assessfoeaty of its reporting units, and proceed
directly to the use of the two-step impairment.test

When assessing goodwill for impairment for the yereded December 31, 2014, we decided to use thstepoquantitative analysis. We
determined our enterprise value used a weightechgeeof (1) an income approach using a discourdel ftow analysis and (2) a market
approach using comparable public company metricetermine the fair value of our one reporting uihie consolidated company. Based on
the results of our most recent annual assessmgotiped on November 30, 2014, we concluded thafahlesalue of our reporting unit
exceeded its carrying amount and there was no impait of goodwiill.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Contractual obligations are cash that we are otadijto pay as part of certain contracts that wes leatered during our course a business
Below is a table that shows the projected outlaysfddecember 31, 2014:

Payments due in:

Less More
than 1-3 35 than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(in thousands)
Capital lease obligatio $ 187 $ 107 $ 80 $ — $ —
Operating leases obligatio 35,61. 5,35( 12,23( 12,32« 5,707
Total $35,79¢ $5,457 $12,31( $12,32¢ $5,707

In October 2013, we extended our capital leaseeageat for the purchase of equipment and financfrgaintenance and installation
costs with an original fair value of $299,000. Téase is payable in 36 monthly payments throughe®aper 2016. The total outstanding
balance, including interest, financed under capéiaées was $324,000 as of December 31, 2013 &¥JGRD as of December 31, 2014.

We lease our office facilities under non-cancelaigerating leases. As of December 31, 2014, we lemses that expire at various dates
through 2020.
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no material off-balance sheet arrangenamecember 31, 2013 and 2014, exclusive of opeyétiases and indemnifications
on officers, directors and employees for certai@ngs or occurrences while the officer, directoemployee is, or was, serving at our request il
such capacity.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information on recent accounting pronouncemesgs Recently Accounting Pronouncemeimighe notes to the consolidated
financial statements appearing elsewhere in thisudhReport on Form 10-K.

ITEM 7A. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We are not currently subject to significant fore@nrency exchange risk. However, we have foreigmency risks related to our revenue
and operating expenses denominated in currendies titan the U.S. dollar, primarily the Euro andign Pound Sterling. Decreases in the
relative value of the U.S. dollar to other curr@sanay negatively affect our revenue and otheratipgy results as expressed in U.S. dollars.

We have experienced and will continue to experidhaguations in our net loss as a result of tratiea gains or losses related to
revaluing certain current asset and current ligbilalances that are denominated in currencies tithe the functional currency of the entities
in which they are recorded. We recognized immadtarizounts of foreign currency gains and lossesaghef the three years presented. We
have not engaged in the hedging of our foreignenay transactions to date, we are evaluating thes @nd benefits of initiating such a
program and may in the future hedge selected $igmif transactions denominated in currencies dtfgr the U.S. dollar as we expand our
international operation and our risk grows.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

We hold cash and cash equivalents for working ahpiirposes. We do not have material exposure tighesk with respect to
investments, as any investments we enter intor@areagly highly liquid investments. We have a revialy credit line which we have not
utilized as of December 31, 2014. The interestaat®ciated with the revolving line is the primediag rate plus 0.5%. A 10% increase or
decrease in interest rates would not result in #nah change in either our obligations under the bf credit, even at the borrowing limit, or in
the returns on our cash in 2014,

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a matefigct on our business. However, if our costqadrticular personnel, sales and
marketing and hosting costs, were to become sutgesignificant inflationary pressures, we may betable to fully offset such higher costs
through price increases. Our inability or failuoedio so could harm our business, operating reanlisfinancial condition.

Emerging Growth Company Status

Section 107 of the Jumpstart Our Small BusinesguftsiAct, or JOBS Act, provides that an “emergigngwth company” can take
advantage of the extended transition period affbtiethe JOBS Act for the implementation of newerised accounting standards. However,
we elected to “opt out” of such extended transipie@niod, and as a result, we comply with new orse¥ accounting standards on the relevant
dates on which adoption of such standards is reddar non-emerging growth companies. Section fafie@JOBS Act provides that our
decision to not take advantage of the extendeditian period for complying with new or revised aoating standards is irrevocable.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
HubSpot, Inc.
Cambridge, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of HubSpot, Inc. and subsidiaries (ttorii@any”) as of December 31, 2014
and 2013, and the related consolidated stateménfseoations, comprehensive loss, redeemable ctibleepreferred stock and stockholders’
equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of theethyears in the period ended December 31, 20JekeTtinancial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupoasibility is to express an opinion on these foiahstatements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to hamewere we engaged to perform, an audit of itsrirdl control over financial reporting.
Our audits included consideration of internal cohtwer financial reporting as a basis for desigrandit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsamopinion on the effectiveness of the Compamg&rnal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autiibancludes examining, on a test basis, evidenpparting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made dgagement, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetagresent fairly, in all material respects, timaricial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results ofdperations and their cash flows for each of kined years in the period ended
December 31, 2014, in conformity with accountingpgiples generally accepted in the United State&roérica.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLF
Boston, Massachuse!
March 5, 201¢
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HUBSPOT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable—net of allowance for doubttd@unts of $218 and $175 at December 31, 2014 @b8, 2
respectively
Deferred commission expen
Restricted cas
Prepaid hosting cos
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Capitalized software development costs,
Restricted cas
Other asset
Intangible assets, n
Goodwill

Total assets

Liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stockand stockholders equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued compensation cos
Other accrued expens
Capital lease obligatior
Deferred ren
Deferred revenu
Total current liabilities
Capital lease obligations, net of current pori
Deferred rent, net of current porti
Deferred revenue, net of current port
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Redeemable convertible preferred stc
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.00alae—authorized 25,000 and 58,589 shares at Dezmedih
2014 and 2013: Designated, issued, and outstan@iaggd 58,589 shares at December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively (liquidation and redemption value 0fé December 31, 2014 and $97,407 at Decemb&@(03B)
Stockholder equity (deficit):
Common stock, $0.001 par value—authorized, 500e0@0100,000 shares; issued and outstanding, 34481
5,301 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respect
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive |i
Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity (deficit)

Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferredstock and stockholder’ equity (deficit)

December 31

December 31

2014 2013
$ 123720 $ 12,64
14,27( 7,22(
5,99t 3,991
23C 307
1,771 2,95¢
3,51¢ 1,56¢
149,50 28,68t
11,38 7,24%
4,43: 3,47¢
— 1,61
11€ 65
89 147
9,33( 9,33(
174,85t 50,55¢
2,80( 2,541
7,66( 5,07¢
7,95: 7,16(
10C 96
11C —
40,80¢ 24,66:
59,42¢ 39,54
78 20z
4,15: 2,52¢
50C 244
64,15¢ 4251
— 101,29:
32 5
265,11 12,89¢
(14E) (79)
(154,30) _ (106,07))
110,69 (93,249
$ 174,85¢ $  50,55¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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Revenues
Subscriptior
Professional services and otl
Total revenu
Cost of Revenue!
Subscriptior
Services
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expense
Research and developm
Sales and marketir
General and administrati
Total operating expens
Loss from operation
Total other income (expenst
Interest incomq
Interest expens
Other
Total other income (expens
Income before benefit for income tay
Income tax benefi
Net loss
Preferred stock accretic

HUBSPOT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Net loss attributable to common stockholc

Net loss per common share, basic and dil
Weighted average common shares used in computsig &ad diluted net loss per common sh

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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Fiscal year ended December 3:

2014 2013 2012

$106,31¢  $70,81¢  $ 45387
9,557 6,81¢ 5,73¢

115,87 77,63 51,60«
25,65t 20,28( 10,83
11,42t 8,75¢ 6,00¢

37,08 29,03¢ 16,83¢
78,79¢ 48 59¢ 34,76¢
25,63¢ 15,01¢ 10,58¢
78,80¢ 53,15¢ 34,94¢
22,95¢ 14,66¢ 7,97¢
127,40! 82,84 53,50¢
(48,609 (34,25() (18,740)
46 34 26
(322) (20) (63)
564 (38) 1)
28¢ (24) (38)
(48,32) (34,279 (18,779
92 — —
(48,22 (34,279 (18,779
331 54 81
(48,56() (34,329 (18,85¢)
$ (420 $ (6.7) $ (4.0))
11,56: 5,11¢ 4,69¢
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HUBSPOT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)

Fiscal year ended December 3:

2014 2013 2012
Net loss $(48,229)  $(34,279)  $(18,77¢)
Other comprehensive los
Foreign currency translation adjustm (66) (69) (10
Comprehensive los $(48,295H  $(34,349)  $(18,78%

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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Balance at January 1, 20
Exercise of common stock optio
Stocl-based compensatic
Vesting of restricted common sto
Issuance of common stock warra

Issuance of Series E redeemable convertible pesfatock

— net of issuance costs of $1

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stox
redemptior

Cumulative translation adjustme

Net loss

Balances at December 31, 2(

Exercise of common stock optio

Stock based compensati

Restricted shares vesti

Cumulative translation adjustme

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stox
redemptior

Net loss

Balances at December 31, 2(

Exercise of common stock optio

Stocl-based compensatic

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred s

Conversion of preferred stock to common st

Issuance of common stock in relation to Initial Rub
Offering, net of offering costs incurred of $3,1

Cumulative translation adjustme

Net loss

Balances at December 31, 2(

HUBSPOT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE P REFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(DEFICIT)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Redeemable Common Accumulated
Convertible Stock, $0.001 Additional Other Accumulated
Preferred Stock Par Value Comprehensive
Paid-In Equity
Shares  Amount Shares  Amount Capital Loss (Deficit) Total
52,32 $ 66,06: 4,421 5 5,318 — (53,02()  (47,707)
494 697 697
2,10z 2,10z
89 51: 513
50 50
6,267 35,09¢
81 (81) (82)
(16 (10
(18,779 (18,779
58,58¢ 101,23¢ 5,00¢ 5 8,59¢ (10 (71,799 (63,209
23C 621 621
3,358 3,358
67 — 384 384
(69) (69)
54 (54) (54)
(34,279 (34,279
58,58¢ $ 101,29 5301 $ 5 $ 1289% $ (799 $ (106,07 $(93,24%)
85( 1 3,79¢ 3,79¢
16,59: 16,59:
331 (33)) (33))
(58,589 (101,629 19,53( 2C 101,60: 101,62
5,75( 6 130,55t 130,56:
(6€) (66)
(48,229 (48,229
= $ = 31,43 $ 32 $ 265110 $ (145) $ (154,30) $110,69¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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HUBSPOT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Operating Activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash aisth equivalents used in operating activit
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stocl-based compensatic
Provision for income taxe
Noncash interest expen
Provision for doubtful accoun
Noncash rent expen:
Unrealized currency translatic
Changes in assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Deferred commission expen
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Restricted cas
Deferred ren
Deferred revenu
Net cash and cash equivalents used in operatingtiast
Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipm
Capitalization of software development cc
Acquired of intangible asse
Restricted cas
Net cash and cash equivalents used in investirgjtaes
Financing Activities:
IPO proceeds, net of offering costs paid of $2,
Net proceeds from issuance of redeemable conve
Proceeds from exercise of optic
Proceeds from dre-down on line of credi
Payments on line of crec
Repayment of capital lease obligatic
Net cash and cash equivalents provided by finanaatigities
Effect on exchange rate chang
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash, beginning of yei
Cash and cash equivalents, end of )

Supplemental cash flow disclosure
Cash paid for intere:
Non-cash investing and financing activities
Property and equipment acquired under capital |
Capital expenditures incurred but not yet
IPO costs incured but not yet p:
Accretion of preferred stoc
Conversion of preferred stock to common st

Year Ended December 31

2014

2013

2012

$(48,229 $(34,274 $(18,779)

5,71¢ 4,472 2,73¢
16,35¢ 3,46¢ 2,51¢
(139) — —
— — 50
632 522 384
28¢€ 90¢ —
(219) — —
(7,890 (2,479  (3,079)
(719  (3,35) (448)
(2,009 (1,155 (10)
286 (1,159  1,19(
4,73¢ 4,25¢ 2,11¢
157 (67) —
1,467 25¢ (325)
17,08« 8,791 7,83¢
(12,469 (19,809 (5,807
(7,266) (4,355 (322)
(4,639 (3437  (2,26))
(80) (190) —
1,50C (1,190 19C
(10,480 (9,170 _ (2,399
130,76« — —
— — 35,09
3,79¢ 621 697
18,00( — (375)
(18,000 — —
(121) (107) (83)
134,43 514 35,33
(415) 10 (10)
111,07¢ (28,45 27,12t
12,64: 41,09 13,97
$123,72: $12,64: $ 41,09
$ 19¢ $ 3 $ 13
$ — $ 29¢ $ —
$ 111 $ 149¢ $ 20€
$ 20z $ — 8 —
$ 33 $ 54 $ 81
$10162 $ — $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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HUBSPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Operations

HubSpot, Inc. (the “Company”), was formed as atiédiliability company in Delaware on April 4, 200Ehe Company converted to a
Delaware corporation on June 7, 2007. The Compeaowiges a cloud-based inbound marketing and sddefopn which features integrated
applications to help businesses attract visitothéar websites, convert visitors into leads, cliesals into customers and delight customers so
they become promoters of those businesses. Thieggated applications include social media, seangjine optimization, blogging, website
content management, marketing automation, emaiM Cihalytics, and reporting.

The Company is headquartered in Cambridge, Massatisuand has wholly-owned subsidiaries in Dulbtgiand, which commenced
operations in January of 2013 and in Sydney, Aligtrahich commenced operations in August of 2014.

On September 25, 2014, the Company’s Board of Bire@nd stockholders approved a 1-for-3 revemeksplit of the Company’s
common stock. All references made to share orlip@tesamounts in the accompanying consolidated ¢inhatatements and applicable
disclosures have been retroactively adjusted teaethe Stock Split. See Note 10 for additionéimation about the Stock Split.

On October 15, 2014, the Company closed its intigdlic offering (“IPO”) whereby 5,750,000 sharédcommon stock were sold to the
public, including the underwriters’ overallotmemttion of 750,000 shares of common stock, at a i&25.00 per share. The Company
received aggregate proceeds of approximately $188lidn from the IPO, net of underwriters’ discdarand commissions, but before
deduction of offering expenses of approximatel\i$8illion. Upon the closing of the IPO, all shaodthe Company’s outstanding convertible
preferred stock automatically converted into 19,329 shares of common stock.

All restricted stock units, or RSUs, granted to &wees prior to the IPO vest upon the satisfaotibboth a service condition and a
performance condition. The service condition fonajority of the RSUs is satisfied over a periodafr years. The performance condition will
be satisfied on the date that is six months follmihe Company’s IPO. No stock-based compensatiparse was recognized for RSUs prior
to the IPO because an IPO is not considered prehattil it occurs. Upon completion of the CompanP® the Company began recording
stock-based compensation expense based on thedgdarfair value of the RSUs using the acceleratetbution method for RSUs granted
prior to its IPO and using the straight-line metliodRSUs granted following its IPO, net of estiethforfeitures. The stock compensation
expense associated with RSUs where the servicatmmbad been met prior to the IPO was also retzeghon the date of the IPO, using the
accelerated attribution method.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation—The consolidated financial statements have beepgped in U.S. dollars, in accordance with accognti
principles generally accepted in the United Stafesmerica (“GAAP”). The accompanying consolidafethncial statements include the
accounts of the Company and its wholly owned sudsidAll intercompany transactions have been elaed in consolidation.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of consolidated financial statetm@nconformity with GAAP requires management tak
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities, disclosure otiogent assets and liabilities at the date @
financial statements, and the reported amountswaitue and expenses during the reporting periotlafoesults could differ from those
estimates.

Operating Segments—The Company operates as one operating segmemai®gesegments are defined as components of anpeise
for which separate financial information is reglyjavaluated by the chief
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operating decision makers (“CODMSs"), which are @@mpany’s chief executive officer and chief opergtofficer, in deciding how to allocate
resources and assess performance. The Company'8/8@taluate the Company’s financial information a@sburces and assess the
performance of these resources on a consolidatgsd. I%ince the Company operates in one operatymesat, all required financial segment
information can be found in the consolidated finahstatements.

Historical Loss Per Share—Basic net loss per share attributable to commacksiolders is computed by dividing net loss attidle to
common stockholders by the weighted average nuofi@ymmon shares outstanding for the period. Dilutet loss per share attributable to
common stockholders is computed by giving effedlt@otential dilutive common stock equivalentsstanding for the period. For purpose
this calculation, options to purchase common stoockymon stock warrant, nonvested shares of restirgtibck, RSUs and redeemable
convertible preferred stock are considered to lmenson stock equivalents. The Company applied thediass method to calculate its basic
diluted net loss per share of common stock, asitwertible preferred stock and common stock argggaating securities. The two-class
method is an earnings allocation formula that sr@gparticipating security as having rights to emys that otherwise would have been availi
to common stockholders. However, the two-class otbttoes not impact the net loss per share of constomk as the Company was in a loss
position for each of the periods presented ancepied stockholders do not participate in losses.

A reconciliation of the denominator used in thecadtion of basic and diluted loss per share i®kews:

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands, except per share amount:

Numerator:

Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (48,560 $ (34,329 $ (18,859
Denominator

Weighte-average common shares outstan—basic 11,56: 5,11: 4,69¢

Dilutive effect of share equivalents resulting fretock options, RSUs, nonvested restric
stock, common stock warrant and redeemable cobleieferred shares (as convert — — —

Weighte-average common shares outstan-diluted 11,56: 5,11: 4,69¢
Net loss per common share, basic and dil $ (4.20 $ (6.7 $ (4.0)

For the years ended December 2014, 2013 and 24 Zdmpany incurred net losses and, thereforeffhet of the Company’s
outstanding stock options, common stock warradgeenable convertible preferred stock, RSUs andested shares of restricted stock was
not included in the calculation of diluted loss pbare as the effect would be anti-dilutive. Thofeing table contains share totals with a
potentially dilutive impact (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Options to purchase common she 458t 4,69t  4,18(
Common stock warrai 13 13 13
Common stock subject to repurchi — — 67
Convertible preferred shares (as conver — 19,53( 19,53(
RSUs 1,37¢ 85¢ —
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Cash and Cash Equivalents—The Company considers all highly liquid investnseptirchased with original maturity of three morahs
less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalensist of cash held in bank deposit accourdsshort-term, highly-liquid investments
with remaining maturities of three months or lestha date of purchase, consisting of money-mdkeds.

Restricted Cash—The Company had restricted cash of $230 thousabeéeember 31, 2014 related to a leased facilihne Tompany
had restricted cash of $1.9 million at December2B1,3 which included $1.8 million for letters okdit for the Company’s leased facilities and
$157 thousand in collateral for the Company’s caafmcredit card borrowings. During the year endedember 31, 2014 the Company
released from restrictions $1.7 million of cashjakhincludes the $157 thousand in collateral relatethe Company’s corporate credit card
borrowings and $1.5 million related to its leasedilfties.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Acaants —Accounts receivable are carried at the originabioed amount less an
allowance for doubtful accounts based on the pritibabf future collection. When management becoraesre of circumstances that may
decrease the likelihood of collection, it recordspacific allowance against amounts due, whichaeslthe receivable to the amount that
management reasonably believes will be collectedak other customers, management determinestbguacy of the allowance based on
historical loss patterns, the number of days thkds are past due and an evaluation of the pg@knsk of loss associated with specific
accounts. To date, losses resulting from uncolieeeivables have not exceeded management'’s atipast

The following is a rollforward of the Company’s@ilance for doubtful accounts (in thousands):

Balance Charged tc Balance a
Beginning
Costs or Deductions End of
of Period Expenses @) Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 17% $ 632 $ (589 $ 21¢
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 12z $ 52t $ (470 $ 17t
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 61 $ 384 $ (329 $ 12z

(1) Deductions include actual accounts wri-off, net of recoveries

Property and Equipment —Property and equipment are stated at cost anadeped using the straight-line method over theneged
useful lives of the related assets. Expendituresi@intenance and repairs are charged to expenseuased, whereas major betterments are
capitalized as additions to leasehold improvemddgpreciation is recorded over the following estiadauseful lives:

Estimated Useful Life

Computer equipment and purchased software 3 years
Office equipmen 5 years
Furniture and fixture 5 years
Leasehold improvemen Lesser of lease term or useful |

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets—Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment vawem events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset naiybe recoverable or that the useful lives of ¢hassets are no longer appropriate.
Management considers the following potential inttice of impairment of its long-lived assets (aggeup): a substantial decrease in the
Company’s stock price, a significant adverse changlee extent or manner in which a long-lived agasset group) is being used, a significan
adverse change in legal factors or in the busidéssite that could affect the value of the longetivasset (asset group), an accumulation of
costs significantly in excess of the amount oritfijnexpected for the acquisition or constructioradbngtived asset (asset group), and a cu
expectation that, more likely than
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not, a long lived asset (asset group) will be swldtherwise disposed of significantly before the ef its previously estimated useful life.
When such events occur, the Company compares theéngpamounts of the assets to their undiscounigrbcted future cash flows. If this
comparison indicates that there may be an impairntle® amount of the impairment is calculated asdifference between the carrying value
and fair value. For the years presented, the Coypng@ahnot recognize an impairment charge.

Goodwill —Goodwill represents the excess of cost over thevédue of the net tangible and identifiable irdéie assets acquired in a
business combination. The Company has no othargitike assets with indefinite useful lives. GoodigInot subject to amortization, but is
monitored annually for impairment or more frequeiitthere are indicators of impairment. Managenmamisiders the following potential
indicators of impairment: significant underperfomma relative to historical or projected future @terg results, significant changes in the
Company’s use of acquired assets or the strateth)edtompany’s overall business, significant negaitidustry or economic trends and a
significant decline in the Company’s stock pricedcsustained period. The Company performs its @rimpairment test on November 30.
Currently, the Company’s goodwill is evaluatedrat entity level as it is determined there is onig ceporting unit. The Company performs a
two step impairment test. In the first step, thevalue of each reporting unit is compared tacasrying amount. If the fair value exceeds the
carrying value of the net assets assigned, gooanilbt considered impaired and the second steptisequired. If the carrying value exceeds
the fair value, then the second step of the impaxitntest is performed in order to determine thdigdfair value of the reporting unit's
goodwill. If the carrying value of the goodwill eeeds the fair value, then an impairment chargedsrded. On November 30, 2014, the
estimated fair value of the Company'’s single répgrtinit exceeded its carrying amount. Becauséainealue of the Company’s single
reporting unit was in excess of its carrying vadinel there were no indicators that the Compsuggodwill had become impaired since that ¢
there was no impairment as of November 30, 201gutiit December 31, 2014.

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 ari] #684 Company did not recognize an impairmentgdar

Advertising Expense—The Company expenses advertising as incurred hwiimcluded in sales and marketing expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatidres Company incurred $3.3 million of advertisinggense in 2014, $3.5 million in 2013,
and $3.0 million in 2012.

Revenue Recognition—The Company primarily generates revenue from ralétment arrangements, which typically include
subscriptions to its online software solution anaf@ssional services which includes on-boardingtaziding services. The Company’s
customers do not have the right to take possesdithre online software solution. The Company reiggmrevenue when all of the following
have occurred:

. persuasive evidence of an arrangement with th@mestexists
. service has been or is being provid
. the fees are fixed or determinable;

. collectability of the fees is reasonably assu
The Company’s arrangements do not contain genigtebrof return.

In order to treat elements in a multiple-elemerd@gement as separate units of accounting, theedeti elements must have standalone
value and delivery of the undelivered element @bpble and within control of the Company.

The Company has determined that subscriptiongganiline software solution have standalone vakeabse, once a customer launches
its initial site, the online software solution idly functional and does not require any additioteelopment, modification, or customization.
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Professional services consists primarily of on-day and web-based and in-person training, areetptired to use the online software
solution, and are determined to have stand-alohg\feom the related subscription services becthesgare sold separately by the Company
and third parties.

When multiple element arrangements are separatediiffierent units of accounting, the arrangememtsideration is allocated to the
identified separate units based on a relativergpfrice hierarchy. The estimated fair value ofheglement is determined based upon the
following hierarchy: (1) vendor specific objectiegidence (“VSOE") of fair value, (2) third partyidence of selling price (“TPE"), or (3) the
Company’s best estimate of selling price (‘BESHHe Company is not able to establish VSOE of falug for undelivered elements, whict
most instances is subscription and training anéegeional services, based on its pricing practiaed,there is not a reliable measure of TPE o
selling price. As such, arrangement considerasallocated amongst multiple deliverable arrangeésesing BESP. The Company establishe
BESP for each deliverable primarily considering inedian of actual sales prices of each type ofigi®n and other professional services
sold. The Company considers each type of subsaniptnd service as well as pricing and geograplfidcrimation when establishing BESP.
Arrangement consideration is allocated such thatélwenue recognized does not exceed the fee stjefund.

Revenue from subscriptions is recognized ratabér ¢tlve subscription period beginning on the dadéeGbmpany’s subscription is made
available to customers. Substantially all subsiniptontracts are one year or less. The Comparogrezes revenue from on-boarding and
training services as the services are provided.

The Company pays its marketing agency partnersrarission of the subscription sales price for sedazsustomers. The classification of
the commission paid on the Company’s consolidatagsients of operations depends on who is purop#sisubscription. In instances where
the customer is purchasing the subscription, thaamy is the primary obligor and records the corsiaispaid to the agency partner as sales
and marketing expense. When the agency partnehases the subscription directly from the Compamy,Gompany nets the consideration
paid to the partner against the associated revieneigognizes, as in these instances the Compaugt®mer is the partner and the Company’s
remaining obligations are to the partner. The Camgoes not believe that it receives a tangibleebefrom the payment back to the partner.

Sales taxes collected from customers and remittgdvernment authorities are excluded from revenue.

Amounts that have been invoiced are recorded inwats receivable and deferred revenue or revergpendling on whether the revenue
recognition criteria have been met. Deferred reeempresents amounts billed for which revenue baget been recognized. Deferred reve
that will be recognized during the succeeding 12yhgeriod is recorded as current deferred revamdethe remaining portion is recorded as
long-term deferred revenue.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Significant Custaners —Financial instruments that potentially expose@uoenpany to
concentrations of credit risk consist primarilyocafsh, restricted cash and accounts receivable.

A significant portion of the Company’s cash is hatdne financial institution that management bvelgeto be of high credit quality.
Although the Company deposits it cash with multijik@ncial institutions, its deposits exceed fetlgriasured limits.

The Company has no significant off-balance shs&tsuch as foreign exchange contracts, option actstror other hedging
arrangements.

The Company generally does not require collateaahfits customers and generally requires paymerata®8 from the invoice date. The
Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accebiased on its assessment of the collectabilicobunts receivable. Credit risk arising
from accounts receivable is mitigated as a redutlamsacting with a large number of geographicdipersed customers spread across variot
industries.
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At December 31, 2014 and 2013 there were no custothat represented more than 10% of the net atsoeceivable balance. There
were no customers that individually exceeded 10%h®iCompany’s revenue in any of the periods ptesen

Foreign Currency —The functional currency of the Company’s foreigibsidiaries is the local currency. Assets and lités
denominated in a foreign currency are translateaihS. dollars at the exchange rates in effett@balance sheet dates; with the resulting
translation adjustments directly recorded to a paomponent of accumulated other comprehensoaie (loss). Income and expense
accounts are translated at the weighted-averageage rates during the period. Equity transactéwadranslated at historical exchange rates.
Foreign currency transaction gains and losseseaaded in other income (expense).

Research and Development—Research and development expenses include pagmglloyee benefits and other expenses associated
with product development.

Capitalized Software Development Costs—Certain payroll and stock compensation costs ieclto develop functionality for the
Companys software platform, as well as certain upgradeseanhancements that are expected to result indsedefunctionality are capitalize
The costs incurred in the preliminary stages ofettigyment are expensed as incurred. Once an apptidas reached the development stage,
certain internal costs are capitalized until thitveare is substantially complete and ready foirtended use. Capitalized software developmel
costs are amortized on a straight-line basis dwar estimated useful life of two years. Managenastluates the useful lives of these assets ¢
an annual basis and tests for impairment whenexate or changes in circumstances occur that dmpdct the recoverability of these assets.

Capitalized software development costs consistadeofollowing:

December 31

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Gross capitalized software development ¢ $14,21¢ $ 9,351
Accumulated amortizatio (9,786 (5,877)
Capitalized software development costs, $ 4,43¢ $ 3,47¢

The Company capitalized software development aafs$d.9 million in 2014, $3.7 million in 2013, a$@.4 million in 2012. Stock-based
compensation costs included in capitalized softmagee $235 thousand in 2014, $273 thousand in 2213 $100 thousand in 2012.

Amortization of capitalized software developmenstsovas $3.9 million in 2014, $2.6 million in 20E&d $1.5 million in 2012.
Amortization expense is included in cost of reveimuhe consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes—Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognfeethe differences between the financial stategrsarrying amounts
and the tax bases of existing assets and lialilit#éng tax rates expected to be in effect in #aryin which the differences are expected to
reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by ativaduslowance if it is more likely than not thatrse portion or all of the deferred tax assets
will not be realized.

The Company provides reserves for potential paysnehtax to various tax authorities related to utain tax positions based on a
determination of whether and how much of a tax bietaken by the Company in its tax filings or pimns is more likely than not to be reali:
following resolution of any potential contingenci®sent related to the tax benefit. Potentiak@sieand penalties associated with such
uncertain tax positions are recorded as a compafeéntome tax expense.
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Stock-Based Compensatior—The Company accounts for all stock options andrdsvgranted to employees and nonemployees using
fair value method. Stock-based compensation isgr@ized as an expense and is measured at the fadr obthe award. The measurement date
for employee awards is generally the date of tlamtgiThe measurement date for nonemployee awaginerally the date the options vest.
Stock-based compensation costs are recognizedassx over the requisite service period, whictersegally the vesting period for awards, or
a straight-line basis for awards with only a sex\éondition, and using the graded-method for awaittsboth a performance and service that
were granted prior to our IPO, and on a straigi-basis for the awards that were granted folloveunglPO.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements—n May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards@dssued updated guidance and disclosur
requirements for recognizing revenue. The new regeacognition standard provides a fatep analysis of transactions to determine wher
how revenue is recognized. The core principleas ghcompany should recognize revenue to depidtainsfer of promised goods or service
customers in an amount that reflects the consider& which the entity expects to be entitled xelenge for those goods or services. This
guidance will be effective for the Company on Jamua 2017 and may be applied retrospectively thezeriod presented or as a cumulative-
effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. Tomfany is evaluating the potential impact of adapthis new accounting guidance.

In June 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@@ssued a standards update on accounting foe-bhaed payments when the te
of the award provide that a performance targetatbel achieved after a requisite service period.staedard is effective beginning January 1,
2016, with early adoption permitted. We do not expieto have a material impact on our consoliddieancial position, results of operations
cash flows.

3. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company measures certain financial asseté atafae. Fair value is determined based upon Kitepeice that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability inoaderly transaction between market participardgjetermined by either the principal market or
the most advantageous market. Inputs used in tliati@n techniques to derive fair values are cfastbased on a three-level hierarchy, as
follows:

. Level 3—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

. Level 2—Observable inputs other than Levelitgs such as quoted prices for similar assetabilities; quoted prices in markets
with insufficient volume or infrequent transactigiess active markets); or model-derived valuationshich all significant inputs
are observable or can be derived principally fraroaroborated by observable market data for sukiatly the full term of the
assets or liabilities

. Level 3—Unobservable inputs to the valuatiorthmdology that are significant to the measureméfdiovalue of assets or
liabilities.

The Company considers all highly liquid investmegmnischased with a remaining maturity of three memthless to be cash equivalents.
The fair value of the Company’s investments inaiarmoney market funds is their face value. Suslriments are classified as Level 1 and
are included in cash and cash equivalents.

For certain other financial instruments, includaagounts receivable, accounts payable and othegridiabilities, the carrying amounts
approximate their fair value due to the relativeyrt maturity of these balances.

83



Table of Contents

The fair value of these financial assets was detexdhusing the following inputs for the year enccBaber 31, 2014. The Company did

not have any cash equivalents at December 31, 2013.

Money market fund
Total

4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment as of December 31, 20142@b8 consists of the following:

Computer equipment and purchased softv

December 31, 201.

Level 1 Level Z Level 2
(in thousands)

$100,00( $ — $ —

$100,00 $ — $ —

December 31
2014 2013
(in thousands)
$ 904 $ 1,50¢

Furniture and fixture 3,01( 2,10¢
Office equipmen 1,11¢ 99(
Leasehold improvemen 10,15 5,84t
Capital leases and equipment under capital | 562 562

15,74° 11,00°
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (4,36€) (3,769
Total $11,38: $ 7,24:

Depreciation expense was $1.7 million in 2014, $iilion in 2013, and $988 thousand in 2012.

Accumulated depreciation for equipment under cafatse was $339 thousand as of December 31, $2¥2, thousand as of
December 31, 2013, and $153 thousand as of Dece3tib2012

5. Intangible Assets
Intangible assets as of December 31, 2014 and @@idst of the following:

Average Remaining

Useful Life December 31
2014 2013
(in thousands)
Acquired technolog 14 Month: $ 74E $ 74E
Acquired intellectual propert 27 Month: 80 —
Accumulated amortizatio (73€) (59¢)
Total $ 89 $ 147

The estimated useful life of acquired technologg entellectual property is three years. The Compawsluates the useful lives of these
assets on an annual basis and tests for impainvieettever events or changes in circumstances deaticould impact the recoverability of
these assets.

Amortization expense related to intangible assets $138 thousand in 2014, $359 thousand in 2013$224 thousand in 2012.
Amortization expense of acquired technology istudeld in cost of subscription revenue
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in the consolidated statements of operations. Aizaiibn expense of acquired intellectual propestintluded in sales and marketing expense
in the consolidated statements of operations. Bs@ichfuture amortization expense for intangibleetssas of December 31, 2014 is as follows:

Years ended Amortization
December 31 Expense

(in thousands’
2015 $ 52
2016 31
2017 6
Total $ 89
6. Debt

Equipment Line —In June 2010, the Company executed a loan andiseagreement (the “Loan Agreement”) establishen§500,000
equipment line of credit (the “Equipment Linetjth a bank for eligible equipment purchases thtodgne 28, 2011. Borrowings under the |
were due in 24 equal monthly payments of principkls accrued interest, at an annual rate of 3.88§8tnning July 1, 2011 through June 1,
2013. Borrowings were collateralized by the equipmsoftware and other property financed by therLAgreement. The Company was
required to maintain certain non-financial covesaithe Equipment Line expired on June 1, 2013 aaslvot renewed.

Growth Capital and Revolving Line —In April 2012, the Company amended and restated.ttan Agreement. The Company could
borrow up to $5.0 million on a growth capital lioEcredit (“Growth Capital Line”) through April 2@l at the bank’s prime rate plus one
percent. The Growth Capital Line was repayablerr@gg May 2013 in monthly installments of princigadd interest through October 2015.
The Company could borrow up to $5.0 million on eoteing line of credit (“Revolving Line”) at the b&’s prime rate, which was payable in
full in October 2013. Both lines were establishegtovide financing for general corporate purpo3ée Company was required to maintain a
minimum cash account balance of $1.0 million ahdfathe Company’s assets, excluding intellectualperty, was pledged as collateral.

As part of the amended and restated Loan Agreernfen€Company issued the bank a fully exercisableamaito purchase 13,158 shares
of common stock at an exercise price of $5.70 pareswith an expiration date of April 2022. The fealue of the warrant of $50 thousand \
recorded as interest expense in 2012 as it wasddsilly vested. The fair value of the warrant veatimated on the date of the grant using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the followi assumptions:

Risk-free interest rat 2.25%
Expected term (in year 10

Volatility 55%
Expected dividend —%

In May 2013, the Company executed the first amemdiethe amended and restated Loan AgreementGFtwth Capital Line was
extended through May 2014 and was repayable bagjrhine 2014 in monthly installments of principad énterest through November 2016.
The Revolving Line was extended through May 2014.

In September 2013, the Company executed the sesnrddment to the amended and restated Loan Agréeimereasing the Revolving
Line to $20.0 million and extending the maturityelto December 31, 2014. A 0.25% annual unusedtitjefge is applicable to the Revolving
Line.
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In March 2014, the Company executed the third ammemd to the amended and restated Loan AgreemeatGrdwth Capital Line was
extended with borrowings available through Decen2fd4 and repayable over 30 months through Jun@. Zaiditionally, the Revolving Lin
was increased to $30.0 million and is payable ihifiuMarch 2016.

In September 2014, the Company amended its Loaaehgent to combine its $5.0 million Growth Capitaid_and $30.0 million
Revolving Line into a single $35.0 million Revolgihine. The interest rate on the new Revolving Lli;ythe banks prime rate plus 0.5% anc
due in full in March 2016. During 2014 the Compaigw down $18 million under the Revolving line.@ttober 2014, in connection with the
Company'’s IPO, the Company paid off the $18.0 oilloutstanding balance under the Revolving Linetaack is no outstanding balance
under the Revolving Line at December 31, 2014.

7. Geographic Data

As more fully described in the Company’s Summargighificant Accounting Policies, the Company opesdn one operating segment.
Revenue and long-lived assets by geographic repesed on physical location of the operations iingrthe sale or the assets are as follows

Revenues by geographical region (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
United States $103,35¢ $74,43; $51,60¢
Ireland 12,27( 3,19 —
Australia 25C — —
Total $115,87¢ $77,63¢ $51,60¢
Percentage of revenues generated outside of thtedJ&tate: 11% 4% —
Total long lived assets by geographical regiortifsusands):
As of As of
December 31 December 3:
2014 2013
United States $ 10,71 $ 6,77F
Ireland 67C 46¢
Australia — —
Total Long Lived Asset $ 11,38 $ 7,24
Percentage of long lived assets held outside oftiited State: 6% 6%

8. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases its office facilities under naneelable operating leases that expire at vadates through November 2020. Rent
expense for non-cancellable operating leases wethrental periods or scheduled rent increasexagnized on a straight-line basis over the
terms of the leases. Improvement reimbursements frodlords of $3.3 million are being amortizedeaostraight-line basis into rent expense
over the terms of the leases. The difference betweguired lease payments and rent expense hasdm®ded as deferred rent.

Rent expense was $4.9 million in 2014, $3.1 miliim2013, and $1.3 million in 2012. Deferred rerts/$4.3 million as of December 31,
2014 and $2.5 million as of December 31, 2013.
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In August 2011, the Company sublet a portion obffice space to an unrelated third party and edténto a sublease that expired in
January 2014. Sublease income was $11 thousar@ili $135 thousand in 2013, and $130 thousand18.20

In October 2013, the Company extended a leaseagrador the purchase of equipment with a fair gadfi$299 thousand. The lease is
payable in 36 monthly payments through Septemb#&6 Z0he total outstanding balance financed undgitaldeases was $178 thousand as of
December 31, 2014, $299 thousand as of Decemb@038, Amortization of assets recorded under cHig@es is included in depreciation
expense.

Future minimum payments under all operating andtakpase agreements as of December 31, 2014sd@lows:

Operating Capital
(in thousands)

2015 $ 5,35( 107
2016 5,89: 8C
2017 6,331 —
2018 6,09¢ —
2019 6,22¢ —
Thereaftel 5,707 —
Total $35,61: 187
Less: Portion representing inter 9
Capital Lease Obligatio $ 17¢€

On November 13, 2013, a putative class action camiplvas filed in the Middlesex County Superior @an the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts, entitled Albert McCormack v. HubShmat The complaint alleged that the Company naéiretd a policy of not paying
overtime to its business development representafveall hours worked in excess of 40 hours pezskv&he complaint sought unpaid wages,
multiple damages, injunctive relief, attorneys’deand costs. The Company settled this matter famamaterial amount and the complaint was
dismissed on November 3, 2014.

In addition, from time to time the Company may beednvolved in legal proceedings or be subjectaots arising in the ordinary
course of its business. Although the results @fdiion and claims cannot be predicted with cetyaithe Company currently believes that the
final outcome of these ordinary course matters moll have a material adverse effect on its busjrgssrating results, financial condition or
cash flows. Regardless of the outcome, litigatian kkave an adverse impact on the Company becagsdenfse and settlement costs, diversio
of management resources and other factors.
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9. Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The following table summarizes the changes in actatad other comprehensive loss, which is repaated component of stockholders’
equity (deficit), for the years ended DecemberZBiil4 and 2013:

Foreign

Currency Items

(in thousands)

Beginning balance at January 1, 2013 $ (10)
Other comprehensive income before reclassificat (69
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other com@netve income —
Ending balance at December 31, 2! $ (79
Other comprehensive income before reclassificat (66)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comgmsive incom —
Ending balance at December 31, 2! $ (14%)

10. Reverse Stock Split

On September 25, 2014, the Company’s Board of Bire@nd stockholders approved a 1-for-3 revesekstplit of the Company’s
common stock. The reverse stock split became @ffeeon September 25, 2014. Upon the effectiventtiseaeverse stock split, (i) every three
shares of outstanding common stock was combinecbimé share of common stock, (ii) the number ofeshaf common stock into which each
outstanding warrant or option to purchase commocksis exercisable was proportionally decreas@liitfe exercise price of each outstanding
warrant or option to purchase common stock wasgrtamately increased, and (iv) the conversioror&dr each share of preferred stock
outstanding was proportionately reduced. Unleseretise indicated, all of the share numbers, shacepand exercise prices in these
consolidated financial statements have been adjustea retroactive basis, to reflect this 1-faeerse stock split.

11. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

Upon the closing of the IPO on October 15, 2014outistanding convertible preferred stock was coreeeinto 19,529,713 shares of
common stock on a one-to-three basis. No converfibtferred stock was outstanding as of Decemhe2(BIM.

Prior to the IPO, the Company had authorized asukid Series A redeemable convertible preferredk ¢t&eries A”), Series B
redeemable convertible preferred stock (“Series BEries C redeemable convertible preferred stt@dries C”), Series D redeemable
convertible preferred stock (“Series D), Seried and Series E redeemable convertible prefermedk tSeries E”) (collectively, “Preferred
Stock”); which was classified as temporary equity.

The rights and privileges of Series A, Series BjeSeC, Series D, Series D-1 and Series E (collelsti the “Preferred Stock”) were as
follows:

Voting Rights—The holders of the Preferred Stock were entittedate on all matters and had the number of vatesleo the number of
shares of common stock into which the PreferrediSiteere then convertible.

Dividends—The holder of shares of Preferred Stock wereledtib receive dividends, when and if declaredh®y@ompany’s Board of
Directors, out of any assets at the time legallgilable therefore, in preference to common stoalérs. No dividends on convertible preferred
stock were declared or paid by the Company thrdhgtdate of the IPO.
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Conversion—Prior to the IPO, each share of Preferred Stock @amvertible at any time, at the option of thedeolinto shares of
common stock, subject to the applicable conversatm as determined by dividing the original isstiegoby the conversion price, with the
exception of Series D-1. The issuance price wasoappately $0.41 for Series A, $0.84 for SeriessB.27 for Series C, $2.82 for Series D an
$5.62 for Series E. The initial conversion pricerevthe same as the issuance prices and wereeatlfosgive effect to the Stock Split. Each
share of Series D-1 could be converted as detethiipalividing the Series D issuance price by theeSeD conversion price (as adjusted for
certain dilutive events).

Each share of Preferred Stock automatically copdarito shares of common stock at the then-effeatonversion rate on the date of the
Company’s IPO.

Liguidation Preference—Prior to the IPO, the holders of the Preferreccktoad preferences over the holders of the Comgamgrhmon
stock in the event of any voluntary or involuntéiquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of the Coany, including a merger or consolidation.
The amount that would have been paid per shareequa to the greater of approximately $0.41 foie3ef, $0.84 for Series B, $1.27 for
Series C, $2.82 for Series D, $1.77 for Seriesdnd $5.62 for Series E (as adjusted for certairtidé events) plus any declared and unpaid
dividends or such amount per share as would hase payable had all shares of the Preferred Stoek benverted to common stock
immediately prior to the liquidation event. Thetteaf any remaining assets available for distributimuld have been distributed among the
common stockholders.

Redemptior—Prior to the IPO, upon written notice of 65% oé tolders of Preferred Stock, the Preferred Stoak edeemable in three
annual installments commencing 30 days after rétgiphe Company at any time on or after March@®for all series, except Series E.
Series E was redeemable in one installment commegI3f days after receipt by the Company at any mer after March 3, 2020. The
redemption price per share was approximately $fr$eries A, $0.84 for Series B, $1.27 for Se@e$2.82 for Series D, $1.77 for SerieslD-
and $5.62 for Series E, plus any declared and drgieidends.

The Company was accreting Series A, Series B, $6i&eries D and Series E to their redemptionevalier the period from the date of
issuance to March 3, 2020, such that the carrymguats of the securities would equal the redemmioounts at the earliest redemption date.
Upon the closing of the Company’s IPO all outstagdihares of preferred stock were accreted to thée@mption value.

The following table contains the value of each €lasPreferred Stock as of December 31, 2013, dsaw¢he liquidation and redemption
value at December 31, 2013:

December 31, 201
(in thousands)
Series A designated, issued, and outstanding, Z3l68res at December 31, 2013 (liquidation andmetien

value of $5,625 at December 31, 20 $ 5,52¢
Series B designated, issued, and outstanding, 34}3dres at December 31, 2013 (liquidation andmetien

value of $12,000 at December 31, 20 11,97¢
Series C designated, issued, and outstanding, A 8/&&res at December 31, 2013 (liquidation andmetien

value of $16,458 at December 31, 20 16,41¢
Series D designated, issued, and outstanding, Bl6@a#s at December 31, 2013 (liquidation and redem

value of $21,500 at December 31, 20 22,38¢
Series D-1 designated, issued, and outstanding7 3fares at December 31, 2013 (liquidation aneimgdion

value of $6,625 at December 31, 20 9,86¢
Series E designated, issued, and outstanding, 6/2'és at December 31, 2013 (liquidation and retiem

value of $35,199 at December 31, 20 35,11

Total $ 101,29:

89



Table of Contents

12. Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) and Stock-Base€ompensation

Common Stock Reserved—As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, the Companyh#sorized 100 million shares and 500 million share
of common stock, respectively. The number of shafe®@mmon stock reserved for the potential corivarsf preferred stock, vesting of RS
and exercise of a warrant and common stock opaoass follows (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2014 2013

Conversion of Series A — 4,562
Conversion of Series — 4,771
Conversion of Series — 4,317
Conversion of Series — 2,54¢
Conversion of Series-1 — 1,24¢
Conversion of Series — 2,08¢
Common stock watrral 13 13
Restricted stock unit 1,37¢ 85¢
Common stock option 4,58¢ 4,69¢
5,971 25,09¢

Equity Incentive Plan—The Company’s 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (the ‘2B0an”) was terminated in connection with the 1RO
accordingly, no shares are available for issuanceuthe 2007 Plan. The 2007 Plan will continugdeern outstanding awards granted
thereunder, The 2007 Plan provided for the gramjuafified incentive stock options and nonqualifstdck options or other awards such as
RSUs to the Company’s employees, officers, dirscémd outside consultants. As of December 31, 2024nillion options to purchase
common stock and 1.3 million RSUs remained outstendnder the 2007 Plan.

On September 25, 2014, the Company’s board of direadopted and the Company'’s stockholders apgrinee2014 Stock Option and
Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”). The 2014 Plandmee effective upon the closing of the Company’s.IPkie Company initially reserved
1,973,551 shares of its common stock, or the Ififiait, for the issuance of awards under the 281ah. The 2014 Plan provides that the
number of shares reserved and available for isgeuander the plan automatically increases each dadyaeginning on January 1, 2015, by
5% of the outstanding number of shares of the Caryipa&ommon stock on the immediately preceding bPrdmer 31 or such lesser number of
shares as determined by the compensation comniitéenumber is subject to adjustment in the ewémat stock split, stock dividend or other
change in the Company’s capitalization. As of Delsen81, 2014, 140 thousand options to purchase @mstock and 35 thousand RSUs
remained outstanding under the 2014 Plan.

Equity Compensation Expense—The Company’s equity compensation expense is dgegpof awards of options to purchase commor
stock, restricted stock awards (RSAs) and RSUs.

The following two tables show stock compensatiopesse by award type and where the stock compensatigense is recorded in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operationthnsands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Options $ 5,12¢ $3,08( $2,00:
Vesting of RSAs — 384 513
RSUs 11,23( — —
Total stocl-based compensatic $16,35¢ $3,46¢ $2,51¢
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2014 2013 2012
Cost of revenue, subscription $ 12¢ $ 5C $ 27
Cost of revenue, servi 49¢ 211 10C
Research and developmt 6,19( 691 73¢
Sales and marketir 5,59¢ 1,19¢ 691
General and administrati 3,94¢ 1,31¢ 95¢
Total stocl-based compensatic $16,35¢ $3,46¢ $2,51¢

Excluded from stock-based compensation expens23is thousand of capitalized software developmestsca 2014, $273 thousand in
2013, and $100 thousand in 2012.

Stock Options—The fair value of employee options is estimatedrendate of each grant using the Black-Scholesmpricing model
with the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Risk-free interest rate 1.79%- 2.67% 0.82%- 1.86% 0.56%- 1.23%
Expected term (in year 5.0-6.5 4.6-6.5 3.5-6.5
Volatility 44.8%- 50.9% 46.8%- 54.7% 48%- 51%

Expected dividend — — —

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of oygtigranted was $9.72 per share in 2014, $6.84haee $n 2013, and $3.09 per share ir
2012.

The interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasury tzde at the date of grant with a maturity appmately equal to the expected term.
The expected term of options granted to employeesaalculated using the simplified method, whighr@eents the average of the contractual
term of the option and the weighted-average vestargpd of the option. The expected term of optigramted to nonemployees is equal to the
remaining contractual term as of the measuremdnt 8xpected volatility for the Company’s commoockt was based on an average of the
historical volatility of a peer group of similar Ipic companies. The assumed dividend yield is bagpeth the Company’s expectation of not
paying dividends in the foreseeable future. Theregion of share-based awards that will ultimatedgt requires judgment, and to the extent
actual results differ from the Company’s estimasesh amounts will be recorded as an adjustmethieiperiod estimates are revised.

Prior to the Company’s IPO, the fair value of tlienton stock was determined by the Board of Diracédreach award grant date based
upon a variety of factors, including the resultsagted from independent third-party valuations, @mpany’s financial position and historical
financial performance, the status of technologitealelopments within the Company’s products, thepusiiion and ability of the engineering
and management team, an evaluation of benchmahedompany’s competition, the climate in the mgpleee, the illiquid nature of the
common stock, arm’s-length sales of the Compsgpital stock (including redeemable convertibkfgrred stock), the effect of the rights ¢
preferences of the preferred stockholders andrbsppcts of a liquidity event, among others. After Company’s IPO, the fair value of the
Company’s common stock is the closing price ofdfuek on the date of grant.
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The stock option activity for the year ended Deceni, 2014 is as follows:

Weighted-
Weighted- Aggregate
Options (in Average Average Intrinsic
Exercise Remaining Value
thousands’ Price Life (in years) (in thousands’
Outstanding—December 31, 2013 4,69¢ $ 6.6¢ 8.C $ 37,65
Grantec 1,067 19.3¢
Exercisec (850) 4.4¢
Forfeited/expirec (329 12.1C
Outstandin—December 31, 201 4,58¢ 9.64 7.€ $ 110,39¢
Options vested or expected to v—December 31, 201 4,29¢ $ 9.1« 7.5 $ 105,41¢
Options exercisab—December 31, 201 2,43¢ $ 5.9 6.8 $ 67,55

Total unrecognized compensation cost related totmeested options granted under the 2007 Plathen2014 Plan was $10.4 million
December 31, 2014. That cost is expected to beyréped over a weighted-average period of 2.8 yasusf December 31, 2014.

Common Stock Warrant—In 2012, in conjunction with the revolving andrteloan agreement (see Note 6), the Company issued a
warrant to purchase 13 thousand shares of commok at an exercise price of $5.70 per share withxairation date of April 2022. The
warrant is exercisable and outstanding at Dece®be?013 and December 31, 2014.

Restricted Stock Awards—In June 2011, in connection with the Performalglgugsition, the Company issued 220 thousand sludres
restricted common stock to former Performable eygsg. These shares were subject to repurchaseragtseand if the holder ceased to have
a business relationship with the Company, the Cowypauld repurchase any unvested shares of comtook seld by these individuals at
prices that ranged from $0.00143 to $0.855 pereshidrese shares were issued for no consideratabthanefore the fair value of these shares
of $1.2 million was recorded as compensation expener the vesting period. As of December 31, 2083Company’s right to repurchase the
RSAs had fully lapsed.

During 2012, the Company reclassified $2 thousatw stockholder’s deficit representing the amoumtdonger subject to repurchase for
90 thousand shares that vested during the yeamd@R6013, the Company reclassified $2 thousandstuokholder’s deficit representing the
amounts no longer subject to repurchase for 6 7stéd shares that vested during the year.

The activity for the RSAs for the year ended Decengd, 2013, is as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Restricted Share Grant-Date
(in thousands) Fair Value
Outstanding—January 1, 2013 67 $ 5.7C
Lapse in Company buyback rig (67) $ 5.7C

Outstandin—December 31, 201 _

Restricted Stock Units—RSUs vest upon achievement of a service conditimha performance condition. As soon as practicable
following each vesting date, the Company will istm¢he holder of the RSUs the number of sharemofmon stock equal to the aggregate
number of RSUs that have vested. Notwithstandiegdhegoing, the Company may, in its sole discretio lieu of issuing shares of common
stock to the holder of the RSUs, pay the holdesrapunt in cash equal to the fair market value ohsthares of common stock. The
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service condition is a time-based condition metr@period of four years, with 25% met after onaryand then in equal monthly installments
over the succeeding three years. The performanuditem is met upon a sale event or six monthofeihg the Companyg IPO, which was n
considered probable as of December 31, 2013 ameftine no stock-based compensation expense wasleztim the consolidated financial
statements as of that date. Upon completion o€itrapany’s IPO the Company began recording stockébasmpensation expense based on
the grant-date fair value of the RSUs using thelecated attribution method for RSUs granted piaats IPO and using the straight-line
method for RSUs granted following its IPO, net sfimated forfeitures. The stock compensation expassociated with RSUs where the
service condition had been met prior to the IPO alas recognized on the date of the IPO, usingtitelerated attribution method. The total
stock-based compensation expense expected to dreleelcover the remaining life of outstanding RS&Japproximately $10.5 million at
December 31, 2014. That cost is expected to begrépad over a weighted-average period of 3.3 yasiaf December 31, 2014. As of
December 31, 2014 there are 905 thousand RSUstexecvest with an aggregate intrinsic value d.43nillion.

The following table summarizes the activity relatedRSUs for the year ended December 31, 2014:

RSUs Outstanding

Shares (in Weighted-Average Grant

thousands Date Fair Value Per Shari

Unvested and outstanding at December 31, 2013 85¢ $ 13.2¢
Granted 784 $ 20.5¢
Vested — $ —
Cancelec (26€) $ 13.4:
Unvested and outstanding at December 31, : 1,37¢ $ 17.4C

13. Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On September 25, 2014, the Company’s board of tdire@dopted and the Company’s stockholders apgringee2014 Employee Share
Purchase Plan (the “2014 ESPP”). The 2014 ESPRizeeffective upon the closing of the Company’s IF@e 2014 ESPP authorizes the
issuance of up to a total of 394,710 shares of comstock to participating employees, and allowgilelé employees to purchase shares of
common stock at a 15% discount from the fair mavisdite of the stock as determined on specific dattesx-month intervals. The offering
periods generally start on the first trading dayoomfter January Sand July Bstof each year.

14. Income Taxes

Loss before provision for income taxes was as fadto

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands)
United State: $(49,63¢) $(34,397)  $(18,35%)
Foreign 1,318 11¢ (420
Total $(48,32) $(34,279) $(18,77%)
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The following reconciles the differences betweeatoine taxes computed at the federal statutory fe28% and the provision for income
taxes:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Expected income tax benefit at the federal stayutaie $ 16,91 $ 11,997 $6,57-
State tax net of federal bene 1,70¢ 1,197 653
Stoclk-based compensatic (88¢) (830) (462)
Difference in foreign tax rate 28¢ 27 (95)
Research and development cre 1,331 444 14C
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass (16,839 (12,367 (6,959
Expired state net operating los: (1,880 —

Other (545) (46€) 151
Income tax benefi $ 92 $ — $ —

In 2014, the Company had a current state and foieigpme tax expense of $(20) thousand and $(IRjstind, respectively, and a
deferred foreign income tax benefit of $124 thodsan

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities—Deferred income taxes reflect the net effecteoffdorary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financialamimg purposes and the amounts used for incompugposes. Significant components of the
Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities vasréollows:

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 46,61t $ 35,07° $ 23,81(
Research and investment cres 2,33¢ 98¢ 541
Accruals and reserve 3,42 2,43( 2,02t
Depreciatior 372 172 20z
Stoclk-based compensatic 5,40¢ 39t 124
Total deferred tax asse $ 58,15 $ 39,06( $ 26,702
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible and prepaid ass! (2,367%) (57) (123
Capitalized cost (447) (620 (563)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (2,80¢) (677) (68€)
Valuation allowanct (55,22) (38,389 (26,016
Net deferred tax asse $ 124 $ — $ —

The Company reviews all available evidence to eatalits recovery of deferred tax assets, includsgecent history of accumulated
losses in all tax jurisdictions over the most rédhree years as well as its ability to generatemne in future periods. The Company has
provided a valuation allowance against its U.S.dedérred tax assets as it is more likely thantimat these assets will not be realized given the
nature of the assets and the likelihood of futuilezation.

The valuation allowance increased by $16.8 millim2014, $12.4 million in 2013, and $7.0 million2012 due to the increase in the
deferred tax assets by approximately the same am@orimarily due to the increase in the net opegabss carryforwards).
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U.S. income taxes on the undistributed earningh®fCompany’s two non-U.S. subsidiaries have nenhlpgovided for as the Company
currently plans to indefinitely reinvest these amsiand has the ability to do so. Cumulative umidisted foreign earnings were not
material at December 31, 2014 and December 31,. 20&63Company does not believe it is practicablestimate with reasonable accuracy the
hypothetical amount of the unrecognized deferrgdigdility on undistributed foreign earnings gividre many factors and assumptions
required to estimate the taxable amount after smluéor available foreign tax credits.

The Company had federal and state net operatisgclmsyforwards of $124.3 million and $79.7 milljoaspectively at December 31,
2014, which expire at various dates through 203%& Company has generated net operating loss caxaffds from stock compensation
deductions and the amount of federal and statesexe& benefits totaling $1.5 million will be crel to additional paid-in capital when
realized.

The Company had federal research and developmedit carryforwards of $2.7 million at December 3Q14 that expire at various da
through 2034. The Company also has state reseadcimzestment credit carryforwards of $1.7 milland $320 thousand, respectively that
expire at various dates through 2034.

On December 19, 2014 the Tax Increase PreventionvAs signed into law. The Act contains provisitimst extended the federal
research credit through the end of 2014. The fédesaarch credit provisions had previously expaethe end of 2013. A benefit of $839
thousand for 2014 federal research credit is reften the financial statements.

Uncertain Tax Positions—The Company accounts for uncertainty in incomesaxsing a two-step process. The Company first
determines whether it is more likely than not thaax position will be sustained upon examinatigrhe tax authority, including resolutions of
any related appeals or litigation processes, basadchnical merit. If a tax position meets the ealikely-than-not recognition threshold it is
then measured to determine the amount of benefiédognize in the financial statements. The taxtioosis measured as the largest amount o
benefit that is greater than 50% likely of beinglized upon ultimate settlement.

The following summarizes activity related to unrgieized tax benefits:

Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Unrecognized bene—beginning of the yez $1,03( $ 667 $552
Gross increas—current period position 683 363 11F
Unrecognized bene—end of perioc $1,71% $1,03( $667

All of the unrecognized tax benefits decrease defetax assets with a corresponding decrease wmthation allowance. None of the
unrecognized tax benefits would affect the Compsueffective tax rate if recognized in the future.

The Company has elected to recognize interest andlfies related to uncertain tax positions asnapoment of income tax expense. No
interest or penalties have been recorded througiembker 31, 2014,

The Company does not expect any significant chamge unrecognized tax benefits within the next@nths.

The Company files tax returns in the United Stdtesand, Australia, and various state jurisdictioAll of the Company’s tax years
remain open to examination by major taxing jurisidits to which the Company is subject, as carryéodhattributes generated in past years
may still be adjusted upon examination by the heér
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Revenue Service or state and foreign tax authsiititney have or will be used in future periodeeTCompany is routinely examined by
various taxing authorities. The Company does npeekthat the results of ongoing examinations maNe a material effect on its financial
condition or results of operations.

15. Employee Benefit Plan

In July 2008, the Company established a definedritanion savings plan under Section 401(k) of ititernal Revenue Code. This plan
covers substantially all employees who meet mininag® and service requirements and allows partitspandefer a portion of their annual
compensation on a pretax basis, subject to legutidiions. Fiscal year 2013 was the first yearGoenpany made matching contributions to the
401(k) Plan. Total contributions were $549 thousan2014 and $366 thousand in 2013.

16. Quarterly Financial Results (unaudited)

Fourth Third Second First
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(in thousands, except per share amount:

Year ended December 31, 2C

Revenue $34,157 $30,44t  $27,09¢  $24,17:
Cost of revenu 10,52: 9,70¢ 8,73¢ 8,11«
Gross profit 23,63t 20,74 18,35¢ 16,06(
Net loss (19,69 (10,799 (8,279 (9,46%)
Net loss attributable to common stockholc (19,989 (10,80¢) (8,297 (9,479
Basic and diluted net loss attributable to comntonlkolders per sha $ (069 $ (1.8 $ (149 $ (1.79
Year ended December 31, 2C

Revenue $22,37¢ $20,17¢ $18,33¢  $16,74(
Cost of revenu 7,87( 7,38z 7,347 6,44(
Gross profit 14,50¢ 12,791 10,98¢ 10,30(
Net loss (8,425 (9,51 (8,807 (7,536
Net loss attributable to common stockholc (8,439 (9,529 (8,816 (7,549)
Basic and diluted net loss attributable to comntonlkdolders per sha $ (163 $ (185 $ (.79 $ (1.50
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ITEM 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure

None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clarécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, fesluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as definediiedRl3a- 15(e) and 15d- 15(e) under the SecuHtebange Act of 1934, as amended (the
Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covésethis Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on sudiuation, our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer have condkd that as of such date, our disclosure contralgpaocedures were effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not includeort of management’s assessment regarding ithtsongol over financial
reporting or an attestation report of the Compangégstered public accounting firm due to a traosiperiod established by rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission for newly putdimpanies.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ifiand Chief Financial Officer, does not expect tha disclosure controls and
procedures or our internal controls will preverteators and all fraud. A control system, no mattew well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assuraratdtib objectives of the control system are metaBse of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can pi®absolute assurance that all control issuesramtances of fraud, if any, within the
Company have been detected. These inherent lionigathclude the realities that judgments in deaisitaking can be faulty, and that
breakdowns can occur because of a simple erroiisiake. Additionally, controls can be circumvenbgdthe individual acts of some persons,
by collusion of two or more people, or by managenoserride of the control. The design of any systdroontrols also is based in part upon
certain assumptions about the likelihood of fuewvents, and there can be no assurance that amgnadeidiisucceed in achieving its stated goal
under all potential future conditions. Over timentrols may become inadequate because of changesditions, or the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deterioratedBise of the inherent limitations in a cost-effecttontrol system, misstatements due to errc
or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting during our most recently contptefiscal quarter that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenglly affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

ITEM 9B. Other Information
None.
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ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace
The following table provides information regardiogr executive officers, directors and other key lyges as of December 31, 2014:

Name Age Position(s)
Executive Officer

Brian Halligan 47  Chief Executive Officer and Chairmi
Dharmesh Sha 47  Chief Technology Officer and Direct:

John Kellehe 49  General Counst

John Kinzel 46  Chief Financial Office

Hunter Madele) 48  Senior Vice President, Global Sa

J.D. Shermal 49 President and Chief Operating Offic

Nor-Employee Director

Stacey Bishop (1) (= 42  Director
Larry Bohn (2)(3) 63 Director
Ron Gill (1) 48 Director
Lorrie Norrington (3) 55 Director
Michael Simon (2 49 Director
David Skok (1)(2) 59 Director

Other Key Employee

Frank Augel 47  Vice President, Service

Brad Coffey 33 Vice President, Product Strategy and Corporate Dpugent
Alison Elworthy 30 Vice President, Operatiol

Jim C Neill 43  Chief Information Officel

Eric Richard 41  Vice President, Engineerir

Mike Volpe 39 Chief Marketing Officel

(1) Member of the audit committe
(2) Member of the compensation committ
(3) Member of the nominating and corporate governapoendittee.

Each executive officer serves at the discretioauwfboard of directors and holds office until hiesessor is duly elected and qualified or
until his earlier resignation or removal. There apefamily relationships among any of our directorexecutive officers.

Executive Officers

Brian Halligan, a founder of our company, has served as our ckesfugive officer and a member of our board of dwex since 2005,
and has served as chairman of our board of diresiace March 2014. Mr. Halligan
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is also an author and a senior lecturer at the Mdmwsetts Institute of Technology, or MIT. Prioféanding HubSpot, Mr. Halligan served as
venture partner at Longworth Ventures. From 2006} 2804, he also worked as the vice presidenatdsof Groove Networks, which was
later acquired by Microsoft. Mr. Halligan servestbe boards of directors of Fleetmatics Group odal provider of fleet management
solutions. We believe that as a founder, and basddr. Halligan’s knowledge of our company and business and his service as our chief
executive officer, Mr. Halligan is qualified to seron our board of directors.

Dharmesh Shah a founder of our company, has served as our abi¢itology officer and a member of our board ofadoes since
2005. Prior to HubSpot, he was founder and chietative officer of Pyramid Digital Solutions, a sefre company, which was acquired by
SunGard Data Systems in 2005. Mr. Shah is alsawdmaand angel investor. We believe that as adeuyrand based on Mr. Shatknowledg
of our company and our business and his serviceiiashief technology, Mr. Shah is qualified to seon our board of directors.

John Kelleherhas served as our general counsel since June R@#ously, from 2003, Mr. Kelleher served as theiar vice president
and general counsel of Endeca Technologies ustédtuisition by Oracle in December 2011. Pridrisolegal career, Mr. Kelleher was a
Lieutenant in the U.S. Navy.

John Kinzerhas served as our chief financial officer since &mnber 2013. From 2012 to 2013, prior to joining Bpbt, he served as the
chief financial officer of BackOffice Associates.ofm 2001 to 2012, Mr. Kinzer worked for Blackboasdrving as chief financial officer from
2010 to 2012. He has also worked at MCI and Artinaersen.

Hunter Madeleyhas served as our senior vice president globas satee April 2014. After a sabbatical, Mr. Madeteyved as a vice
president commercial sales at salesforce.com frepteégnber 2010 to March 2014. From 2002 to 2004 M&deley served in several
leadership roles at ADP, including as a vice prsicdales and a director of sales.

J.D. Shermanhas served as our chief operating officer sincech&012 and as our president since March 2014. @b to 2012,
Mr. Sherman served as the chief financial offideAkamai Technologies. From 1990 to 2005, he semmadhrious positions at IBM including
as vice president of financial planning and asststantroller of corporate financial strategy andiets. He currently serves on the board of
directors of Cypress Semiconductor.

Non-Employee Directors

Stacey Bishofhas served as a member of our board of directocg glugust 2013. Ms. Bishop is a Managing Direofdcale Venture
Partners and has been a venture capital invest&cfae since 1999. Ms. Bishop focuses on investir®paS and digital marketing companies
and serves on the boards of directors of severadtprsoftware companies. We believe that Ms. BisBajualified to serve as a director based
on her experience as a seasoned investor and kigevid the industry in which we operate.

Larry Bohn has served as a member of our board of directoce siuly 2007. Mr. Bohn is a Managing Director @n@ral Catalyst
Partners, a venture capital firm, which he joinre@002. Prior to joining General Catalyst, Mr. Ba@rved as the president, chief executive
officer and chairman of the board of directors eft@enesis, a leading software and analytic solstgovider. Mr. Bohn has also served as
President of PC Docs a developer of document manegesoftware for enterprise networks. He curres¢igves on the board of directors of
Demandware and on the board of directors of sepenate software and technology companies, inclgdBlackDuck, BigCommerce,
GoodData and Yottaa. We believe that Mr. Bohn lifjed to serve as a director based on his expeei@s a seasoned investor and a curren
and former director of many companies, and his kadge of the industry in which we operate.
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Ron Gill has served as a member of our board of directocg siune 2012. Mr. Gill has held multiple positiandNetSuite, Inc. since
joining in 2007 and has served as chief finandiiter since 2010. Prior to joining NetSuite, Roaswice president, finance at Hyper
Solutions. Previously, he held a variety of finahgiositions with several technology companieduidiog SAP, Dell and Sony. We believe t
Mr. Gill is qualified to serve as director basedhis broad industry experience and extensive firdigadership experience.

Lorrie Norrington has served as a member of our board of directoce September 2013. Ms. Norrington currently seagean advisor
to Lead Edge Capital, a private equity firm, wheine also serves as an operating partner, andadveor to several technology businesses.
Prior to Lead Edge, Norrington was the PresiderB#y Marketplaces, eBay, an online marketplace ,senved in several roles at eBay from
2005 to 2010. Prior to joining eBay, she was thefaxecutive officer of Shopping.com from 20052@06 and was an executive vice presit
at Intuit from 2001 to 2005. Ms. Norrington senggsthe board of directors of Autodesk and DIRECWE believe that Ms. Norrington is
qualified to serve as a director based on her birdustry experience and experience as a currehfaamer director of many companies.

Michael Simonhas served as a member of our board of directoce siune 2011. Since 2003, Mr. Simon has servdtka-founder,
chairman and chief executive officer of LogMeln..N8imon also serves on the Graduate Studies AdviSouncil at the University of Notre
Dame. We believe that Mr. Simon is qualified toveeais a director based on his broad industry aamElship experience.

David Skokhas served as a member of our board of directoce $ilay 2008. Since 2001, Mr. Skok has served@esreeral Partner at
Matrix Partners. Mr. Skok currently serves on tbards of directors of several private companies.

We believe that Mr. Skok is qualified to serve aliractor based on his experience as a seasoneskamand a current and former
director of many companies and his knowledge ofridestry in which we operate.

Other Key Employees

Frank Auger has served in multiples roles since joining HubSpa@tpril 2010, including as the director of custnsupport, director of
customer quality, director of customer operatialigctor of account management and customer opesa#ind in his current role as vice
president of services. From 2008 to 2010, he seagedtie chief executive officer of Metallect.

Brad Coffeyjoined us in December 2007 as director, operatmkshas served as our vice president of prodwtiesly and corporate
development since January 2012. Prior to joiningp$faot, he was a consultant at PRTM, a managemasultimg subsidiary of
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Alison Elworthy has served in multiple roles since joining HubSpokugust 2011, including as our director of opinas, senior
manager of sales operations, manager of markefisgations and in her current role as vice presidéoperations. Prior to joining HubSpot,
Ms. Elworthy attended the Tuck School of Busindddatmouth from 2009 to 2011. From 2006 to 200 served as a user experience
specialist at Fidelity Investments.

Jim O’Neill has served as our chief information officer sin@872 Prior to joining HubSpot, Mr. O’Neill served the chief technology
officer and president of Pyramid Digital Solutiamtil its acquisition by SunGard Data Systems i@20ollowing the sale, he joined SunGarc
as a senior vice president and chief technologgextf

Eric Richard has served as our vice president engineering sinogember 2013. Prior to joining HubSpot, Mr. Riathaerved as senior
vice president engineering at Compete from Oct@B8i7 to November 2013.
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Mike Volpejoined HubSpot in March 2007 and currently sensew chief marketing officer. From 2003 to 200fiopto joining
HubSpot, Mr. Volpe served in various roles at Séatks including as director of marketing operatiamsl marketing manager.

Board Composition

Our board of directors is currently composed oheigembers. Our certificate of incorporation anthts provide that the number of our
directors shall be fixed from time to time by aalesion of the majority of our board of directof3ur board of directors is divided into three
staggered classes of directors. At each annualimgegft stockholders, a class of directors is el@éte a three-year term to succeed the same
class of directors whose terms are then expirihg. fEerms of the directors expire upon the eleatioth qualification of successor directors a
annual meeting of stockholders to be held durintb2or the Class | directors, 2016 for the Clagdiréctors and 2017 for the Class llI
directors.

* Our Class | directors are Messrs. Halligan, Gill &ohn.
e Our Class Il directors are Ms. Norrington and MesShah and Sko

e Our Class lll directors are Ms. Bishop and Mr. Sir

The division of our board of directors into thréasses with staggered three-year terms may delpseoent a change of our managemen
or a change of control. See the section of thisuahReport on Form 10-K captioned “Description @fpfal Stock—Anti-Takeover Effects of
Delaware Law and Our Amended and Restated Cet#fichincorporation and Amended and Restated Byléovsa discussion of other anti-
takeover provisions found in our certificate ofdngoration and bylaws.

Director Independence

Under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange\¥SE, independent directors must comprise a mgjofia listed company’s board
of directors within a specified period of the coetfn of its offering. In addition, the rules of I$¥ require that, subject to specified
exceptions, each member of a listed company’s acmlihpensation and nominating and corporate gomemeommittees be independent.
Under the rules of NYSE, a director will only qdglas an “independent director” if, in the opiniohthat company’s board of directors, that
person does not have a relationship that wouldfere with the exercise of independent judgmentairrying out the responsibilities of a
director.

Audit committee members must also satisfy the iedepnce criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 underSkeurities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended. In order to be considered independeptifposes of Rule 10A-3, a member of an auditroitee of a listed company may not,
other than in his or her capacity as a membereftidit committee, the board of directors or amgoboard committee: (1) accept, directly or
indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other comgatory fee from the listed company or any of uisssdiaries or (2) be an affiliated person of
the listed company or any of its subsidiaries.

On January 22, 2015, our board of directors und&réoreview of its composition, the compositioritefcommittees and the
independence of each director. Based upon infoomaquested from and provided by each directocearing his background, employment
and affiliations, our board of directors has defead that, none of the members of the board otthrs, except for Messrs. Halligan and Shah
has a relationship that would interfere with thereise of independent judgment in carrying outrigponsibilities of a director and that eac
these directors is “independent” as that term fsdd under the rules of NYSE. Our board of direstalso determined that Ms. Bishop and
Messrs. Gill and Skok, who comprise our audit cotteai Messrs. Bohn, Simon and Skok, who compriseompensation committee, and
Mr. Bohn and Mses. Bishop and Norrington, who cdegour corporate governance and nominating coraejitatisfy the independence
standards for those committees established byl SEC rules and the rules of NYSE. In making th
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determination, our board of directors consideredréhationships that each non-employee directomlidsour company and all other facts and
circumstances our board of directors deemed retématetermining their independence, including bleaeficial ownership of our capital stock
by each non-employee director.

Board Leadership Structure and Role of the Board irRisk Oversight

Mr. Halligan serves as our chief executive offiaad as chairman of the board. The board of diredielieves that having our chief
executive officer as chairman of the board fadisathe board of directors’decision-making prodessause Mr. Halligan has first-hand
knowledge of our operations and the major issueisdeus. This also enables Mr. Halligan to acthaskey link between the board of directors
and other members of management.

Our board of directors has appointed Ms. Norringtoserve as our lead independent director. Asile@debendent director,
Ms. Norrington presides over periodic meetingswfiodependent directors, serves as a liaison legtwer chairman of the board of directors
and the independent directors and performs suciti@uil duties as our board of directors may othsewdetermine and delegate.

One of the key functions of our board of directsrsxformed oversight of our risk management prec&ur board of directors does not
have a standing risk management committee, butraithministers this oversight function directlyaihgh the board of directors as a whole, as
well as through its standing committees that addris&s inherent in their respective areas of aghtsin particular, our board of directors is
responsible for monitoring and assessing stratégloexposure. Our audit committee is responsibtedviewing and discussing our major
financial risk exposures and the steps our managehas taken to monitor and control these exposurelsiding guidelines and policies with
respect to risk assessment and risk managemenauditrcommittee also monitors compliance with legal regulatory requirements, in
addition to oversight of the performance of oureexal audit function. Our corporate governancerardinating committee monitors the
effectiveness of our corporate governance guideli@ar compensation committee reviews and discubsessks arising from our
compensation philosophy and practices applicabédl employees that are reasonably likely to hawgaterially adverse effect on us.

Board Committees

Our board of directors has an audit committee,rapsmsation committee and a corporate governance@m¢hating committee, each of
which has the composition and responsibilities dieed below. The audit committee, compensation catamand corporate governance and
nominating committee all operate under chartersaul by our board of directors, which are avadatrh our website.

Audit committee

Our audit committee oversees our corporate acaogiatnd financial reporting process and assistbdlaed of directors in monitoring our
financial systems and our legal and regulatory d@npe. Our audit committee will also:

» oversee the work of our independent registeredigalstounting firm

« approve the hiring, discharging and compensatiauofindependent registered public accounting f

e approve engagements of the independent registeitdit @ccounting firm to render any audit or pesib&e not-audit services
» review the qualifications and independence of tlikependent registered public accounting fi

* monitor the rotation of partners of the independegistered public accounting firm on our engagenesm as required by la)
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» review our consolidated financial statements anéeve our critical accounting policies and estima

» review the adequacy and effectiveness of our iaterontrols; anc

» review and discuss with management and thepiertdent registered public accounting firm the itssefl our annual audit and our
interim consolidated financial statemer

The members of our audit committee are Ms. BisltrapMessrs. Gill and Skok. Mr. Gill is our audit canittee chairman. Our board of
directors has concluded that the composition ofamdit committee meets the requirements for indépece under, and the functioning of our
audit committee complies with, the current requieats of and SEC rules and regulations, and Mr.i&dh audit committee financial expert

defined under SEC rules and regulations.

Compensation committee
Our compensation committee oversees our corpoaagensation programs. The compensation committéaleo:

* review and approve corporate goals and objestielevant to compensation of our chief execuiffieer and other executive
officers;

» evaluate the performance of our executive offieetgyht of established goals and objectiv
» review and recommend compensation of our execofiieers based on its evaluatiot
e review and recommend compensation of our directord
« administer the issuance of stock options and aherds under our stock plai
The members of our compensation committee are EeBshn, Simon and Skok. Mr. Simon is the chairmfour compensation

committee. Our board of directors has determinatig¢hch of Messrs. Bohn, Simon and Skok is “inddpeti for compensation committee
purposes as that term is defined under the apdicates.

Nominating and corporate governance committee

Our corporate governance and nominating committeesees and assists our board of directors inwévieand recommending corpor
governance policies and nominees for election tdboard of directors. The corporate governancermmdinating committee also:

» evaluates and makes recommendations regardingdghairation and governance of the board of direcamd its committee

» assesses the performance of members of thd bbdirectors and makes recommendations regaingnittee and chair
assignments

» reviews and makes recommendations with regaodit corporate succession plans for our chiefetez officer and other
executive officers

« recommends desired qualifications for boardiofctors membership and conducts searches fontitenembers of the board of
directors; anc

» reviews and makes recommendations with regard tcaporate governance guidelin

The members of our corporate governance and noiminedmmittee are Mr. Bohn and Mses. Bishop andiiNgton. Ms. Norrington is
the chairman of our corporate governance and ndmgmaommittee. Our board of directors has deteedithat each member of our corporate
governance and nominating committee is indepenaisaiér the applicable rules of NYSE.
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Our board of directors may from time to time esstbbther committees.

Director Compensation

The following table presents the total compensafwreach person who served as a non-employee mievhbar board of directors
during 2014. Other than as set forth in the tahkk described more fully below, we did not pay aogpnpensation, make any equity awards or
non-equity awards to, or pay any other compensati@my of the non-employee members of our boadirettors in 2014. Mr. Halligan and
Mr. Shah, who are also our chief executive offiged chief technology officer, respectively, recaicecompensation for their services as
directors and, consequently, are not includedigttible. The compensation received by Mr. Halligaring 2014 is set forth in the section of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K captioned “Execet@ompensation— Summary Compensation Table.”

Option

Awards Stock
Name 1) Awards(2) Total
Ron Gill $31,63: $100,00! $131,63¢
Michael Simor $31,63: $100,00! $131,63t

(1) Our board of directors granted these awardsiite 2014. The amount reported represents thegaggrgrant date fair value of the stock
options, calculated in accordance with FASB ASCi&a[d8. Such grant date fair value does not tateancount any estimated
forfeitures related to service-vesting conditiofise assumptions used in calculating the grantfd@t@alue are set forth in the notes to
our audited consolidated financial stateme

(2) Our board of directors granted these awardsiime 2014. The amounts reported represent thegajgrgrant-date fair value of the RSUs
awarded in 2014, calculated in accordance with A8fic 718. Such grant-date fair value does not tateeaccount any estimated
forfeitures related to service-vesting conditiofise assumptions used in calculating the grantfd@t@alue are set forth in the notes to
our audited consolidated financial stateme

In 2014 we did not maintain any standard fee amarents for the non-employee members of our boadire€tors for their service as a
director. We adopted a new non-employee directorpmmsation policy in connection with our IPO. Arigedtor affiliated with an investor in
our company that holds one percent or more of apital stock is not eligible to participate in then-employee director compensation policy.
Pursuant to this policy, each of our non-employieectbrs receives an annual grant of an optiorutchmse $35,000 worth of common stock
(equal to approximately 870 shares, based on pfi§d0.22 per share, the last reported sale pficeilocommon stock on the New York Stock
Exchange on March 4, 2015) and a RSUs grant fod 800 worth of common stock (equal to approximage#00 shares, based on price of
$40.22 per share, the last reported sale priceiof@mmon stock on the New York Stock Exchange amdd 4, 2015). The options and RSUs
vest in full on the first anniversary of the vegtstart date. All unvested options or RSUs hel@ Impn-employee director accelerate and
immediately vest if the non-employee director isri@mated within three months prior to or twelve rtianfollowing a change of control of our
company. The exercise price of the options and R8Ukt be greater than or equal to the fair mariktesof a share of our common stock at
the time of grant. Each of these directors alsaaliyreceives $25,000 for general availability gradticipation in meetings and conference
calls of our board of directors, to be paid qudytekdditionally, the audit committee chairpersamaally receives $15,000, an audit commi
member annually receives $5,000, the compensationmittee chairperson annually receives $10,000na@pensation committee member
annually receives $4,000, the nominating and ceeogovernance committee chairperson annuallyves&5,000 and a nominating and
corporate governance committee member annuallyves&3,000.

Our policy has been and will continue to be to tinse our non-employee directors for their traleging and other reasonable
expenses incurred in attending meetings of ourdbofdirectors and committees of the board of dec
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Directors who are employees do not receive any emsgtion for their service on our board of dirextor

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Partipation

During 2014, our compensation committee was coragrid Messrs. Bohn, Simon and Skok.

None of the members of our compensation commistea iofficer or employee of our company. None afexecutive officers currently
serves, or in the past year has served, as a marhtier board of directors or compensation committeany entity that has one or more
executive officers serving on our board of direstor compensation committee.

In October and November 2012, we issued and solthgregate of 6,267,336 shares of our Series Enpeef stock for an aggregate
purchase price of approximately $35,000,000. As @fthis offering, we sold an aggregate of 219,6B8res of our Series E preferred stoct
an aggregate purchase price of $1,233,446.69 iesrdaffiliated with Matrix Partners, of which MBkok is a general partner. We also sold ar
aggregate of 346,459 shares of Series E prefetveld for an aggregate purchase price of $1,945048®. entities affiliated with General
Catalyst Partners, of which Mr. Bohn is a geneeaitrer. We also sold an aggregate of 44,514 slofu®sries E preferred stock for an
aggregate purchase price of $249,999.53 to Mr. 8imo

For more information regarding sales of our preférstock, see “Certain Relationships and Relately Faansactions—Sales of
Preferred Stock.”

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a code of business conduct arab ¢htat is applicable to all of our employees,ogfifs and directors including our chief
executive officer and senior financial officers,iethis available on our website under “Investors—+gooate Governance.”

ITEM 11. Executive Compensatior
Executive Compensation Overview

Historically, our executive compensation program reflected our growth and development-orientegp@a@te culture. To date, the
compensation of Mr. Halligan, our chief executifgoer, and the other executive officers identifiadhe Summary Compensation Table
below, whom we refer to as our named executiveer§, has consisted of a combination of base satahfong-term incentive compensation
in the form of stock options. Our named executiffeeers and all salaried employees are also elgiblreceive health and welfare benefits.
engaged the services of an independent executimp&asation consulting firm to review our curreningensation plans and procedures and t
provide additional information about comparativenpensation offered by peer companies, market suinfesmation and information about
trends in executive compensation. At a minimum ewxgect to review executive compensation annualti wiput from a compensation
consultant. As part of this review process, we ekffee board of directors and the compensation citterto apply our values and philosophy,
while considering the compensation levels needeshsnire our executive compensation program rencaimpetitive. We will also review
whether we are meeting our retention objectives.
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table presents information regardihg total compensation awarded to, earned by, afmttp our chief executive officer
and the two most highly compensated executive effi¢other than the chief executive officer) whaevgerving as executive officers at the
of the last completed fiscal year for services ezad to us in all capacities for the year endedebdoer 31, 2014. Messrs. Halligan, Kinzer anc
Madeley are the named executive officers for 2044.Sherman’s compensation for the year ended Dbeeil, 2013 has been included in
the table below because he was a named execufigerdbr 2013.

Non-Equity
Stock Option Incentive Plan All Other

Name and Principal Positior Year Salary ($) Awards ($) Awards (3) Compensation ($®  Compensation ($ Total ($)
Brian Halligan 201¢ 259,56( 215,19Y1) 121,1042) 207,06« — 802,92¢

Chief Executive Office 201z 238,18 — — 132,37t 1,214(4) 371,77
John Kinzel 201¢ 265,00( — — 138,97( 234,84((5) 638,81¢

Chief Financial Officel 201z 43,16: —(6) 724,92(7) 36,21% 9,99¢4) 814,30t
Hunter Madele) 201¢ 210,93¢ 2,367,99(1) — 59,48¢ 78,85(5) 2,717,26!

Senior Vice President, Global Sz
J.D. Sherma 201z 259,56( — — 132,37t 1,231(4) 393,16’

President and Chief Operating

Officer

(1) The amounts reported represent the aggregate-date fair value of the restricted stock unitsRSUs awarded in 2014, calculated in
accordance with ASC Topic 718. Such grant-dateviaime does not take into account any estimatddifores related to service-vesting
conditions. The assumptions used in calculatingtiat-date fair value are set forth in the notesur audited consolidated financial
statements

(2) The amounts reported represent the aggregate-date fair value of the stock options awarde2idh4, calculated in accordance with
ASC Topic 718. Such grant-date fair value doegalks into account any estimated forfeitures relabeservice-vesting conditions. The
assumptions used in calculating the ¢-date fair value are set forth in the notes to auited consolidated financial statemel

(3) The amounts reported reflect performance-basgthents awarded based on the achievement ofrcedgiorate and individual
performance goals under our executive bonus |

(4) The amounts reported include 401(k) matching cbations, lon-term disability insurance premiums and certaingaiion benefits

(5) The amounts reported reflect comp-paid relocation expense

(6) Mr. Kinzer was granted 100,000 RSUs in conmectiith his hiring in 2013. The RSUs are subjedhi satisfaction of a service
condition and a performance condition, both of whitust be satisfied before the RSUs are vestednaydbe settled in shares of our
common stock. The service condition is satisfiedravperiod of four years. The performance conditidl be satisfied on the earlier of
(i) a sale of our company or (ii) April 9, 2015,either case, prior to the earlier of (A) the eafion date or (B) the tenth anniversary of
the grant date. These performance conditions wareansidered probable as of December 31, 2013remndfore there was no grant-date
fair value calculated in accordance with ASC Tofii8. Such grant-date fair value is $1,440,000 assyithat the highest level of
performance conditions will be achievt

(7) Mr. Kinzer was granted 99,999 stock optionaraexercise price of $14.40 in connection withHiigrg in 2013. The amounts reported
represent the aggregate grant-date fair valueeo$tibck options awarded to Mr. Kinzer in 2013, gkdted in accordance with ASC Topic
718. Such gra-date fair value does not take into account anynedtid forfeitures related to serv-vesting conditions
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table summarizes the outstanding gaivards held by each named executive officerf &ecember 31, 2014.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Market
Value of
Shares or Shares or
Number of Securities Units of Units of
Underlying Unexercised Option Stock That Stock That
Options (#) Exercise Option Have Not
Expiration Have Not Vested
Name Exercisable Unexercisable Price ($ Date Vested (#) $w
Brian Halligan 150,39'@ — 1.52 3/9/202( — —
88,873 44 45" 5.7¢ 5/8/202: — —
55,5514 77,78: 5.7¢ 5/8/202: — —
= 15,00( 16.1¢ 1/29/202: — =
— = = — 13,3347 448,12:
John Kinzel 27,80: 72,1976 14.4( 11/4/202: — —
— — — — 100,00(™ 3,361,001
Hunter Madele) — — — — 133,330 4,481,322,

(1) Amounts calculated in accordance with ASC Topic dgi®g a per share fair market value as of Decer®bg2014 of $33.6]

(2) 25% of the shares of our common stock subgettis option vest on March 9, 2011, and the baamests in 36 successive equal monthly
installments, subject to continued service throegth such vesting da

(3) 25% of the shares of our common stock subgettis option vest on April 1, 2013, and the batauwests in 36 successive equal monthly
installments, subject to continued service throegbth such vesting da

(4) 25% of the shares of our common stock subgetis option vest on April 1, 2014, and the batwests in 36 successive equal monthly
installments, subject to continued service throegbth such vesting da

(5) 25% of the shares of our common stock subgetis option vest on January 1, 2015, and thenlalaests in 36 successive equal
monthly installments, subject to continued sertiseugh each such vesting dz

(6) 25% of the shares of our common stock subgettis option vest on November 4, 2014, and tharza vests in 36 successive equal
monthly installments, subject to continued sertiseugh each such vesting dz

(7) The RSUs are subject to the satisfaction @raise condition and a performance condition, kafttvhich must be satisfied before the
RSUs are vested and may be settled in shares @boumon stock. The service condition is satisfieera period of four years. The
performance condition will be satisfied on the iearbf (i) a sale of our company or (ii) April 9025, in either case, prior to the earlier of
(A) the expiration date or (B) the tenth anniveysafrthe grant date

Employee Benefit Plans
2014 Stock Option and Incentive Plan

In September 2014, our board of directors, uporédhemmendation of the compensation committeembthard of directors, adopted
2014 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, or the 204 Rvhich was subsequently approved by our stddins. The 2014 Plan became effec
upon the completion of our IPO. The 2014 Plan regadathe 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 200T Pda our board of directors has
determined not to make additional awards underplzat. Our 2014 Plan provides flexibility to oumgpensation committee to use various
equity-based incentive awards as compensation toaistivate our workforce.

As of December 31, 2014, we have reserved 1,973bafes of our common stock, or the Initial Lirfot, the issuance of awards under
the 2014 Plan. The 2014 Plan provides that the eumibshares reserved and available for issuanderuhe plan automatically increases eacl
January 1, beginning on January 1, 2015, by 5%ebutstanding number of shares of our common sindke immediately preceding
December 31 or such lesser number of shares asnitetel by our compensation committee, or the Anhn@lease. This number is subject to
adjustment in the event of a stock split, stockddimd or other change in our capitalization.
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The shares we issue under the 2014 Plan are azgtdyut unissued shares or shares that we reacth&geshares of common stock
underlying any awards that are forfeited, canceledd back upon exercise or settlement of an awasatisfy the exercise price or tax
withholding, reacquired by us prior to vestingjsf&d without any issuance of stock, expire or@tteerwise terminated (other than by exerc
under the 2014 Plan and 2007 Plan are added balbk shares of common stock available for issuander the 2014 Plan.

Stock options and stock appreciation rights wigpeet to no more than 1,000,000 shares of stockbmayanted to any one individual in
any one calendar year and the maximum “performéased award” (as such term is used under Secti@m)@®f the Code) payable to any
one individual under the 2014 Plan is 1,000,000eshaf stock or $2,000,000 in the case of cashebasards. The maximum aggregate
number of shares that may be issued in the formoative stock options shall not exceed the Ihitimit cumulatively increased on Januan
2015 and on each January 1 thereafter by the le§tlee Annual Increase for such year or 1,000 £itdres of common stock.

The 2014 Plan is administered by our compensatiomaittee. Our compensation committee has full paweselect, from among the
individuals eligible for awards, the individualswdom awards will be granted, to make any combamagif awards to participants and to
determine the specific terms and conditions of eaeard, subject to the provisions of the 2014 Prarsons eligible to participate in the 2014
Plan are those full or part-time officers, emplas,a@n-employee directors and other key persortufimg consultants) as selected from time
to time by our compensation committee in its disore

The 2014 Plan permits the granting of both optiongurchase common stock intended to qualify asritiece stock options under
Section 422 of the Code and options that do naofusdify. The option exercise price of each optisnlétermined by our compensation
committee but may not be less than 100% of thenfiairket value of our common stock on the date afigiThe term of each option is fixed by
our compensation committee and may not exceed 4G yeom the date of grant. Our compensation cotemiletermines at what time or tin
each option may be exercised.

Our compensation committee may award stock appreaieghts subject to such conditions and restitt as we may determine. Stock
appreciation rights entitle the recipient to sharesommon stock, or cash, equal to the value efaghpreciation in our stock price over the
exercise price. The exercise price of each stopkeagation right may not be less than 100% of gierharket value of the common stock on
the date of grant.

Our compensation committee may award restricteteshaf common stock and RSUs to participants stibjesuch conditions and
restrictions as it may determine. These conditamts restrictions may include the achievement abageperformance goals and/or continued
employment with us through a specified vestingguerOur compensation committee may also grant stefreommon stock that are free from
any restrictions under the 2014 Plan. Unrestristedk may be granted to participants in recognitibpast services or other valid considera
and may be issued in lieu of cash compensationtasech participant.

Our compensation committee may grant performanasesiiwards to participants that entitle the reaipie receive shares of common
stock upon the achievement of certain performaadsgand such other conditions as our compensetiommittee shall determine. Our
compensation committee may grant cash bonuses thel@014 Plan to participants, subject to theeaahhent of certain performance goals.

Our compensation committee may grant awards oficesd stock, RSUs, performance shares or castdizsards under the 2014 Plan
that are intended to qualify as “performance-basedpensation” under Section 162(m) of the Code s&éhawards would only vest or become
payable upon the attainment of performance goalsate established by our compensation committdeelated to one or more performance
criteria. The performance criteria that would bedusiith respect to any such awards include: easridore interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization, net income (loss) (either beforefteranterest, taxes, depreciation
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and/or amortization), changes in the market prfoc@uo common stock, economic value-added, funds foperations or similar measure, sales
or revenue, acquisitions or strategic transactiopsrating income (loss), cash flow (including, bat limited to, operating cash flow and free
cash flow), return on capital, assets, equityngestment, stockholder returns, return on salessgor net profit levels, productivity, expense,
margins, operating efficiency, customer satisfagtiworking capital, earnings (loss) per share oflstsales or market shares and number of
customers, any of which may be measured eithdpsolate terms or as compared to any incremented@se or as compared to results of a
peer group.

The 2014 Plan provides that in the case of, anfgsuto, the consummation of a “sale event” asragfiin the 2014 Plan, all outstanding
awards may be assumed, substituted or otherwideaed by the successor entity. Pursuant to thedasf option agreement, restricted stock
agreement and restricted stock unit agreement,ruhd€014 Plan, in the case of a sale event ichvbitstanding awards are assumed,
substituted or otherwise continued by a succestityeand the award holder’'s employment or servédationship with us terminates, such
holder’'s awards shall vest in full as of the ddteeomination if such termination occurs (i) withli2 months after such sale event or 90 days
prior to such sale event and (ii) such terminaisoby us without “cause,” as defined in the apfileaaward agreement, or by the award holder
for “good reason”ds defined in the applicable award agreement)h&@ktent that the successor entity does not assuhbstitute or otherwit
continue such awards, then (i) all stock optiors stock appreciation rights will automatically beeofully exercisable and the restrictions anc
conditions on all other awards with time-based déorts will automatically be deemed waived, and edsavith conditions and restrictions
relating to the attainment of performance goals imegome vested and non-forfeitable in connectidh wisale event in the compensation
committee’s discretion and (ii) upon the effectiges of the sale event, all stock options and sapgkeciation rights will automatically
terminate. In the event of such termination, indiigls holding options and stock appreciation rigtitsbe permitted to exercise such options
and stock appreciation rights prior to the saleneva addition, in connection with a sale eveng, nmvay make or provide for a cash payment to
participants holding options and stock appreciatights equal to the difference between the peresbash consideration payable to
stockholders in the sale event and the exercise pfithe options or stock appreciation rights.

Our board of directors may amend or discontinue2tie? Plan and our compensation committee may amecancel outstanding awa
for purposes of satisfying changes in law or for ather lawful purpose, but no such action may eblg affect rights under an award without
the holder’s consent. Certain amendments to thd Bldn require the approval of our stockholders.

No awards may be granted under the 2014 Planthitettate that is 10 years from the date of stoddrapproval. No awards under the
2014 Plan have been made prior to the date hereof.

2007 Equity Incentive Plan

Our 2007 Plan was approved by our board of direcod our stockholders on June 9, 2007 and wasnexesttly amended in February
2014. As of December 31, 2014, we have authoripeaygregate of 8,612,809 shares of our common $todke issuance of options and ot
equity awards under the 2007 Plan. This numbeubgest to adjustment in the event of a stock sgldck dividend or other change in our
capitalization. Effective as of the closing of dBO, our board of directors determined not to geamt further awards under our 2007 Plan. Thi
shares we issue under the 2007 Plan are authdri#athissued shares or shares we reacquire. BraurtIPO, the shares of common stock
underlying any awards that are forfeited, canceleacquired by us prior to vesting, satisfied withihe issuance of stock or otherwise
terminated (other than by exercise) under the 287 were added back to the shares of common atailable for issuance under the 2007
Plan. Effective upon the closing of our IPO, sulsarss are added to the shares of common stoclablaibr issuance under the 2014 Plan.

The 2007 Plan is administered by our compensatomaittee. The board of directors and the compemsaibmmittee have the authority
to select the individuals to whom awards will barged, to make
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any combination of awards to participants, to ameeé the exercisability or vesting of any awaodyrovide substitute awards and to determin
the specific terms and conditions of each award.

The 2007 Plan permits us to make grants of incerstigck options and non-qualified stock optionstrieted stock awards, unrestricted
stock awards and other stock-based awards sucBlds ® our officers, employees, directors, constdtand other key persons.

The 2007 Plan permits the granting of (1) optianpurchase common stock intended to qualify asitiee stock options under
Section 422 of the Code and (2) options that desnatualify. The option exercise price of eachapts determined by our board or directors
or our compensation committee but may not be tees 100% of the fair market value of the commoglstin the date of grant. In the case of
an Incentive Stock Option granted to a participaimd, at the time of grant of such option, owns lst@presenting more than 10% of the votinc
power of all classes of stock of the Company, tivenexercise price may not be less than 110% diihenarket value of the common stock
the date of grant. The term of each option wilfized by the board of directors or the compensatiemmittee and may not exceed 10 years
from the date of grant.

The 2007 Plan provides that upon the occurrene@eabiange of control, awards may be assumed, sutbstifor new awards of a
successor entity, or otherwise continued or tertethat the effective time of such sale event. Ransto the forms of option agreement,
restricted stock agreement and restricted stodkagmeement, in each case, under the 2007 Pldme icase of a sale event in which outstan
awards are assumed, substituted or otherwise cmttiny a successor entity, and the award hadariployment or service relationship with
terminates, such holder’s awards shall vest indsilof the date of termination if such terminatacurs (i) within 12 months after such sale
event or 90 days prior to such sale event and(ith termination is by us without “cause,” as dediin the applicable award agreement, or by
the award holder for “good reason” (as definechmdpplicable award agreement). To the extenthigasuccessor entity does not assume,
substitute or otherwise continue such awards, (el stock options and stock appreciation righth automatically become fully exercisable
and the restrictions and conditions on all otheams with time-based conditions will automaticdlly deemed waived, and awards with
conditions and restrictions relating to the attaemtnof performance goals may become vested andarnfgitable in connection with a sale
event in the compensation committee’s discretiah @hupon the effectiveness of the sale evemstakck options and stock appreciation rights
will automatically terminate. We may make or pravidr cash payment to holders of options equah¢adifference between the per share cas
consideration in the sale event and the exercise pv the holders of vested and exercisable optidte may make or provide for cash payn
to holders of restricted stock and RSUs awardsiaraount equal to the product of the per share cassideration and the number of shares
subject to each such award.

Our board of directors may amend, suspend or tetmithe 2007 Plan at any time, subject to stocldi@gproval where such approval is
required by applicable law. The board of directoesy also amend, modify or terminate any outstandimgrd, provided that no amendment to
an award may materially impair any of the rightagfarticipant under any awards previously gramtidhout his or her written consent.

Employee Share Purchase Plan

In September 2014 our board of directors adopteldoan stockholders approved the ESPP. The ESPBragh the issuance of up to a
total of 394,710 shares of common stock to pauwiiily employees. The ESPP provides that the nuoflsrares reserved and available for
issuance under the ESPP shall be cumulatively aset each January 1, beginning on January 1, BgXBe lesser of 1% percent of the
outstanding number of shares of our common stodkemmmediately preceding December 31 or sucletaasmber of shares as determined
by our compensation committee. The number of shasesved and available for issuance under the ES8Ubject to adjustment in the event
of a stock split, stock dividend or other changeun capitalization.

All employees who we have employed for at leasti®@s and whose customary employment is for mone 20shours a week are eligible
to participate in the ESPP. Any employee who ow¥sos more of the voting power or value of our seasEcommon stock is not eligible to
purchase shares under the ESPP.
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We will make one or more offerings each year toemployees to purchase shares under the ESPPir3thaffering began on January 1,
2015 and will end on the last business day ocagiwimor before June 30, 2015. Subsequent offewiiigsommence at such time or times as
our board of directors may determine, which we ekpebe on each January 1 and July 1 and willicoatfor sixmonth periods, referred to
offering periods. Each eligible employee may eteqiarticipate in any offering by submitting an@hment form at least 15 days before the
relevant offering date.

Each employee who is a participant in the ESPP poaghase shares by authorizing payroll deductiéngdo 15% of his or her base
compensation during an offering period. Unlessphicipating employee has previously withdrawmirthe offering, his or her accumulated
payroll deductions will be used to purchase shafeemmon stock on the last business day of therioif period at a price equal to 85% of the
fair market value of the ordinary shares on th&t fiusiness day or the last business day of tlegiodf period, whichever is lower, provided t
no more than 300,000 shares of common stock maytmhased by any one employee during each off@@nipd. Under applicable tax rules,
an employee may purchase no more than $25,000 wbdidinary shares, valued at the start of thelpase period, under the ESPP in any
calendar year.

The accumulated payroll deductions of any emplayke is not a participant on the last day of anrififg period will be refunded. An
employee’s rights under the ESPP terminate upountaty withdrawal from the plan or when the emplogeases employment with us for any
reason.

The ESPP may be terminated or amended by our lodaidectors at any time. An amendment that inazeake number of shares of
common stock that are authorized under the ESPRentain other amendments require the approvaliostockholders.

Senior Executive Cash Incentive Bonus Plan

In August 2014 our board of directors adopted thei@& Executive Cash Incentive Bonus Plan, or theuB Plan. The Bonus Plan
provides for cash bonus payments based upon tieragnt of performance targets established by ompensation committee. The payment
targets will be related to financial and operatlanaasures or objectives with respect to our compahich we refer to as corporate
performance goals, as well as individual perforneamigjectives.

Our compensation committee may select corporafermeance goals from among the following: revenugiemse levels; cash flow
(including, but not limited to, operating cash flawd free cash flow); business development anaéing milestones; earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization; net incoross{l (either before or after interest, taxes, dsatien and/or amortization); changes in the
market price of our common stock; economic valugeall sales; acquisitions or strategic transactiopsrating income (loss); return on cap
assets, equity, or investment; shareholder retuehstn on sales; gross or net profit levels; poidity; expense; margins; operating efficiency;
customer satisfaction; working capital; earningsg) per share of our common stock; sales or mahaats and total customers; and Adjustec
EBITDA, any of which may be measured in absolutete as compared to any incremental increasernmstef growth, or as compared to
results of a peer group.

Each executive officer who is selected to partigpa the Bonus Plan will have a target bonus ojymitly set for each performance
period. The bonus formulas will be adopted in gaetiormance period by the compensation committeecammunicated to each executive.
The corporate performance goals will be measuréaea¢nd of each performance period after our firdmeports have been published or suct
other appropriate time as the compensation comenitdermines. If the corporate performance goaldragividual performance objectives are
met, payments will be made as soon as practicabterfing the end of each performance period. Sulifethe rights contained in any
agreement between the executive officer and usxeaautive officer must be employed by us on theusgrayment date to be eligible to rect
a bonus payment.
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The Bonus Plan also permits the compensation caemrtiv approve additional bonuses to executiveafiin its sole discretion.

Retirement Plans

We maintain a tax-qualified 401(k) retirement pfaneligible employees in the United States. Unmlar401(k) plan, employees may
elect to defer up to 96% of their eligible compdimsasubject to applicable annual limits set purdua the Code. We currently provide an
employee matching contribution under the 401(kihpemployees are 100% vested in their contributtorthe 401(k) plan and any employer
contributions after one year of service. We inttardhe 401(k) plan to qualify, depending on thepéoyee’s election, under Section 401(a) of
the Code so that contributions by employees, acanie earned on those contributions, are not tatal@eployees until withdrawn from the
401(K) plan.

Indemnification of Officers and Directors

We have agreed to indemnify our directors and effidn certain circumstances. See “Certain Relshigrs and Related Party
Transactions—Limitation of Liability and Indemniéiton of Officers and Directors.”

Compensation Risk Assessment

We believe that although a portion of the compeosairovided to our executive officers and otheptayees is performance-based, our
executive compensation program does not encouragessive or unnecessary risk taking. This is prilmdue to the fact that our
compensation programs are designed to encouragexeautive officers and other employees to remaduged on both short-term and long-
term strategic goals, in particular in connectidthwur pay-for-performance compensation philosogks/a result, we do not believe that our
compensation programs are reasonably likely to havaterial adverse effect on us.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:
The following table sets forth information regamglineneficial ownership of our common stock as ofémeber 31, 2014 by:
» each person or group of affiliated persons knownbio be the beneficial owner of more than 5%uwfammmon stock
» each of our named executive office
» each of our directors; ar
» all executive officers and directors as a grc
We have determined beneficial ownership in accardamith SEC rules. The information does not neaégsadicate beneficial
ownership for any other purpose. Under these rtthesnumber of shares of common stock deemed odis@includes shares issuable upon
exercise of options and warrants held by the reéseperson or group which may be exercised or eded within 60 days after December 31,
2014. For purposes of calculating each personigaup’s percentage ownership, stock options andants exercisable within 60 days after
December 31, 2014 are included for that persomarmbut not the stock options or warrants of atiyepperson or group. Certain options to

purchase shares of our common stock included itetble below are early exercisable, and to thenéxdech shares are unvested as of a given
date, such shares will remain subject to a righieptirchase held by us.

Applicable percentage ownership is based on 31743Chares of common stock outstanding as of Deeefith 2014.
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Unless otherwise indicated and subject to applecabmmunity property laws, to our knowledge, edohldolder named in the followit

table possesses sole voting and investment povegrtiog shares listed. Unless otherwise noted balmvaddress of each person listed on the
table is c/o HubSpot, Inc., 25 First Street, 2rmbF| Cambridge, Massachusetts 02141.

Shares Beneficially Ownec

Name of Beneficial Owne Number Percentagt
5% Stockholders:

Entities affiliated with General Catalyst Partn€ry 6,865,32! 21.8%
Entities affiliated with Matrix Partners (. 4,338,97! 13.8%
Scale Venture Partners lll, LP ( 1,721,07! 5.5%
Entities affiliated with Sequoia Capital ( 2,602,38! 8.2%
Dharmesh Shah(* 2,257,24 7.1%
Named Executive Officers and Directors

Brian Halligan (6) 1,283,41. 4.(%
John Kinzer(7. 31,64¢ *
Hunter Madele) — *
Larry Bohn (1) 6,865,32! 21.8%
Ron Gill (8) 63,73: *
Lorrie Norrington (9) 47,89¢ *
Michael Simon (10 78,171 *
Dharmesh Shah (! 2,257,24 7.1%
David Skok (11 4,339,37! 13.8%
Stacey Bishop (3 1,721,07! 5.5%
All executive officers and directors as a group ff&2sons) (12 17,192,34 52.8%
(*) Represents beneficial ownership of less than

(1)

(2)

(3)

Consists of (i) 6,724,956 shares of commonkstmtd by General Catalyst Group V, L.P., or GC@nd (ii) 140,373 shares of common
stock held by GC Entrepreneurs Fund V, L.P., or G@EGeneral Catalyst Partners V, L.P., or GCP3/th& sole general partner of
GCG V and GCEF V, and General Catalyst GP V, LLGGEGP V, as the sole general partner of GCP V, beagteemed to share voti
and dispositive power over the shares held of tebgrGCG V and GCEF V. Each of David Fialkow, Da@dao and Joel Cutler, who
are Managing Directors of GCGP V, may be deemethéme voting and dispositive power over the shiaeés of record by GCG V and
GCEF V. The address for Mr. Bohn and General Catdhartners is 20 University Road, 4th Floor, Cadga, MA 02138

Consists of (i) 4,336,591 shares of commonkstadd by Matrix Partners VIII, L.P., or Matrix Mland (ii) 2,388 shares of common stock
held by Weston & Co. VIII LLC as nominee for MatN&ll US Management Co., LLC (“Matrix VIII US MC")which is the beneficial
owner of such shares (the “Matrix VIII US MC ShdjeMatrix VIII US MC is the sole general partnefr datrix VIII, and Mr. Skok is a
managing member of Matrix VIII US MC. Mr. Skok, kirtue of his management position in Matrix VIII MC, has sole voting and
dispositive power with respect to the shares hgli¥htrix VIl and the Matrix VIIIl US MC Shares, egpt to the extent of his respective
pecuniary interests therein. The address for ebr.aSkok, Matrix Partners VIII, L.P. and MatrixIl US Management Co., LLC is 1(
Main Street, 17th Floor, Cambridge, MA 021

Consists of 1,721,075 shares of common stoltktheScale Venture Partners Ill, LP. Kate Mitch&bry O’Driscoll, Stacey Bishop, one
of our directors, and Andrew Vitus are the Managutembers of Scale Venture Management Ill, LLC, dgkeeral partner of Scale
Venture Partners I, LP. Ms. Bishop and the thwtheer managing members disclaim beneficial ownpraliih respect to all such shares
except to the extent of their pecuniary interesteim. The address for Ms. Bishop and Scale VerRartners lll, L.P. is 950 Tower Lane,
Suite 700, Foster City, California 944(
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(4)

(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)

(11)

(12)

Consists of (i) 2,492,568 shares of commonkstedd by Sequoia Capital U.S. Growth Fund IV, BRd (ii) 109,818 shares of common
stock held by Sequoia Capital USGF Principals HWhd.P. SC US (TTGP), LTD. is the general partne6€GF IV Management, L.P.,
which is the general partner of Sequoia Capital G®wth Fund 1V, LP, and Sequoia Capital USGF &pals Fund IV, LP (collectivel
the “Sequoia Capital GFIV Funds”). The directord atockholders of SC US (TTGP), LTD. that exereistng and investment
discretion with respect to the Sequoia Capital GFivids’ investments are Roelof Botha, Scott Cakéchael Goguen, James Goetz,
Douglas Leone and Michael Moritz. As a result, Bgdirtue of the relationships described in thistfte, each such person may be
deemed to share beneficial ownership of the shaalesby the Sequoia Capital GFIV Funds. Such imlligls expressly disclaim any st
beneficial ownership. The address for the entdifiiated with Sequoia Capital is 2800 Sand Hitddl, Suite 101, Menlo Park, CA
94025.

Consists of (i) 2,105,392 shares held direloyiyMr. Shah and (ii) 151,855 shares issuable upencese of stock options exercisable
within 60 days after December 31, 20

Consists of (i) 971,921 shares held directhMyy Halligan and (ii) 311,491 shares issuable to Malligan upon exercise of stock options
exercisable within 60 days after December 31, 2

Consists of (i) 400 shares held directly by Kinzer and (ii) 31,248 shares issuable to Mr. Kinapon exercise of stock options
exercisable within 60 days after December 31, 2

Consists of (i) 400 shares held directly by Kill and (ii) 63,333 shares issuable to Mr. Gjflam exercise of stock options exercisable
within 60 days after December 31, 20

Consists of (i) 400 shares of common stock kélectly by Ms. Norrington and (ii) 47,496 shaissuable to Ms. Norrington upon
exercise of stock options exercisable within 60sdafyer December 31, 201

Consists of (i) 14,838 shares held directhyMiy Simon and (ii) 63,333 shares issuable to Mm@ upon exercise of stock options
exercisable within 60 days after December 31, 2

Consists of (i) 400 shares held directly by Bkok, (ii) 4,336,591 shares of common stock lgldlatrix Partners VIII, L.P., or Matrix
VIII and (iii) 2,388 shares of common stock held\Wston & Co. VIII LLC as nominee for Matrix VIII § Management Co., LLC
(“Matrix VIII US MC”), which is the beneficial owrreof such shares (the “Matrix VIIIl US MC Shared¥atrix VIII US MC is the sole
general partner of Matrix VIIl, and Mr. Skok is anmaging member of Matrix VIII US MC. Mr. Skok, byrtue of his management
position in Matrix VIII US MC, has sole voting amispositive power with respect to the shares hgliMatrix VIII and the Matrix VIl
US MC shares, except to the extent of his respegi@cuniary interests therein. The address for ebbtr. Skok, Matrix Partners VIII,
L.P. and Matrix VIIl US Management Co., LLC is 1®R&in Street, 17th Floor, Cambridge, MA 021

See footnotes 1 through 3 and 5 through 1¥e@Hlacludes 1,108,181 shares issuable upon erestistock options exercisable within 60
days after December 31, 20:
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

General

The following description summarizes the most intg@or terms of our capital stock. We adopted an @a®@m@nd restated certificate of
incorporation and amended and restated bylawsrinaxtion with our initial public offering, or IP@nd this description summarizes the
provisions included in such documents. Becausedhly a summary, it does not contain all the imfation that may be important to you. For a
complete description of the matters set forth ie&Eription of Capital Stock,” you should refer tr amended and restated certificate of
incorporation and amended and restated bylaws hadrie included as exhibits to the Annual Reporform 10-K, and to the applicable
provisions of Delaware law. Our authorized capstakck consists of 500,000,000 shares of commork s&ic001 par value per share, and
25,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred st6c®)1 par value per share.

As of December 31, 2014, there were 31,430,763 shafrour common stock outstanding, held by 458kstolders of record, and no
shares of our convertible preferred stock outstamddur board of directors is authorized, withdotkholder approval except as required by
the listing standards of the NYSE to issue add#iamares of our capital stock.

Common Stock

The holders of our common stock are entitled tomte per share on all matters to be voted on ystackholders. Subject to
preferences that may be applicable to any outstgretiares of preferred stock, holders of commaotkstoe entitled to receive ratably such
dividends as may be declared by our board of direaiut of funds legally available for that purpdsethe event of our liquidation, dissolution
or winding up, the holders of common stock aretkeatito share ratably in all assets remaining afterpayment of liabilities, subject to the
prior distribution rights of preferred stock themstanding. Holders of common stock have no premeptonversion or subscription rights.
There are no redemption or sinking fund provisiapglicable to the common stock.

Preferred Stock
Upon the closing of our IPO, all outstanding shaxigsreferred stock converted into shares of omnmon stock, and there are no shares
of preferred stock outstanding.

Though we currently have no plans to issue anyeshairpreferred stock, our board of directors hasauthority, without further action
our stockholders, to designate and issue up tdR300 shares of preferred stock in one or moiesadur board of directors may also
designate the rights, preferences and privilegélseoholders of each such series of preferred stokor all of which may be greater than or
senior to those granted to the holders of commacksiThough the actual effect of any such issuamcthe rights of the holders of common
stock will not be known until such time as our lwbaf directors determines the specific rights @f tlolders of preferred stock, the potential
effects of such an issuance include:

» diluting the voting power of the holders of comnsiack;
» reducing the likelihood that holders of common ktevill receive dividend payment

» reducing the likelihood that holders of comnstock will receive payments in the event of ouuiitation, dissolution, or winding
up; and

» delaying, deterring or preventing a cha-in-control or other corporate takeov

Registration Rights

The holders of an aggregate of 20,200,445 sharesrafommon stock and the holders of warrants tolmse common stock are entitled
to the following rights with respect to the regigiton of such shares for
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public resale under the Securities Act of 193%rasnded, or the Securities Act, pursuant to atragjiisn rights agreement by and among us
and certain of our stockholders. We refer to thesees collectively as “registrable securities.”

The registration of shares of common stock asaltreSthe following rights being exercised wouldadle the holders to trade these
shares without restriction under the Securitieswoen the applicable registration statement isated effective. Ordinarily, we will be
required to pay all expenses, other than undengritiscounts and commissions, related to any ragieh effected pursuant to the exercise of
these registration rights.

Demand Registration Rights

If at any time after April 7, 2015 the holders oleast 25% of the registrable securities thentaotiing request in writing that we effect a
registration, we may be required to register ttieraind sale of their shares anticipated to havegamegate sale price, net of underwriting
discounts and commissions, if any, of $10 millidhmost, we are obligated to effect two registmasidor the holders of registrable securitie
response to these demand registration rights. Ripgion certain conditions, however, we may defehgegistration for up to 90 days. If the
holders requesting registration intend to disteébtineir shares by means of an underwriting, theagiaig underwriter of such offering will ha
the right to limit the number of shares to be unditten for reasons related to the marketing ofghares.

Piggyback Registration Rights

If we propose to register the offer and sale of stmgres of our securities under the SecuritiestAetholders of registrable securities will
be entitled to notice of the registration and tude their shares of registrable securities inrégstration. These piggyback registration rights
are subject to certain conditions and limitatidnsluding the right of the underwriters to limittimumber of shares included in any such
registration under specific circumstances. We hageaight to terminate or withdraw any registratinitiated by us prior to the effectiveness of
such registration whether or not the holders ofste@ble securities have elected to include theras in the registration.

Form S-3 Registration Rights

If at any time we become entitled under the SeiesriAct to register our shares on Form S-3 andhtihders of the registrable securities
then outstanding request in writing that we regisiteir shares for public resale on Form S-3 wittaggregate price to the public of the shares
to be registered of at least $2 million, we willfeguired to effect such registration; providedywbwer, that if our board of directors determil
in good faith, that such registration would be matly detrimental to us and our stockholders athstime, we may defer the registration for up
to 90 days. We are only obligated to effect upato tegistrations on Form S-3 within any twelve ntopériod.

Voting Rights

Under the provisions of our certificate of incoraton, holders of our common stock are entitledrie vote for each share of common
stock held by such holder on any matter submitbesl iote at a meeting of stockholders. Our posroff) certificate of incorporation does not
provide cumulative voting rights to holders of @@mmon stock.

Anti-Takeover Effects of Delaware Law and Our Amened and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Anended and Restated
Bylaws

Certain provisions of Delaware law and our ameralatirestated certificate of incorporation and amedrathd restated bylaws contain
provisions that could have the effect of delayiheferring or discouraging another party from adggicontrol of us. These provisions, which
are summarized below, are expected to discourage
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certain types of coercive takeover practices andénquate takeover bids. These provisions are alsigried in part to encourage anyone
seeking to acquire control of us to first negotiatth our board of directors. We believe that tdeantages gained by protecting our ability to
negotiate with any unsolicited and potentially isridly acquirer outweigh the disadvantages of disaging such proposals, including those
priced above the theturrent market value of our common stock, becaaus®ng other reasons, the negotiation of such patpasuld improv
their terms.

Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporationcdhBAmended and Restated Bylaw Provisions

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamaagnd our amended and restated bylaws includenb@uof provisions that could
deter hostile takeovers or delay or prevent chaimgesntrol of our board of directors or managenteain, including the following:

» authorize our board of directors to issue, witthfurther action by the stockholders, up to 28,000 shares of undesignated
preferred stock

» specify that special meetings of our stockhddan be called only by our board of directors,¢hairman of our board of directors,
the chief executive officer or the preside

» establish an advance notice procedure for btuder proposals to be brought before an annuatingeef our stockholders,
including proposed nominations of persons for @ecto our board of director

e provide that directors may be removed only for ea

» provide that vacancies on our board of directoay be filled only by a majority of directors thia office, even though less than a
quorum;

» establish that our board of directors is dididi®o three classes—Class I, Class Il and Cldsswith each class serving staggered
terms; anc

* require a sup-majority of votes to amend certain of the at-mentioned provisions

Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute

We are subject to the provisions of Section 20BefGeneral Corporation Law of the State of Del@awvagulating corporate takeovers
general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly-held Dlee corporation from engaging, under certain civstances, in a business combination witt
an interested stockholder for a period of threes/éalowing the date the person became an intedestockholder unless:

»  prior to the date of the transaction, the bazrdirectors of the corporation approved eitherItlusiness combination or the
transaction which resulted in the stockholder bangman interested stockhold:s

« upon completion of the transaction that reslitethe stockholder becoming an interested stdddnpthe interested stockholder
owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the caapon outstanding at the time the transaction cemead, excluding for purposes
of determining the voting stock outstanding, butfoo determining the outstanding voting stock odihy the interested
stockholder, (1) shares owned by persons who agetdrs and also officers, and (2) shares owneehiypioyee stock plans in whi
employee participants do not have the right tordeitee confidentially whether shares held subje¢htoplan will be tendered in a
tender or exchange offer;

e at or subsequent to the date of the transadtiebusiness combination is approved by the bofditectors of the corporation and
authorized at an annual or special meeting of $tolclers, and not by written consent, by the afftiveavote of at least 66 2/3% of
the outstanding voting stock which is not ownedhsyinterested stockholde
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Generally, a business combination includes a meagset or stock sale, or other transaction regyiti a financial benefit to the
interested stockholder. An interested stockholsler person who, together with affiliates and asdesj owns or, within three years prior to the
determination of interested stockholder statuspoelid 15% or more of a corporation’s outstandingngstock. We expect the existence of this
provision to have an anti-takeover effect with o transactions our board of directors doespptove in advance. We also anticipate tha
Section 203 may discourage business combinationther attempts that might result in a premium dlkiermarket price for the shares of
common stock held by our stockholders.

The provisions of Delaware law and our amendedrasthted certificate of incorporation and amendwtrastated bylaws could have
effect of discouraging others from attempting Hestikeovers and, as a consequence, may alsotitéritgborary fluctuations in the market
price of our common stock that often result frortuator rumored hostile takeover attempts. Theesgigions may also have the effect of
preventing changes in our management. It is passilalt these provisions could make it more diffitalaccomplish transactions that
stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their inéstests.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamagquires, to the fullest extent permitted by thet derivative actions brought in our
name, actions against our directors, officers angleyees for breach of fiduciary duty and otherikimactions may be brought only in the
Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware. AltHowg believe this provision benefits us by provigincreased consistency in the applica
of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to whithpplies, the provision may have the effect ofdisaging lawsuits against our directors anc
officers.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our commocoksi® Computershare Trust Company, N.A.

Listing
Our common stock is listed on the New York Stockliange under the symbol “HUBS.”

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

In addition to the director and executive compensairrangements discussed above in the sectiaiésoAnnual Report on Form 10-K
captioned “Executive Compensation,” we have beparty to the following transactions since JanuargQi4, in which the amount involved
exceeded or will exceed $120,000, and in whichdirsctor, executive officer or holder of more tH&#b of any class of our voting stock, or
any member of the immediate family of or entitiffliated with any of them, had or will have a ma# interest. We also describe below
certain transactions and series of similar tramsastsince January 1, 2014 with our directors, ettee officers, holders of more than 5% of
class of our voting securities, or any member efithmediate family of or any entities affiliatedtivany of the foregoing persons to which we
are party.

We have adopted a written policy, which providest thur executive officers, directors, holders ofrenthvan 5% of any class of our voti
securities, and any member of the immediate faofilgnd any entity affiliated with any of the forégg persons, are not permitted to enter intc
a related party transaction with us without th@ipdonsent of our audit committee, or other disegted members of our board of directors in
the event that it is inappropriate for our auditneoittee to review such transaction due to a candliénterest. Pursuant to such policy, any
request for us to enter into a transaction witlexecutive officer, director, principal stockholder,any of their immediate family members or
affiliates, in which the amount involved exceed2&D00 must first be presented to our audit conemitor review, consideration and appro
In approving or rejecting any such proposal, ouiecommittee is to consider the relevant facts eincimstances available and deemed
relevant to the audit committee, including, but lmited to, whether the transaction is on termdass favorable than terms generally availabl
to an unaffiliated third party under the
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same or similar circumstances and the extent ofdla¢ed party’s interest in the transaction. Altlee transactions described below were
entered into prior to the adoption of this policy.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification of Offi cers and Directors

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamatbntains provisions that limit the liability ofir directors for monetary damages to
the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Copmmtly, our directors will not be personally lialib us or our stockholders for monetary
damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as threcexcept liability for the following:

e any breach of their duty of loyalty to our compamyour stockholders
e any act or omission not in good faith or that ine&d intentional misconduct or a knowing violatidhaw;

» unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful staepurchases or redemptions as provided in Setfidrof the Delaware General
Corporation Law; o

* any transaction from which they derived an imprqgpensonal benefi

Any amendment to, or repeal of, these provisiorisnet eliminate or reduce the effect of these [Bmns in respect of any act, omission
or claim that occurred or arose prior to that anneext or repeal. If the Delaware General Corpordtiaw is amended to provide for further
limitations on the personal liability of directas§ corporations, then the personal liability of alirectors will be further limited to the greatest
extent permitted by the Delaware General Corpandtiw.

In addition, we adopted amended and restated bykwich provide that we will indemnify, to the fusfeextent permitted by law, any
person who is or was a party or is threatened tmége a party to any action, suit or proceedingelagon of the fact that he or she is or was
of our directors or officers or is or was servirgar request as a director or officer of anothteporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or
other enterprise. Our amended and restated byleavide that we may indemnify to the fullest extpatmitted by law any person who is or
was a party or is threatened to be made a padgy@ction, suit, or proceeding by reason of tleetfzat he or she is or was one of our
employees or agents or is or was serving at owesticas an employee or agent of another corporatamership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise. Our amended and restated bylaws adsiderthat we must advance expenses incurred by behalf of a director or officer in
advance of the final disposition of any action myqeeding, subject to very limited exceptions.

Further, we have entered into indemnification agreets with each of our directors and executivecef that are broader than the
specific indemnification provisions contained i thelaware General Corporation Law. These indegatifin agreements require us, among
other things, to indemnify our directors and exeeubfficers against liabilities that may arisedegason of their status or service. These
indemnification agreements also require us to ackvaf expenses incurred by the directors and éxecafficers in investigating or defending
any such action, suit or proceeding. We believettiese agreements are necessary to attract ad geialified individuals to serve as direc
and executive officers.

The limitation of liability and indemnification pvisions included in our amended and restated a=té of incorporation, amended and
restated bylaws and in indemnification agreemdrgswe entered into or may in the future enter with our directors and executive officers
may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawagéinst our directors and executive officers f@alch of their fiduciary duties. They may
also reduce the likelihood of derivative litigatiagainst our directors and executive officers, dhenigh an action, if successful, might benefit
us and other stockholders. Further, a stockholdevestment may be harmed to the extent that wellpagosts of settlement and damage
awards against directors and executive officerg@sired by these indemnification provisions. A¢gent, we are not aware of any pending
litigation or proceeding involving any person wismr was one of our directors, officers, employaesther agents or is or was serving
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at our request as a director, officer, employeagaemt of another corporation, partnership, joimtuee, trust or other enterprise, for which
indemnification is sought, and we are not awaramnyf threatened litigation that may result in clafisrsindemnification.

We have obtained insurance policies under whidbjestito the limitations of the policies, coverag@rovided to our directors and
executive officers against loss arising from clammede by reason of breach of fiduciary duty or othngful acts as a director or executive
officer, including claims relating to public sedigs matters, and to us with respect to paymeatsntiay be made by us to these directors and
executive officers pursuant to our indemnificataibligations or otherwise as a matter of law.

Certain of our non-employee directors may, throtigdir relationships with their employers, be insuamd/or indemnified against certain
liabilities incurred in their capacity as membef®or board of directors.

The underwriting agreement provides for indemnifmaby the underwriters of us and our officersediors and employees for certain
liabilities arising under the Securities Act or etiise.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisimgpder the Securities Act may be permitted to dines;tofficers or persons controlling our
company pursuant to the foregoing provisions, wesHzeen informed that, in the opinion of the SE@hsindemnification is against public
policy as expressed in the Securities Act anddsetfore unenforceable.

Other Transactions with Our Executive Officers andDirectors and Affiliated Entities

We have granted stock options and RSUs to our ¢ixecnfficers and certain of our directors. Seeghetion of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K captioned “Executive Compensation—Outditasn Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End” for a deptidn of these stock options and
RSUs.

Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transaains

The audit committee of our board of directors hesgrimary responsibility for reviewing and approyior disapproving “related party
transactions,” which are transactions between dgelated persons in which the aggregate amountiad exceeds or may be expected to
exceed $120,000 and in which a related personhasdidave a direct or indirect material interelSar purposes of this policy, a related persor
is defined as a director, executive officer, noreifar director or greater than 5% beneficial owsfeour common stock, in each case since the
beginning of the most recently completed year,thed immediate family members. Our audit committharter provides that the audit
committee shall review and approve or disapproyeralated party transactions. We also adoptedradbpolicy governing the review and
approval of related party transactions.

All of the transactions described above were edter®® prior to the adoption of this policy. Accardly, each was approved by
disinterested members of our board of directomsr aftaking a determination that the transaction ex&suted on terms no less favorable than
those that could have been obtained from an uecktaird party.

ITEM 14, Principal Accountant Fees and Service

The information required by this Item is incorpaéby reference herein to our definitive proxyestaent for our 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders under the section captioned “Ratificadf Selection of Independent Auditors.”
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ITEM 15.

PART IV

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule

(@) Documents Filed as Part of this Annual Report omFd(-K

1. Financial Statements (included in Item 8 of thimAal Report on Form -K):

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&04201:

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaded December 31, 2014, 2013 and

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomthéoyears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaded December 31, 2014, 2013 and =

Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 3114, 2013 and 201

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemt

2. Financial Statement Schedu

Financial statements schedules are omitted asatteegither not required or the information is ottiee included in the consolidated financial
statements.

3.  The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulat®K are listed in the Exhibit Index immediately peding the exhibits and are
incorporated hereir
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be

signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednty authorized, in the city of Cambridge, Commonlife of Massachusetts, on thé& Bay of
March, 2015.

HUBSPOT, INC.

By:  /s/ Brian Halligar
Brian Halligan

Chief Executive Officer and Chairm
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

We, the undersigned directors and officers of HubSpc. (the “Company”), hereby and severally ¢itate and appoint Brian Halligan, J.D.
Sherman and John Kinzer and each of them singlytroe and lawful attorneys, with full power to theand each of them singly, to sign for
and in our names in the capacities indicated bedmal,to file any and all amendments to this AniRegbort on Form 1@, and to file the sam
with all exhibits thereto, and other documentsanrection therewith, with the Securities and Exgfga8ommission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of therhp&wer and authority to do and perform each aratesact and thing, requisite and necessary
to be done in connection therewith, as fully toistiénts and purposes as each of us might or atuid person and hereby ratifying and
confirming all that said attorneys and each of thentheir substitutes, shall do or cause to beedpynvirtue of this Power of Attorney.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of 1
registrant and in the capacities and on the dattisdted.

Signature Title Date
/sl Brian Halligar Chief Executive Officer and Chairman March 5, 2015
Brian Halligan (Principal Executive Officer)
/sl John Kinze Chief Financial Officer March 5, 2015
John Kinzel (Principal Financial and Accounting Office
/s Dharmesh She Director and Chief Technology Officer March 5, 2015
Dharmesh Sha
/sl Stacey Bisho Director March 5, 2015
Stacey Bishoj
/sl Larry Bohn Director March 5, 2015
Larry Bohn
/s/ Ron Gill Director March 5, 2015
Ron Gill
/s/ Lorrie Norringtor Director March 5, 2015
Lorrie Norrington
/s/ Michael Simor Director March 5, 2015
Michael Simor
/s/ David Skok Director March 5, 2015

David Skok
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Exhibit
number
3.1(1)
3.2(2)
4.1(3)
4.2(4)

4.3(5)
10.1(6)
10.2(7)
10.3(8)
10.4(9)4
10.5(10)%
10.6(11)%
10.7(12)

10.8(13)%
10.9(14)4
10.10(15)
21.1%
23.1%
24.1%
31.1%
31.2%
32.1%Y

101.INS**
101.SCH**
101.CAL**
101.DEF**
101.LAB**
101.PRE**

Description of exhibit

Seventh Amended and Restated Certificate of Ingatjmm (as amended and currently in efft
Amended and Restated Bylaws (as currently in ef
Form of Common Stock Certifica

Fourth Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Ages between the Registrant and the investors ndmeeein dated
October 25, 201

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated April 42284ued by the Registrant to Comerica B

Lease dated March 10, 2010 between 25 First Stte€t,and the Registrant, as ament

Lease dated December 11, 2012 between AlIG Pro@erypany Limited and HubSpot Ireland Limit
Lease dated February 14, 2014 between AIG Pro@mgpany Limited and HubSpot Ireland Limit
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and each of its Executive Officers and Divex
2007 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of restricseatk agreement and option agreements therel

2014 Stock Option and Grant Plan and forms of opgéigreements thereunc

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreeméed deoril 4, 2012 by and between Comerica Banktaed
Registrant, as amend

2014 Employee Stock Purchase F

Non-Employee Director Compensation Pol

Senior Executive Cash Incentive Bonus F

List of Subsidiarie:

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Riegexd Public Accounting Firt

Power of Attorney (included on signature pa

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chieinancial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of theb8aes-Oxley Act of
2002.

XBRL Instance Documen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Documg

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntn
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docure
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doen
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#  Indicates a management contract or compensatomy

**  Filed herewitr

Y  The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 herare deemed to accompany this Annual Report om A6-K and will not be deemed
“filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Secustiexchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such certditatvill not be deemed to be
incorporated by reference into any filings under 8ecurities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Semuixchange Act of 1934, as
amended, except to the extent that the Registpamifically incorporates any of them by referer

(1) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Bpbt, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1qQ$ie No. 333-198333) filed on
August 25, 2014

(2) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to Bpbt, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1q%ie No. 333-198333) filed on
August 25, 2014

(3) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Bpbt, Inc.’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Staeton Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-
198333) filed on September 26, 20

(4) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Bpbt, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1qQ$ie No. 333-198333) filed on
August 25, 2014

(5) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Bpbt, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1qQ$ie No. 333-198333) filed on
August 25, 2014

(6) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 td8pot, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SHQEile No. 333-198333) filed on
August 25, 2014

(7) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 tdb8pot, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SHQEile No. 333-198333) filed on
August 25, 2014

(8) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 td8pot, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SHQFile No. 333-198333) filed on
August 25, 2014

(9) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 tdB8pot, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SHQFile No. 333-198333) filed on
August 25, 2014

(10) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 t@b8pot, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form SHQ File No. 333-198333) filed on
August 25, 2014

(11) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 tb8pot, Inc.’'s Amendment No. 1 to Registration &tent on Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-
198333) filed on September 26, 20

(12) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 1thB8pot, Inc.’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Sta&nt on Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-
198333) filed on September 26, 20

(13) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 1th8pot, Inc.’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Sta&nt on Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-
198333) filed on October 6, 201

(14) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 tb8pot, Inc.’'s Amendment No. 1 to Registration &tent on Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-
198333) filed on September 26, 20

(15) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1HtdSpot, Inc.’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration&tent on Form S-1 (SEC File
No. 33:-198333) filed on September 26, 20
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Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of HubSpot, Inc.
Name of Subsidian Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization

HubSpot Ireland Limite: Ireland
HUBSPOT AUSTRALIA PTY LTD Australia




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReggion Statement No. 333-199225 on Form S-8uwfreport dated March 5, 2015 relating

to the consolidated financial statements of HubSpaet and subsidiaries appearing in the AnnualdRepn Form 10-K of HubSpot, Inc. and
subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2014.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 5, 2015



EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

[, Brian Halligan, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of HubSpot, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaior@iny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsunder which such statements were made, nisadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtg,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoige designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyaport based on such
evaluation; an

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@ All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 5, 2015

/s/ Brian Halligan

Brian Halligan
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

[, John Kinzer, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of HubSpot, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaior@iny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsunder which such statements were made, nisadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtg,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoige designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentihisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyaport based on such
evaluation; an

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@ All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 5, 201

/s/ John Kinzer

John Kinzel
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and ChiefFinancial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Brian Halligan, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.@&cHon 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@iedbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that,
to my knowledge, the Annual Report on Form 10-KHobSpot, Inc. for the period ended December 31420lly complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéearExchange Act of 1934 and that informationtedmed in such Annual Report on Form
10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, financial condition and results of operations afi$pot, Inc.

/s/ Brian Halligan

Brian Halligan

Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer
March 5, 201¢

I, John Kinzer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 8m8tfl350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 db#rbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to
my knowledge, the Annual Report on FormK@f HubSpot, Inc. for the period ended December2Bil4 fully complies with the requireme
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934 and that information contained ints@mnual Report on Form 10-K fairly
presents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of HubSpot, Inc.

/s/ John Kinzer

John Kinzel

Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer
March 5, 201¢

The foregoing certifications are not deemed filéthwhe Securities and Exchange Commission for ggep of Section 18 of the Secur
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act)a@nnot to be incorporated by reference into &liyg of HubSpot, Inc. under tt
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchaatjavhether made before or after the date hemegfardless of any general incorporation
language in such filing



